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ABOUT THE COVER

At Maybank, we believe that our strength lies 

in our sincerity in serving our customers, clients, 

and partners. Every client is a valued partner 

and their satisfaction is our highest priority. The 

strengths, achievements, and successes of our 

banking operations for the year 2010 can be 

attributed to the earnest service we deliver.
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MAYBANK PHILIPPINES, INC. (MPI) is a full-service commercial bank 

offering a wide array of financial solutions geared towards the upscale 

consumer market and selected segments of top-tier corporations. 

Born in 1997, when Malaysia’s largest financial institution, 

Malayan Banking Berhad (Maybank) joined forces with Philippine 

National Bank, MPI is now a fully-owned foreign bank.  

At the time of its inception, MPI was the first foreign bank to have 

established an extensive network of branches all over the country. 

Today, Maybank maintains a network of 50 branches nationwide – 25 

in Metro Manila and 25 in key cities in Luzon, Visayas and Mindanao. 

OUR PARENTAGE

MPI is a member of the Maybank Group: 

Asia) and among the top 150 in the world

a comprehensive range of financial services and products 

ranging from commercial banking, investment banking, Islamic 

banking, offshore banking, leasing and hire purchase, insurance, 

factoring, trustee services, asset management, stock broking, 

nominee services, venture capital and internet banking

Maybank was incorporated in 1960 and two years later (in 

1962) was listed in the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange (now Bursa 

a global network of 1,750 offices in key financial centers worldwide 

including: 

Throughout its history, Maybank has been consistently cited 

and is a recipient of numerous accolades and recognitions, the most 

recent of which are:

Malaysian Institute of Human Resource Management 2010

Asiamoney Private Banking Poll 2010

Credit Guarantee Corporation Malaysia

Reader’s Digest Trusted Brands Award 2010

Association of Accredited Advertising Agents Malaysia / 

Malaysia’s Most Valuable Brands – Putra Brand Awards 2010

The Asset Triple A Award 2010

Corporate Profile
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Asian Banker Excellence in Retail Financial Services Awards

Asia and Gulf Regions (Maybank Singapore)

Asiamoney

Euromoney Awards 2009

OUR BEGINNINGS

MPI has a long and colorful history behind it, dating back to 

1953 when its forerunner, Republic Savings Bank, was established. 

Through the years, it had metamorphosed from one of the leading 

government–owned / controlled banks in the country into a growing 

foreign-owned bank.

In its thrust to strengthen its presence in the Southeast Asian 

region, Maybank began its Philippine operations in 1997, operating 

an extensive network of branches nationwide that is by far the largest 

among foreign banks operating in the Philippines.

Since its arrival in the Philippines, MPI has strengthened its 

presence and affirmed its commitment to take part in the development 

of areas where it is present. It has pursued the challenging tasks of 

computerization of its local banking operations; the refurbishment 

and rationalization of its branches; process improvements and the 

training and skills upgrade of its human resources. Aside from these, 

it has poured in the necessary and even exceeded the capital resources 

required, to establish its status as one of the foreign commercial 

banks in the country. 

Furthermore, Maybank has also ensured the continuous transfer 

of and shared the strength, skills, technology and experience of the 

parent bank to its local subsidiary. This assurance of commitment 

or support to Maybank Philippines was evident and sustained even 

with the economic crisis in the late ‘90s, and even amidst political or 

social issues that seem to pervade the relationship of Malaysia and 

the Philippines. Maybank foresees an enduring commitment to the 

Philippines: in line with the cooperative or development ventures of 

our two countries, and anchored on the belief that Malaysians and 

Filipinos share a common racial, historical and cultural heritage. 

MOVING FORWARD

While Maybank continues to pursue improvements on its 

processes and innovations on its services, it has also engaged itself 

in an on-going brand-building exercise to enhance its image and 

establish itself as a major player in the field.

Maybank has likewise embarked on a journey of organizational 

transformation in aid of its strong financial showing.

Backed by the strength of its parent bank and driven by its 

shared values anchored on corporate integrity, culture of excellence 

and customer service, Maybank Philippines is indeed maintaining its 

momentum.

SERVICES
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Vision
To be the leading financial solutions provider in the target markets 

and communities we commit to serve.

Mission
By 2015: 

1. Be among the top 15 in the Philippines in respect of:

branch);

2. Be among the top 5 in selected target markets:

enterprise market for deposits, loans and investments;

3. Become a major overseas unit of Maybank by being the 3rd 

largest contributor to International after Singapore and BII;

our customers; and

5. Be among the top-quartile employers of talent in the 

Philippines.

CORE VALUES

TEAMWORK

We establish an effective team structure with clear roles, shared 

responsibilities and empowerment.  We have an ‘open door’ policy 

with team members to provide ongoing support and advice on the 

spot as needed.  We help other team members realize their full 

potential and achieve team synergy.  

INTEGRITY

We consistently demonstrate a high level of professionalism and 

personal integrity.  We do the right thing, make decisions with a 

clear conscience and ensure no conflict of interest.  We reinforce the 

Maybank Code of Ethics and Conduct at all times.  

GROWTH

We think ahead and constantly seek to improve our quality of work, 

speed of delivery and process efficiency to achieve optimal business 

results.  We show innovation and creativity by thinking out of the 

box.  We provide value-added solutions to colleagues and customers 

given limited resources to meet their needs.  We develop business 

strategies that drive the organization’s long-term growth and 

aspirations.  We find ways to raise different viewpoints and provide 

breakthrough thinking in the best interest of the Maybank Group. 

EXCELLENCE AND EFFICIENCY

We demonstrate a positive, motivated and “can-do” attitude 

in serving our internal and external customers.  We control costs 

effectively and ensure that resources are invested where they give 

the highest return.  We deliver with a quick turnaround time, without 

compromising the quality of the work we produce.     

RELATIONSHIP BUILDING

We establish a courteous and friendly environment to nurture 

good working relationships among team members, customers and 

stakeholders.  We have a genuine interest in our team members’ 

personal constraints and preferences.  We promote a culture where 

every staff is responsible for maximizing and exceeding customer 

satisfaction.  We promote a mindset of collaboration with each other 

to tap the experiences of our diverse workforce.  We create a mutually 

beneficial alliance with our team members, business partners and 

customers for win-win outcomes.  
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FY2009/10 saw Maybank Philippines cross new 
milestones on several fronts.  The prevailing business 
environment may have been as challenging as the 
previous year, but it has also been exciting and 
rewarding for the Bank.

KEY CORPORATE EVENTS AND MILESTONES 
Parola - Eagle Star - Maybank MOA Signing
For Maybank Seafarer’s Loan

Maybank Philippines signs up Parola Maritime Agency 
Corporation and Eagle Star Crew Management Corporation, 
among the leading manning agencies operating in the 
country, for its breakthrough loan product. This partnership 
enables Parola and Eagle Star to offer the Maybank Seafarer 
Loan to its active crew members as an added benefit.  Also 
incorporated in the deal are flexible financing arrangements 
and end-to-end financial service to ensure simple and 
benefits-driven plans for both companies.

Group President Visits Maybank Philippines 
Dato’ Sri Wahid’s 3-Day Visit Marked By Townhall Session, 
Courtesy Call to the BSP Governor and Newport City Branch 
Inauguration

Shortly after his arrival on September 10, 2009 for a 
three-day visit to Maybank Philippines, Group President 
Dato’ Sri Abdul Wahid Omar was ushered into the Embassy 
Ballroom of Traders Hotel Manila to address Maybankers in 
their bi-annual Townhall Session. 

It was President Wahid’s first visit to Maybank 
Philippines since his assumption of office in 2008.  During 
his presentation, President Wahid reintroduced Maybank 
(Our Maybank) to his Filipino colleagues and reiterated the 
Group’s vision and aspirations (Our Future), with special 
emphasis on the LEAP 30 transformation initiatives and the 
significant role overseas units play in achieving this vision.  
He also shared with the audience the “Open for Business” 
customer service attitude which he hopes every Maybanker 

MMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaayyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyybbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaannnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkk  cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccoooooooooooooooooooooooooonnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnntttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuoooooooooooooooooooooooooooouuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuusssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyy sssssssssssssssssssssssssssssstttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrriiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiivvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssss tttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooo   pppppppppppppppppppppppppppppppppppppppprrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooovvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiidddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee   iiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiitttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssss   cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuusssssssssssssssssssssssssssstttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttooooooooooooooooooooooooooooommmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeerrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrsssssssssssssssssssssssssssssss  wwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiitttttttttttttttttttttttttttttthhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhh   pppppppppppppppppppppppppppppppppprrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrooooooooooooooooooooooooooooodddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddduuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuucccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttsssssssssssssssssssssssssss  aaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaannnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnddddddddddddddddddddddddddd ssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssseeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeerrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiccccccccccccccccccccceeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeessssssssssssssssssssssssss    tttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttthhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaatttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttt   aaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaarrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrreeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee bbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbbooooooooooooooooooooooooooootttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttthhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhh   iiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnooooooooooooooooooooovvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaatttttttttttttttttttttttttiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiivvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee aaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaannnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnddddddddddddddddddddddddd  rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrreeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeelllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllleeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeevvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaannnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnttttttttttttttttttttttttttttt............
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should take to heart, as a means to differentiate the Bank 
from competition. An Open Forum followed President 
Wahid’s presentation, during which he was joined onstage 
by Country President Amos Ong and Head of International 
Abdul Farid Alias in addressing the questions thrown from 
the floor.

President Wahid also paid a courtesy call to Governor 
Amando Tetangco of the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP) 
the next day.  He was joined by En. Abdul Farid Alias, Head 
of International, for the short meeting.

At the cocktails of the newly-opened Maybank Newport 
City Branch, President Wahid was on hand to welcome the 
Ambassador of Malaysia to the Philippines, Dato’ Ahmad 
Rasidi Hazizi, and other VIP guests.  Dato’ Sri Wahid was 
also the one who presented to Tan Sri Mohamed Basir 

Ahmad the token of appreciation prepared by Maybank 
Philippines for their outgoing Chairman. 

Retail Banking Group Annual Branch Awards
Diamond Hotel, Manila

Maybank Philippines Inc. held its 2009 Retail Banking 
Group Awards Night at the Diamond Hotel to recognize the 
best performing branches and branch personnel for financial 
year 2008-2009.  Greenhills Branch bagged the most coveted 
Branch of the Year Award, while Bel-Air Branch clinched the 
Silver Award and Dagupan Branch took home the Bronze.  
The event likewise marked the unveiling of Retail Banking 
Group’s new tagline “Better Customer Moments” to highlight 
the Group’s renewed commitment to exceeding customer 
expectations by delivering superior products and services.

Operating Highlights

08



The night’s other winners are:

Breakthrough Branch of the Year Binondo Branch
Sales Executive of the Year

(Iloilo Branch)
Service Head of the Year Mario Pamplona  

(Iloilo Branch)
Service Quality Award Iloilo Branch
Product Excellence for Premier 1 Bel – Air Branch
Product Excellence for ADDvantage TD Binondo Branch
Product Excellence for Trust Malabon Branch

Maybank Sponsors First Fun Run
Maybank Philippines participated as the Main Presenter of 

the Race for Life ’09 Fun Run held at Bonifacio Global City.  The 
Fun Run features 5k, 10k and 15k races.  Many Maybankers 
were seen up and about as the race kicked off at 5:30 am.  

Maybank also handed out cash prizes, gift certificates and 
complimentary items to the race winners.  The event likewise 
provided the venue for the launch of the Save n’ Protect deposit 
product, which was geared towards a family’s peace of mind. 

Race for Life ’09 was spearheaded by Real Life Foundation, 
an educational advocacy organization, and co-presented by 
MTV Philippines.  Maybank Philippines shares in the foundation’s 
advocacy and hopes to support similar events in the future. 

Economic Briefing and Housing Forum
Shangri-La Hotel Manila

Maybank Philippines jointly hosted with Corporate 
Holdings Management Inc. (CHMI) an Economic Briefing and 
Housing Forum for Pag-IBIG Regional Directors and key real 
estate developers.  This was to provide attendees the latest 
economic and industry updates affecting the housing sector, 
as well as present to them the available Maybank programs in 
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support of the housing industry.  MPI President & CEO Amos 
Ong was keynote speaker and was also one of the panelists 
during the open forum.

Maybank Signs Up with BancNet
An Even Wider Range of Banking Services Made Available

Maybank Philippines became the latest addition to 
BancNet’s growing network of member-banks with the formal 
signing of the Memorandum of Agreement to mark its official 
entry into the said ATM consortium.  

cardholders the convenience of withdrawing cash, transferring 
funds and paying bills through the ATM, in addition to gaining 
access to exclusive services such as cashless shopping in stores 
and online internet banking, and online payment of bills, taxes 
and SSS contributions.

Maybank Extends Aircraft Loan
A first in the local banking circles

Maybank Philippines and Apec Assets Limited signed 

Bombardier Challenger CL-600-2B16 aircraft for Resorts 
World Manila.

Check Turnover - Tabang Bencaya Malaysia Donation
With Group Chairman and Incoming MPI Board Chairman

Encik Abdul Farid Alias led the formal turnover of the 
check representing donations made by fellow Maybankers 
across the Group to colleagues affected by Typhoons Ondoy 
and Pepeng.  He was joined by Maybank Group Chairman 
Tan Sri Dato’ Megat Zaharrudin and incoming MPI Board 
Chairman (also Group Vice-Chairman) Dato’ Mohd Salleh 
Harun. 
  

Maybank Global City Branch Opening
Ribbon-Cutting Ceremony led by Group Chairman 

Maybank Philippines inaugurates its first branch in 
Bonifacio Global City with senior Maybank officials from Head 
Office, local directors, key MPI officers, and select clients and 
guests in attendance.  Leading the ceremonial ribbon-cutting 
were Maybank Group’s incoming and outgoing Chairmen 
Tan Sri Dato’ Megat Zaharrudin and Tan Sri Mohamed Basir 
Ahmad respectively, as well as the Honorable Vice-Mayor of 
Taguig City, Atty. George Elias.

Locating a branch in this emerging business district affirms 
once more Maybank’s commitment to serve the banking 
needs of its customers in the best way it can, and in the best 
way possible. 

Corporate Golf with Group Chairman and Vice 
Chairman
Manila Golf and Country Club

During the Philippine visit of Group Chairman Tan Sri Dato’ 
Megat Zaharrudin, he joined some of the MPI Directors and 
select clients for golf at the exclusive Manila Golf & Country 
Club.  Afterwards, long-time customer Mr. Michael Escaler, 
Chairman of All-Asia Countertrade, hosted lunch at his home 
to toast to a stronger partnership with Maybank. Incoming MPI
Chairman of the Board Dato’ Mohd Salleh Harun, Outgoing 
Group Chairman Tan Sri Mohamed Basir Ahmas, Head of 
International Encik Abdul Farid Alias and Country President 
Amos Ong were also present during the luncheon.

Maybank Gets TXTConnect-ed
Signs Agreement with Globe for SMS Text Connect

Maybank Philippines inks subscription agreement with 
Globe Business for its TxtConnect Service, a web-based service 
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that will enable Maybank to broadcast text messages to its 
customers and allow the management of high volume messages 
in one sending. 

With TxtConnect, Maybank customers can look forward to a 
more enriching banking experience as useful product information, 
promo advisories and approval notifications are instantly provided 
via SMS alerts.

BRANCH EXPANSION
As it enters its 12th year of operations in the Philippines, 

Maybank chooses to further reach out and be more accessible 
and available to its target customers by being present where 
they are.  In addition to relocating two existing branches to more 
strategic locations (Maybank Global City in November 2009 and 
Maybank Del Monte in May 2010), Maybank also opened five 
new branches in a span of two months, bringing its total branch 

network to 50 – a fitting contribution as the Group marks its 
50th Anniversary in 2010. 
Maybank Cebu-Mandaue, 19 March 2010

Metro Cebu, Southern Philippines.  Mandaue City is 
a rapidly growing commercial and industrial hub, in close 
proximity to the Mactan International Airport, the Cebu 
International Seaport, and the MEPZA regional industrial 
center.  This is Maybank’s second branch in Cebu.
Maybank Valenzuela, 26 March 2010

Valenzuela City, Metro Manila.  Located in a thriving, 
bustling metropolis, just a stone’s throw away from popular 
shopping mall SM.
Maybank Las Piñas, 12 April 2010

Las Piñas City, Metro Manila. Strategically placed to tap 
into the vast potential being offered by the laid-back but 
highly-developed suburban city.  
Maybank Marikina, 26 April 2010

Marikina City, Metro Manila. Situated within the city’s 
busy commercial and financial hub.

Operating Highlights

Maybank Global City — South of Market, 28 April 2010
Bonifacio Global City, Taguig City.  Positioned as a natural 

extension of the Makati Central Business District.  Maybank’s 
second branch within this booming suburban address. 

NEW PRODUCTS
Maybank continuously strives to provide its customers 

with products and services that are both innovative and 
relevant.  For financial year 2009-2010, several products and 
services were introduced to offer customers more possibilities 
to experience the Maybank brand of service.
Maybank Seafarer’s Loan.  A multi-purpose installment 
loan program available exclusively to active crew members of 
accredited manning companies.  This facility offers financial 
support to meet the varying needs of seafarers and their 
families while they are onboard.  Also incorporated in the 

seafarer’s loan product are flexible financing arrangements 
and end-to-end financial service to ensure simple and benefits-
driven plans.
Maybank Save n’ Protect Savings Account.  An innovative 
deposit product that comes with free life insurance coverage 
for account holders, providing comfort and peace of mind.  
Comes with a passbook and ATM card.
Maybank MyCash Card.  It’s simply cash in a card!  Secure 
and convenient, cash is accessed electronically via ATM (for 
withdrawals) and POS terminals (for purchases).  Can be used 
to disburse salaries or allowances, given as a gift, or even as a 
channel for remittances of OFW’s to beneficiaries. 
Maybank Dollar ADDvantage Advance Time Deposit 
Account.  A one-year term time deposit product which 
advances interest earnings upon account opening.  Minimum 

to a current or savings account.
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Maybank Philippines is part of a bigger world;  it is a strong, 
dependable corporate citizen – a catalyst in the community 
and a caring institution in the society it serves.

Taking inspiration and guidance from our parent bank, 
MPI’s advocacies are aligned with that of the Parent Bank – 
focusing on caring for the environment, enriching the lives 
of local communities, most especially children and people 
displaced by calamities, as well as the development and well-
being of fellow Maybankers. 

KEY PROGRAMS / ENDEAVORS:

of victims displaced by calamities/disasters

knowledge advancement

        

SAVE THE LA MESA WATERSHED PROJECT
MAYBANK PHILIPPINES made true its commitment to 

leave a legacy of clean air and water to Filipino children by 
adopting and planting 100 trees in support of the Save the 
La Mesa Watershed Project of ABS-CBN Bantay Kalikasan.  
This advocacy is among the major thrusts of MaybanKalinga, 
Maybank Philippines’ CSR program begun in 2005, and 
continues the tradition of caring and responsibility to the 
community it serves as exemplified by its Parent Bank.  

The La Mesa Watershed is the last remaining rainforest in 
Metro Manila and is the site of the reservoir that supplies water 
to millions of people in the metropolis.  The project focuses 
on the rehabilitation and protection of the La Mesa mainly 
through reforestation.  To date, of the target 1500 hectares, 

Corporate Social Responsibility

Eighty Maybank volunteers joined the half-day activity 
organized by Corporate Affairs and the 7S Shared Values 
Team last September 5.

Capping the tree-planting activity was the presentation 
of the Tree Adoption Certificate to Maybank Philippines, held 
at the watershed grounds where the volunteers planted the 
seedlings themselves.  

DONATION DRIVE FOR TYPHOON ONDOY AND PEPENG 
VICTIMS
Maybankers Give Back, Pay It Forward

In the spirit of true bayanihan, Maybankers demonstrated 
their care and concern for their own after the onslaught 
of super typhoons Ondoy and Pepeng in the Philippines.  
Human Resources and the 7S Shared Values Team jointly 
organized a donation drive in aid of co-workers who were 
severely affected by the disaster, and Maybankers – including 

colleagues from Malaysia and Singapore – readily answered 
the call.  Many donated in cash, some in kind, while others 
even took time out from their busy schedule to help in the 
packing and distribution of the grocery baskets prepared 
specially for colleagues who suffered severe flooding and 
damage to their homes.  

In fact, given the outpouring of support, Maybank 
Philippines still managed to extend help outside its circles 
with a generous donation to the Caritas Manila Task 
Force Disaster Mobilization Team.  The grocery packs and 
gallons of purified water were shipped to Northern Luzon 
rehabilitation centers which temporarily housed scores of 
affected families. 

14



FRANCIS CALIP : Francis Calip, Service Head of Biñan Branch, is 
cited for his exemplary display of vigilance and genuine concern 
for Maybank particularly during the aftermath of typhoon 
Ondoy.  In the early morning of Sunday, September 27, 2009, 
Francis passed by Biñan branch and found it completely flooded 
and full of mud.  Without hesitation, he immediately decided 
to elicit the help of some staff and started to clean the entire 
branch the whole day, until 9:00pm.  Considering that this was 
a Sunday, and that enormous clean-up had to be done, Francis 
showed a remarkable sense of urgency worthy of emulation as 
one of our TIGER HEROES for the Year. 

JUANITO RUFINO: Jun Rufino, Operations Officer of Dagupan 
Lending Center, is cited for truly demonstrating the TIGER Core 
Values as he tried his best to help clean the debris left behind 
by typhoon Pepeng.  It was October 11, 2009, a Sunday, when 
Jun volunteered to clean the branch until it was back to how 
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TIGER Heroes
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ooooooooooooooooooo 
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it was before.  When the staff reported for work on Monday, 
however, they found the branch flooded again, but Jun did not 
mind cleaning it a second time.  It was his indomitable spirit 
that helped restore everything quickly.  What a great show of 
dedication to Maybank, and shining proof that Jun is worth 
emulating as one of our TIGER HEROES for the Year.

Francis Calip

Juanito Rufino
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2006  2007  2008  2009  2010

OPERATING RESULTS FOR THE YEAR      

Income (Loss) Before Income Tax 26.90  (289.10)  176.01  97.08 91.13

Net Income (Loss)*  37.80  (336.50)  149.54  49.48  36.74

Return on Average Equity 1.36%  (15.45%)  6.24%  1.87%  1.36%

Return on Average Assets 0.26%  (1.99%)  0.92%  0.25%  1.50%   

MAYBANK PHILIPPINES, INC.
30 June  (Amounts in Million Pesos except ROE and ROA which are in %)

Financial Highlights
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  2006  2007  2008  2009  2010

FINANCIAL CONDITION AT YEAR-END     
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* See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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Dear Shareholders,

The past financial year was another eventful one for the Maybank Group in 
general, and Maybank Philippines, Incorporated (MPI) in particular. Maybank Group 
continued the transformation journey to strengthen its foothold as a regional 
financial services leader in South/Southeast Asia by 2015. 

At MPI we have implemented programs to enhance our products and services, 
as well as improve the quality of delivery.  These are distinctive measures of our 
passion to serve from the heart.    

REVIEW OF THE PHILIPPINE BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT 
With the lingering effects of the global economic slowdown, Philippine full-year 

GDP growth in 2009 slowed to 0.9% from 3.8% in 2008.  Economic growth was 
dampened by the onslaught of twin typhoons Ondoy and Pepeng, which caused 
considerable damage to agricultural crops and physical infrastructure.  Nevertheless, 
the 2009 growth achievement is within the 0.8% to 1.8% forecasted by the 

Chairman’s Message
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Dato’ Mohd Salleh Bin HJ Harun
Chairman

Development Budget Coordinating Committee.  The growth 
drivers were the mining, finance, construction, government 
services, private services and trade sub-sectors on the 
supply side.  On the expenditure side, public construction, 
government consumption and private consumption supported 
economic expansion.   

The domestic banking industry remained fundamentally 
stable with capital adequacy ratio well above the 10% required 
by the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas.  

Analysts predicted that 2010 would be a much better year.  
In the first half of the year, GDP grew by 7.9%.  The continued 
recovery of the global economy and improved market 
sentiment resulted in expansion in trade, private services and 
ownership of dwellings, contributing to the growth.  

On the demand side, consumer and investor confidence 
remained positive during the first half of 2010.  Investment 
spending remained robust, driven by private sector investment 

Dato’ Mohd Salle
Chairman

J Harun
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in durable equipment.  Other significant growth drivers were 
private construction and private consumption.  

With the strong performance of the Philippine economy 
in the first half of 2010, indicators point to growth meeting 
the upper end of the 5-6% target for 2010.  

REVIEW OF MPI’S OPERATIONS
Despite the challenging operating environment, MPI 

remained on the profitability track. Net profit amounted 

expectations, posting P15.0B and P22.1B respectively.  
Investment portfolio expansion also drove assets growth, as 

The growth of MPI’s business volumes was accompanied 
by the expansion of the Bank’s access channels.  MPI opened 
five new branches, four of which were located in key cities in 

Chairman’s Message

the National Capital Region – Valenzuela, Las Piñas, Taguig 
and Marikina.  The fifth branch was opened in Mandaue in 
Cebu, to tap the potential of this highly-industrialized and 
productive city in the south.  

Several business units started to hold office in Bonifacio 
Global City (BGC), making MPI more accessible to Makati and 
Taguig-based enterprises and individuals.  Moreover, MPI’s 
presence in BGC is a strategic move to boost the Bank’s brand 
image, in keeping with its strong international parentage.        

MPI is now a member of the BancNet network, thus 

strong BancNet ATM network and through BancNet Online.  
Now, MPI’s clients can enjoy the comfort and convenience of 
having their account details at their fingertips.  

Moving forward, MPI’s clients can expect the 
implementation of more initiatives that would make banking 

quipmmequi m
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easier.  The launch of the Bank’s proprietary internet banking 

offer clients a wider range of online banking features and 
functionalities.  The planned relocation of several branches 
would bring the MPI brand of customer service closer to the 
market, further testifying to the Bank’s thrust to serve its 
target customers.  

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS 
On behalf of the Board and Management of the Maybank 

Group and of Maybank Philippines, I wish to express our 
heartfelt appreciation to Mr. Cristino L. Panlilio for his guidance 
and significant contribution and support as a Director of MPI.  
Tito joined us in 2005.  We wish him the best as he takes on 
the leadership role at the Department of Trade and Industry, 
as well as the Board of Investments. 

I would like to thank the Directors, the Management 
and employees of MPI for their unwavering loyalty, firm 
commitment and endless efforts to elevate the Bank.  Since 
its inception in 1997,  MPI has made significant strides to 
improve its performance in line with its short and long-term 
strategies.  I am confident that, in the years ahead, the Bank 
would make a more meaningful contribution to the Maybank 
Group and play an important role in the Philippine banking 
industry in support of our regional aspirations.  
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On behalf of the management and staff of Maybank Philippines, Incorporated, 
I am pleased to present our operating results for the financial year ended 30 June 
2010. 

FY2009/10 turned out to be a banner year for MPI as new milestones on several 
fronts were reached notwithstanding a business environment that proved to be as 
challenging as it was exciting.

MAYBANK GROUP’S TRANSFORMATION JOURNEY
The financial year started off on an upbeat note with the visit of our Group 

President and CEO Dato’ Sri Abdul Wahid Omar in September last year.  It was his first 
visit to MPI and therefore a golden opportunity for Filipino Maybankers to hear from 
him first hand the transformation journey that the Maybank Group is embarking on 
as he expounded on his vision for the Group and how MPI fits into the whole plan. 

This transformation journey reached an important milestone recently with the 
birth of the new house of Maybank and the relaunching of the Group’s aspiration 

President’s Message

To Shareholders & Friends,
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of becoming a regional financial services leader, this time with 
a new mission of humanizing financial services from the heart 
of ASEAN.  

The new mission places much emphasis on the human 
element at all customer touch points, which is easy to lose 
in this day and age of rapid technological advances.  In the 
words of Dato’ Sri Wahid, the new positioning calls for us to 
get closer to the communities we serve, enrich their lives and 
help them realize their dreams.  What this means to our clients 
is that they come first and that we have taken it as our duty 
to provide them with exemplary service that comes from the 
heart.

 This is a mission that I believe resonates with all of us, 
Maybankers, wherever we are in the region and the world.  
This is a mission that is particularly meaningful to MPI as we 
position ourselves in the Philippines as a bank with global reach 
but at the same time with local touch.

CHALLENGING BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT
Shortly after the momentous visit, natural disasters struck.  

The onslaught of the twin typhoons “Ondoy” and “Pepeng” 
wrought widespread devastation in the metropolis.  Dire as the 
calamity was, it also showcased the readiness of Maybankers to 
reach out and lend a helping hand to the affected members of 
our Maybank family. 

Inevitably, business suffered because of the storms.  Although 
the global economy started to show clearer signs of a recovery 
from a prolonged recession, the destruction wrought by the 
typhoons made a dent on economic activity.  GDP grew at an 
anemic rate of 1.8% in the fourth quarter of 2009, bringing the 
full-year GDP growth to a mere 0.9% from 3.8% in 2008. 

But a silver lining soon emerged behind the dark clouds. 
As the financial year drew to a close, the country elected a new 
set of government officials led by President-elect Benigno “Noy-
Noy” Aquino.

Ong Seet Joon
President and CEO
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President’s Message

With election-related spending, remittances fueling 
robust consumer spending and a rebound in trade and factory 
output, GDP surged to 7.9% in the first half of 2010 from 
0.9% the year before, marking an auspicious beginning for 
the new administration.  The brightening economic landscape 
also bodes well for MPI as we usher in the new financial year. 

ANOTHER REMARKABLE PERFORMANCE
Against this challenging yet exciting backdrop, MPI staged 

another commendable performance.
Let me run through with you some of the key milestones 

that made FY2009/10 a particularly memorable one for MPI
in our continuing journey to deliver better value for all our 
stakeholders:

Operations remained on the profitability track despite 
additional provisions for credit losses and sizeable mark-

to-market loss on derivatives.  Based on our audited 
financial results, our net profit for the financial year ended 
30 June 2010 took a dip but remained positive at P36.7 
million.  While operating income expanded by 3%, 

bottomline.  The jump in operating expenses was driven 
mainly by additional provisions of P72.6 million that 
our auditor SGV required us to set aside for potential 
credit losses from our exposure to Quedan and Rural 
Guarantee Corporation (Quedancor).  Mark-to-
market loss on interest rate swaps, which amounted 

expenses and created a drag on net profit.  If not 
for these two items, our net profit would have reached 

P223.8 million, representing a strong 352% growth over the 
previous year.        
  

Strong business growth momentum sustained 
notwithstanding continuing weakness in the business 
environment.  Our business machinery shifted to a higher 
gear last year as evidenced by several business growth 
indicators that grew at double digits to surpass targets:

investments and placements, overshooting target by 
9%. 

financial year at P15 billion, zooming ahead of the target 
and above last year’s level by 23%.  Both business and 
consumer loans registered double-digit growth.  All loan 
segments except Factoring registered growth over the 
previous year.  Auto Finance, Corporate Loans and Salary 
Loans exceeded their targets. 

to-maturity investments which expanded by 195%. 

President’s Message
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and lifted our deposit level to a record-high of P22 billion 

Expansion of delivery channels. We grew our business 
network and opened five (5) new branches: Cebu-Mandaue, 
Valenzuela, Las Piñas, Taguig (our second branch in Global City) 
and Marikina.  We set up a Business Center in ACCRALaw 
Tower at Global City to improve our brand image and also 
switched to BancNet, making internet banking via BancNet 
Online available to our retail customers. 

Improvement in productivity levels.  With sustained business 
growth, our productivity indices improved notwithstanding a 
bigger branch network as indicated by deposits per branch and 
loans per branch, which grew by 28% and 15%, respectively.   

Rollout of customer service initiatives.  Customer service 
has been and will always be a critical factor in attracting and 
retaining customers.  Raising our customer service level and 
ensuring its consistent quality to differentiate us from the rest 
of the competition will help our cause.  Towards this end, we 
embarked on a bankwide customer service transformation 
that involved the development of the Maybank employee 
brand through MPI STAR.  Launched in August 2009, MPI
STAR, which stands for being Solutions-oriented, Timely, 
Adding value and Reaching out, provides a comprehensive 
framework for measuring and upgrading the customer service 
competency and mindset of our people, as well as recognizing 
and rewarding exemplary performance in the area of customer 
service.  This customer service initiative reached an important 
milestone with the recognition and awarding of the first batch 
of MPI STAR Awardees in September 2010.

CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES AHEAD  
The challenge facing us in this new financial year is to 

keep our business machinery humming to a sonorous beat, 
with all business and support units playing their respective 
roles efficiently towards our common goal – to build a Bank we 
can all be proud of.  We need each and every Maybanker to 
embrace the culture of being truly “Open for Business.”  This 
will mean unleashing the tiger within us and demonstrating 
that unique hunger for business that will compel us to seize 
every business opportunity with a clear sense of urgency and 
purpose.

The brightening economic landscape provides a good 
foundation for us to pursue a more robust business growth.  
Emerging indicators point to a stronger economic growth of 
at least 5-6% for the Philippines in the medium term.  OFW 
remittances will continue to grow and interest has been sparked 

in the foreign investment community by the government’s 
Public-Private Partnership initiatives.

 Taking into account the upbeat economic outlook and 
the strides we made on several fronts, we expect to do better 
in FY2010/2011. 

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS   
Let me take this opportunity to extend our appreciation 

and thanks to our outgoing director, Mr. Cristino Panlilio, who 
will be pursuing a career in public service.  MPI has benefited 
immensely from his wealth of experience and business acumen.  
We wish Mr. Panlilio all the best in his future endeavours.  

I would like to express our deep gratitude to our Board 
of Directors and our Shareholders for their continued trust, 
wisdom and guidance, to our Customers for their loyalty, and 
to our People for their commitment and hard work. 
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Our Valued Clients
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At Maybank, we be
lieve in servi

ng our client
s with 

dedication an
d utmost sincerity. 

We thank our 

clients for gi
ving us their 

trust, loyalty, 
and support 

through the ye
ars. They cont

inue to motivate us to 

become a better ban
k: to continuo

usly deliver g
enuine 

service and p
rovide them the best solut

ions available 

to optimize their com
panies’ growth

 and success.
 We 

earnestly look
 forward to se

rving our clie
nts in more 

ways possible 
and in the be

st way we can
.
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Ager Kiocho
Chief Operating Officer
Blaze Motortech Corporation

“Trust and confidence are the 

essential ingredients that make 

our partnership grow.” 

our expertise.We lend 
Blaze Motortech Corporation is the first ever to design, manufacture, and assemble a 

Philippine-made motorcycle. It began when a group of young entrepreneurs noticed the 
swell of motorbikes in the metropolis. Breaking into the motorcycle sales business, they 
shared strong determination and a common objective, building their company with strategic 
planning and good management.

Partnering with Maybank has proven to be a pivotal move for Blaze, a decision that 
contributed significantly to the growth and advancement of the business. Maybank’s 
account officer along with key senior officials personally visited their Bulacan motorcycle 
plant even when Blaze Motortech was just an upstart company. The Bank also lent its expert 
hands to Blaze Motortech’s finance personnel by giving tips and reminders on reports and 
documentation to smoothen their operations down to the branch level. 

The unwavering commitment of Maybank to Blaze Motortech is also evident in how the 
whole management of the Bank gives full attention to the company’s operations, attending 
lunch meetings filled with pleasant talks as well as business propositions that benefit both 
parties. 

Constant communication and dedicated assistance has indeed resulted in a deeper 
relationship between Maybank and Blaze Motortech. “Trust and confidence are the essential 
ingredients that make our partnership grow,” says Ager Kiocho, Blaze Motortech’s Chief 
Operating Officer.

28
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residential development, investment banking specializing in Contract-to-Sell (CTS) Origination, 
pharmaceutical distribution and hotel development.  Since then, the company has been 
making significant strides in bringing superior housing and community development projects 
within the reach of ordinary Filipinos.

CHMI has been a valued partner of Maybank ever since its initial foray into consumer 
banking.  It started its CTS Origination Services with Maybank in the year 2000.  When almost 
all banks were hesitant to embark on CTS financing, Maybank launched its own facility that 
year.  “CHMI appreciates and lauds Maybank for their openness and pioneering spirit.  As 
Maybank’s wholesale CTS originator, we, in turn, have brought in a sizable portfolio of CTS 
accounts,” says Noel S. Gonzales, CHMI Chairman and CEO.

As CHMI continues its mission to deliver high quality homes at affordable prices, 
Maybank, with its innovative spirit and admirable dedication in responding to the financial 
and business needs of its clients, will continue to provide its exceptional and sincere service to 
support CHMI’s move towards further growth and success. 

Noel S. Gonzales
Chairman and CEO

to innovations.We are open 

“CHMI appreciates and lauds 

Maybank for their openness and 

pioneering spirit.” 
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profits.We enhance 
Hyundai Global City is Klassik Motor’s first Hyundai dealership, and is one of the first auto 

dealers to locate in Bonifacio Global City. Hyundai Global possesses the exclusive franchise to 
service the cities of Taguig, Makati and other surrounding areas. The dealer is currently ranked 

operating nationwide. 
Maybank and Hyundai Global City started their partnership at the right time, when 

Klassic Motors was looking for a partner bank that can extend floor stock and auto financing 
for their Hyundai dealerships. As the licensed distributor of Hyundai cars in the Philippines, 
Hyundai Global needed a bank which offers the opportunity for a long-term, mutually 
beneficial relationship – and Maybank fits their requirement perfectly. 

What Hyundai Global City appreciates most about Maybank is their attractive floor stock 
line interest rate, personalized service, and immediate response to their needs. “The bank’s 
low interest rate and additional lines granted to us translate to more stocks and savings for 

our company,” says Willy Tee Ten, Hyundai Global City President.

32

Willy Tee Ten
Hyundai Global City President

“The bank’s low interest rate 

and additional lines granted to 

us translate to more stocks and 

savings for our company.”  

32
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Leslie Corporation began as a textile company in 1960. By 1971, they shifted into snack 
food manufacturing that proved to be a wise decision. Clover Chips, its most-loved consumer 
product, was developed in 1975. From then on, the company expanded into other businesses 
such as food processing for its banana and coconut chips products, an integrated hog farm 
and chicken egg-laying farm, and fast-food franchising in Minute Burger—the first ever 
mobile food store in the country.

At present, Leslie Corporation owns three manufacturing plants across the country, 
producing a variety of products for the domestic and export markets. The company continues 
to grow with another manufacturing plant currently under construction in Calmeray, 
Laguna.

To assist with their growth, Leslie Corporation sought the services of Maybank in the 
mid-90’s. While expanding operations during that time, Maybank efficiently responded to and 
supported their growing banking needs. The vast experience of Maybank account officers in 
all aspects of Corporate Banking makes the Bank an ideal choice. Furthermore, Maybank’s 
dedication to adapt to the company’s culture, their commitment to respond to the client’s 
queries with great sense of urgency, and their keen understanding of cost structures and 
business models, makes them a veritable partner for business growth.  As Robert Gonzales 
would put it, “Maybank makes us feel as if we are the only account being looked after.”

in partnership.We grow 

Roberto P. Gonzales
Treasury Manager

“Maybank makes us feel as if 

we are the only account being 

looked after.” 
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on time.We deliver 
Manila Ocean Park is the premier aquatic recreational park in the Philippines. From 

its inception as the very first marine-themed park in the country, Manila Ocean Park has 
been continuously entertaining fans and enthusiasts of aquatic marine life. It is a single 
spectacular destination where business, leisure, and entertainment thrive. With its distinct 
personality and a vibrant variety of attractions and amenities, it is becoming a landmark and 
a favorite entertainment destination for many. 

The park, owned and managed by China Oceanis Philippines, Inc. (COPI), a foreign 
company, needed a partner bank they can rely on. Maybank was the natural choice. The 
personalized service of the Bank from its corporate executives to branch staff has since 
impressed its Singaporean and Malaysian owners.

“They deliver more than what is expected,” says Jerry Miranda, Finance Comptroller.  
“Even last minute requirements of COPI that are vital to the park’s operations are attended 
to by Maybank  with a sense of urgency that they always deliver on time,” he continues.

36

Jerry Miranda
Finance Comptroller

“They deliver more than 

what is expected.”

36
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Subaru, the automotive division of Fuji Heavy Industries Ltd. (FHI), is a comprehensive 
equipment manufacturer that develops a wide range of products in areas such as automobiles, 
aerospace, and bus manufacturing.  Their strong pioneering spirit leads them to develop 
innovative products, as they approach technology with flexibility, strong imagination, and 
remarkable enthusiasm.  One of the most recognized car brands, Subaru is known for its 
quality in engineering, design, functionality, and safety.

Subaru has long been a valued partner of Maybank.  With strong presence and widely 
appreciated services in Malaysia and Singapore, the location of Subaru’s head office, Subaru 
partnered with Maybank to help handle the financial requirements of the business and move 
the company forward.  Maybank’s personalized service, their keen attention to the company’s 
specific needs, and their earnest personnel are key to supporting a number of Subaru’s major 
business decisions. 

“They pick-up our deposits and bring back our passbooks and other documents.  We 
don’t need to go to the bank anymore, they come to us.  Maybank eliminates the time we 
are supposed to consume in going back and forth the bank,” says Nicky Mariano, General 

Manager. 

the extra mile.We go 

Nicky Mariano
General Manager

“We don’t need to go to the bank 

anymore; they come to us.”
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Maybank Philippines, Inc. believes that corporate 

governance is crucial in enhancing shareholder value, 

establishing customer trust and loyalty as well as 

strengthening employee commitment to realize the 

Bank’s aspirations of becoming a leading financial 

services provider in the target markets and communities 

it commits to serve.  The basic approach of MPI’s Board 

to good corporate governance, however, goes beyond 

mere regulatory compliance.  On a deeper level, the 

Board seeks to institutionalize a culture of excellence 

founded on the core values of integrity, fairness, 

accountability and transparency that emanates from 

the top and permeates the entire organization. 

MPI recognizes good corporate governance first and 
foremost as a corporate mandate.  To ensure compliance, we 
have incorporated in our Manual on Corporate Governance, 
where appropriate, the recommendations and requirements 
of the regulators as set forth in the Securities and Exchange 
Commission’s Code of Corporate Governance and the Bangko 
Sentral ng Pilipinas’ (BSP’s) Handbook on Corporate Governance.  
We especially laud and support the efforts of the BSP in 
promoting corporate governance within the banking sector by 
setting the tone of governance from the top and enhancing 
transparency, disclosure and financial reporting to empower the 
Board to make smart risk decisions that promote the interests 
of the stakeholders.  We have also embraced the Corporate 
Governance Scorecard (CGS) that BSP put in place in partnership 
with the Institute of Corporate Directors.  Through the CGS, we 

Corporate Governance
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were able to examine and enhance our governance model 
based on the  best practices in corporate governance.

Championing corporate governance at MPI, however, 
goes beyond mere regulatory compliance.  Because we believe 
that sound corporate governance is the bedrock on which 
the trust of our shareholders rests, the Board of Directors, 
the management and the employees of MPI reaffirm our 
commitment to uphold the principles of corporate governance 
at all times and to adopt its best practices whenever and 
wherever applicable.  We strive to institutionalize a culture 
that upholds high levels of integrity, fairness, accountability 
and transparency across all fronts and at all levels of the 
organization so that we will be able to deliver better value to 
our various stakeholders—our shareholders, our customers, 
our partners, our people  and our community.

BOARD GOVERNANCE
Composition of the Board of Directors

Consistent with the provisions set forth in its latest 
Amended Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws dated 
September 12, 2008, the MPI Board of Directors is composed 
of seven (7) members.  The current composition of the 
Board has a good balance of executives and non-executives, 
including independent non-executives, and has a clear division 
of responsibilities such that no individual or small group of 
individuals can dominate the Board’s decision-making. 

Roles and Responsibilities of the Chairman and the 
Chief Executive Officer

There is a clear separation of roles between the Chairman 
of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer to ensure 
equitable distribution of responsibilities and accountabilities 
as well as to provide proper check and balance of power and 
authority.  This check-and-balance mechanism helps to ensure 

that independent perspectives and judgments are properly 
heard in the Board. 

The Chairman of the Board is a non-executive and 
together with the members of the Board is responsible for 
supervising the Bank’s operations and ensuring its compliance 
with all the tenets of corporate governance. 

The Chief Executive Officer, in turn, is an executive 
and is primarily responsible for managing the Bank’s day-
to-day operations.  His performance is evaluated and 
rewarded by the Board based on his Balanced Scorecard.  
He chairs the Management Committee, Asset and Liability 
Management Committee, Credit and Loans Committee, 
Staff Committee, Steering Committee and Audit Exception 
Review Committee.

Duties, Functions and Responsibilities 
The Board of Directors is at the top of MPI’s corporate 

governance structure.  As the supreme governing authority, 
the Board wields ultimate power over Management, which 
runs the Bank on a day-to-day basis but reports to the Board 
for overall guidance. 

The Board’s primary responsibility is to foster the long-term 
success of the Bank and secure its sustained competitiveness 
in a manner characterized by transparency, accountability 
and fairness, to promote the best interest of its stakeholders.  
Moreover, on the Board’s shoulders rests the responsibility of 
formulating the Bank’s vision and mission, strategic goals and 
objectives, as well as policies and procedures that guide and 
direct the Bank’s activities.  

The Board of Directors acts with autonomy and 
independence as it seeks to live up to its mandate of enhancing 
shareholder value, championing corporate governance 
and overseeing the Bank’s management.  The Board enjoys 
unlimited access to all levels of Management at all times.  The 
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Directors are allowed to seek external professional advice on 
any issue they deem necessary. 

To be effective, the Board of Directors subscribes to the code 
of proper practices for directors as proposed by the Institute 
of Corporate Directors, which is based on the core principles 
of integrity, fairness, accountability and transparency. 

Board Meetings and Quorum Requirement
The Board meets once every two (2) months.  To achieve 

a quorum, at least five (5) members must be present.  During 
the financial year ending 30 June 2010, the Board met six (6) 
times and met the quorum requirement for said meetings.

*took over from Chairman Tan Sri Basir Bin Ahmad effective 
January 22, 2010
**replaced Mr. Lim Hong Tat as Director
***resigned effective December 8, 2009
****resigned effective January 29, 2010

Appointments to the Board
Appointments are based on the recommendation of the 

Corporate Governance Committee which employs a set of 
selection criteria.  Every year, the members are required, by 
rotation, to offer themselves for reelection.  Each nomination is 
confirmed by the shareholders during the annual shareholders’ 
meeting held after the end of the financial year.

Remuneration of Directors and Officers
Directors receive a per diem allowance for meetings 

attended.  In addition, non-Philippine resident directors 
are also entitled to allowance for transportation and hotel 
accommodations.  Fees paid to directors during the preceding 
financial year amounted to P1.56M, 5% lower than the 
P1.63M incurred the year before.

For its officers, including senior executives, MPI has 
adopted a remuneration scheme that is at par with the industry.  
Basic compensation and benefits of its officers are determined 
by their placement in the different job bands.  Bonuses are 
performance-based, and are thus linked to predetermined 
performance hurdles as stated in the Balanced Scorecard of 
each officer.  However, to attract and retain talents, MPI has 
also put in place a talent management scheme that seeks to 
remunerate high-potential and high-performing officers with 
compensation commensurate to the value they deliver to the 
organization.

Training of Directors
In compliance with the requirements of the Bangko 

Sentral ng Pilipinas, all members of the Board have attended 
the mandatory training on corporate governance.    

Corporate Governance

Name of Director No. of Meetings   
                                                   Attended

Dato’ Mohd Salleh Bin HJ Harun 3/3

(Chairman)*

Mr. Abdul Farid Alias** 1/2

Mr. Spencer Lee Tien Chye 6/6

Mr. Ong Seet Joon 6/6

Mr. Andres Gatmaitan 6/6

Mr. Cristino Panlilio 5/6

Mr. Felix Antonio M. Andal 6/6

Tan Sri Mohamed Basir Bin Ahmad*** 3/3
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Board Committees

MPI has five (5) specialized Board-level committees, 
namely, the Executive Committee, Corporate Governance 
Committee, Audit Committee, Risk Management Committee 
and Trust Committee.  These committees were constituted 
to assist the Board of Directors in discharging its duties and 
responsibilities particularly within the bounds of effective 
corporate governance.      

The Executive Committee has the power to approve and 
act upon all matters affecting the Bank between meetings of 
the Board.  

The Executive Committee exercises all powers of the Board 
of Directors except on certain matters such as, but not limited 
to, approval of business plans, including annual operating 
and capital budgets and any matter for which the Philippine 
Corporation Code requires the approval of both the Board 
of Directors and shareholders of a corporation as conditions 
precedent for such a matter to become a valid corporate act.  

The composition of the Executive Committee is as 
follows:

No meeting of the Executive Committee was convened 
for the financial year 2009-2010.  

The Nomination/Corporate Governance Committee
provides an assessment of the Board’s effectiveness, directs 
the process of reviewing and replacing Board Members and 
manages the general composition of the Board as to size, skill 
and balance.  The Committee also ensures that the Bank’s 
remuneration is sufficient and reasonable, and linked to 
corporate and individual performance.

Name of Director

Mr. Abdul Farid Alias (Chairman)

Mr. Ong Seet Joon

Mr. Cristino L. Panlilio

Mr. Felix Antonio M. Andal

BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

AUDIT COMMITTEE

TRUST COMMITTEE

RISK MANAGEMENT 
COMMITTEE

NOMINATION/CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
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*resigned effective January 29, 2010

The Audit Committee of the Board (ACB) assists the 
Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities for the financial 
reporting process, the system of internal control, the audit 
process, and the Bank’s process for monitoring compliance 
with laws and regulations and the code of conduct.   

The Board has empowered the ACB to investigate any 
activity or matter within its sphere of influence, obtain 
external independent professional advice, legal or otherwise 
as deemed necessary, and maintain direct communication 
channels with external and internal auditors and with the 
Senior Management of the Bank and its affiliates.

To be able to discharge these functions effectively, the 
ACB has also been empowered to have the resources which 
are required to perform its duties and unlimited access to all 
information and documents relevant to its activities. 

Members of the Committee and their attendance are as 
follows:

The Risk Management Committee provides oversight 
of the Board’s activities in managing the Bank’s credit, market, 
liquidity, operational, legal and other risk exposures. 

Members of the Committee and their attendance are as 
follows:

*resigned effective January 29, 2010
**took over from Mr. Lim Hong Tat effective March 19, 
2010

Corporate Governance

Name of Director No. of Meetings   
                                                   Attended

Mr. Cristino L. Panlilio (Chairman) 6/6

Mr. Spencer Lee Tien Chye 6/6

Mr. Felix Antonio M. Andal 6/6

Name of Director No. of Meetings   
                                                   Attended

Mr. Spencer Lee Tien Chye (Chairman) 6/6

Mr. Ong Seet Joon 6/6

Mr. Felix Antonio M. Andal  6/6

Mr. Cristino L. Panlilio 6/6

Mr. Abdul Farid Alias** 0/1

Name of Director No. of Meetings   
                                                   Attended

Dato’ Mohd Salleh Bin Hj Harun  1/1
(Chairman) 

Mr. Spencer Lee Tien Chye   2/2

Mr. Felix Antonio M. Andal  2/2

Mr. Lim Hong Tat* 0/1
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The Trust Committee provides oversight of the Bank’s 
activities in managing its trust business. 

*resigned effective January 29, 2010

The Bank also has five (5) management-level committees 
tasked to support its Management Committee.  These include 
Asset & Liability Management, Credit & Loans, Steering, Staff 
and Audit Exception Review Committees.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting and Disclosure

The Board is primarily accountable to the Bank’s 
shareholders.  In presenting the annual audited and quarterly 
financial statements, the Board aspires to provide its 
shareholders with a balanced and understandable assessment 
of the Bank’s performance, position and prospects.

For the financial year ended 30 June 2010, the Bank’s 
financial statements have been prepared in full compliance 
with the Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS). 

MPI recognizes the need for regular and timely reports 
of the Bank’s performance.  Hence, in addition to the annual 
report and in fulfillment of the disclosure requirements of the 
Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas, the Bank publishes its quarterly 
statements of condition in newspapers of general circulation.

Internal Controls
The Board has the overall responsibility of ensuring that 

proper and adequate internal controls are in place to safeguard 
the Bank’s assets and protect the interests of its stakeholders.  
The Board sees to it that internal audit examinations include 
the evaluation of the adequacy and effectiveness of internal 
controls covering financial, operational, compliance and risk 
management matters. 

Compliance System
Compliance Management promotes awareness and 

compliance with the regulatory requirements of BSP, AML 
Council, SEC, and other governing bodies among the 
various units within the Bank through dissemination of new 
regulations, conduct of Anti-Money Laundering Training 
programs and compliance briefing. It conducts regular 
monitoring and reporting of compliance with statutory and 
regulatory requirements. 

Name of Director No. of Meetings   
                                                   Attended

Tan Sri Mohamed Basir Bin Ahmad 6/6

(Chairman)

Mr. Ong Seet Joon 6/6

Mr. Andres Gatmaitan 5/6

Mr. Lim Hong Tat*  5/6

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

PRESIDENT & CEO

MANAGEMENT
COMMITTEE

CREDIT & LOANS 
COMMITTEEE

STEERING 
COMMITTEE

ASSET & LIABILITY 
MANAGEMENT 
COMMITTEEE

STAFF 
COMMITTEE
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Compliance Management’s principles and functional 
responsibilities are embodied in the Compliance Management 
Charter.

Relationship with Auditors
The Board maintains a transparent and professional 

relationship with the Bank’s external and internal auditors.  
Through the Audit Committee, it recommends to shareholders 
a duly accredited external auditor to undertake an independent 
audit, which is up for rotation every five (5) years as stipulated 
in our manual.

Code of Discipline
MPI has a Code of Discipline to guide all employees 

in discharging their duties and in dealing with customers, 
colleagues and public authorities.  It also sets out the standards 
of good banking practice that all employees must observe.  

Corporate Governance

Specifically, the Code seeks to:

public confidence in Maybank;

and its customers;

professionalism of Maybank employees;

by consciously disclosing and avoiding any possible 
conflict of interest;

more just and humane society.

The Code, which was updated and reissued in August 
2010 in booklet form, is communicated to all our employees 
who signified through a confirmation form that they have 
read and understood the document. 
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Risk Management

With the improvement in the global economy and strong 
local market sentiment arising from the successful change 
in leadership, a robust, comprehensive, and dynamic risk 
management system is integral to sustain business recovery.

The Bank aims to continually improve its risk management 
infrastructure while responding to the ever-changing 
economic, regulatory, and business landscape.  Recognizing 
the inevitability of risk in business, MPI seeks to foster risk 
awareness rather than risk aversion in all areas of its operations 
and at all levels in the organization, to ensure that it is able to 
effectively manage risks and thus generate optimum returns 
on investment for the benefit of its stakeholders.   

Beyond compliance with regulatory requirements, the role 
of Risk Management is to develop tools to ensure that various 
risks are properly identified, measured, priced, and controlled 
under both business-as-usual conditions and stress events.  It 
is guided by the following general objectives:

of risk awareness;

understanding and measuring risk/return profiles;

policies, frameworks, methodologies, and tools; and,

degree of risk in the various business portfolios of the 
Bank.  

RISK MANAGEMENT ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE
Overall risk supervision rests with the Risk Management 

Committee (RMC).  The RMC is a Board-level committee 
that is responsible for setting the Bank’s corporate risk policy 
and strategies.  The Bank’s Management-level Committees 

manage the Bank’s key risk areas.  These Committees include 
the following:

Proposals beyond the approval level of the management-
level committees, particularly those involving Directors, Officers, 
Stockholders and Related Interests (DOSRI), are elevated to the 
Board of Directors, which is the highest authority within the 
Bank.  Various risk management reports are likewise elevated 
to the RMC and Board for proper disclosure.

The Bank has an independent Risk Management Group
(RMG)  composed of Credit Risk Management, Market Risk 
Management, and Operational Risk Management.  RMG 
reports directly to the RMC.

CREDIT 
AND LOANS 
COMMITTEE 
(CLC)

ASSET AND 
LIABILITY 
COMMITTEE 
(ALCO)

quality

methodologies

risk

SCOPE

MANAGEMENT 
COMMITTEE 
(MANCOM) methodologies encompassing all 

banking operations
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Risk Management

CREDIT RISK 
MANAGEMENT

MARKET RISK 
MANAGEMENT

CREDIT RISK

IDENTIFICATION

MEASUREMENT

CONTROL

MARKET RISK

STRESS-TESTING

LIQUIDITY RISK OPERATIONAL 
RISK

credit and credit-related proposals

selected loan accounts

methodologies for the identification, 
monitoring, reporting, and control of credit 
risk

Rating System

Limits

particularly of 

Position

Point (PVO1)

Analysis

Ratios

Funding Sources

Assessment 

and Data Collection

treasury transactions

methodologies for the identification, 
monitoring, reporting, and control of 
market and liquidity risk

GENERAL FUNCTIONAL 
RESPONSIBILITIES

GENERAL FUNCTIONAL 
RESPONSIBILITIES

METHOD

OPERATIONAL 
RISK 
MANAGEMENT

methodologies for the identification, 
monitoring, reporting, and control of 
operational risk

and Prevention

Continuity Plan

risk management systems composed of Risk 
Control Self-Assessment (RCSA), Incident 
Management and Data Collection (IMDC) 
and Key Risk Indicators (KRI)
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CREDIT RISK

REPORTING

CREDIT RISK

MARKET RISK

OPERATIONAL 
RISK

BASEL II AND 
INTERNAL 
CAPITAL 
ADEQUACY 
ASSESSMENT 
PROCESS 
(ICAAP)

CONTROL

MARKET RISK LIQUIDITY RISK OPERATIONAL RISK

KEY RISK INDICATORS

Watchlist accounts

management

process

Report and Off-Balance 
Sheet Items

Accounts

Exchange Contract, and Floor Stock Financing 

Salary, and Personal Loans

against its total exposure

management process in the Bank.  The ICAAP Framework has the following main components: Board and Management 

and Independent Review.  

covered under Basel II including Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book, Business/Strategic Risk, Liquidity Risk, Credit 
Concentration Risk, and Reputational Risk

Report
Operational Risk 
Management Report

KEY DEVELOPMENTS IN RISK MANAGEMENT

METHOD
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From left to right

DATO’ MOHD SALLEH BIN HJ HARUN      
Chairman 

ENCIK ABDUL FARID ALIAS             
Director  

MR. SPENCER LEE TIEN CHYE           
Director 

rigiggig
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Board of Directors
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MR. ONG SEET JOON
Director 

ATTY. ANDRES G. GATMAITAN           
Director  

MR. CRISTINO L. PANLILIO            
Director 

MR. FELIX ANTONIO M. ANDAL  
Director    
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Management Committee
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From left to right
MR. ONG SEET JOON – Chairman/President & CEO 
MR. NG YOK CHIN – SVP & Head, Risk Management
MR. LOKE KAH LOONG – SVP & Head, Internal Audit
MS. ARSENIA L. AMIGO – SVP & Head, Services
MR. EDWIN A. MANALASTAS – SVP & Head, Central Operations
MR. RICHARD C. LIM – SVP & Head, Retail Banking
MR. MANUEL A. CASTAÑEDA III – SVP & Head, Business Banking
MR. KEVIN KOK – VP & Head, Treasury Front Office
MR. AL B. V. A. NICOLASORA – VP & Head, Remedial Management

MS. FIDES V. TANAY – VP & Head, Human Resources
MR. NOLI ANTHONY A. ORTIZ – VP & Head, Corporate Affairs
MR. RONNIE B. HOMBRE – VP & Head, Information Systems
MS. EVA O. BAUTISTA – VP & Head, Auto Finance
ATTY. GREGORIO M. YARANON, JR. – VP & Head, Compliance
ATTY. JONATHAN P. ONG – VP & Head, Legal
MR. JESUS C. SALVADOR, JR. – VP & Head, Retail Loans Management 
MS. ISABEL Y. SAN PABLO – VP & Head, Personal and Salary Loans 
MR. BENEDICT F. BORLADO – VP & Head, Corporate Planning           
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The Stockholders and the Board of Directors
Maybank Philippines, Incorporated
Legaspi Towers 300
Roxas Boulevard corner P. Ocampo Street
Manila

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Maybank Philippines, Incorporated (the Bank) which comprise the statements of financial position as at June 30, 2010 and 
2009, and the statements of income, statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary 
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards.  This responsibility 
includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing.  Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Maybank Philippines, Incorporated as of June 30, 2010 and 2009, and its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards.

SYCIP GORRES VELAYO & CO.

Janeth T. Nuñez
Partner
CPA Certificate No. 111092
SEC Accreditation No. 0823-A
Tax Identification No. 900-322-673
PTR No. 2087557, January 4, 2010, Makati City

September 3, 2010

Independent Auditors’ Report
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 June 30
2010 2009

ASSETS
Cash and Other Cash Items (Note 13) P556,760,858 P477,809,745
Due from Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (Note 13) 2,219,625,911 1,914,167,758
Due from Other Banks (Note 30) 431,618,409 200,598,365
Interbank Loans Receivable and Securities Purchased Under Resale Agreements (Note 30) 3,707,181,381 2,361,954,231
Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss (Notes 6 and 30) 1,674,828 130,795
Available-for-Sale Investments (Notes 7 and 13) 53,627,842 948,929,823
Held-to-Maturity Investments (Notes 8, 13 and 28) 4,292,634,488 1,453,864,614
Loans and Receivables (Notes 9 and 30) 14,960,461,686 12,180,508,457
Property and Equipment (Note 10) 396,445,083 386,071,067
Investment Properties (Note 11) 533,521,961 574,599,444 
Other Assets (Note 12) 285,909,484 114,087,418 
TOTAL ASSETS P27,439,461,931 P20,612,721,717

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
LIABILITIES
Deposit Liabilities (Notes 13 and 30)
Demand P4,963,971,148 P3,069,958,861
Savings 6,903,466,370 7,342,732,997
Time 10,296,724,131 5,086,352,769

22,164,161,649 15,499,044,627
Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (Notes 17 and 30) 471,106,209 379,092,592
Bills Payable (Notes 14 and 30) 1,089,695,000 1,301,408,000
Outstanding Acceptances 4,588,590  –
Manager’s Checks 100,971,063 79,517,324
Income Tax Payable 6,044,326 2,324,341
Accrued Interest, Taxes and Other Expenses (Note 15) 292,797,990 228,037,042
Other Liabilities (Note 16) 604,590,057 445,862,534

24,733,954,884 17,935,286,460
EQUITY
Preferred Stock (Note 19) 232,539,724 232,539,724
Common Stock (Note 19) 4,047,344,218 4,047,344,218
Cost of Share-based Payment (Note 27) 262,761,718 262,761,718
Surplus Reserve (Note 19) 34,981,519 34,759,189
Deficit (1,874,923,874) (1,911,437,654) 
Net Unrealized Gain on Available-for-Sale Investments (Note 7) 3,628,966 12,121,096
Cumulative Translation Adjustment (Note 2) (441,619) (269,429)
Treasury Shares (Note 19) (383,605) (383,605)

2,705,507,047 2,677,435,257
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY P27,439,461,931 P20,612,721,717

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

Statements of Financial Position
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 Years Ended June 30
 2010  2009

INTEREST INCOME ON
Loans and receivables (Notes 9 and 30)  P1,344,683,108  P1,318,723,183
Financial investments (Note 20)  250,936,366  199,682,062
Interbank loans receivable and securities purchased under resale agreements (Note 30)  72,487,503  69,713,965
Due from Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas and other banks (Note 30)  64,717,242  62,340,132

 1,732,824,219  1,650,459,342
INTEREST EXPENSE ON
Deposit liabilities (Notes 13 and 30)  487,193,186  402,931,576
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (Note 30)  166,240,302  102,358,179
Bills payable and other borrowings (Notes 14 and 30)  6,514,900  111,734,711

 659,948,388  617,024,466
NET INTEREST INCOME  1,072,875,831  1,033,434,876
OTHER INCOME AND CHARGES
Service charges, fees and commissions (Note 22)  233,066,317  168,818,116
Foreign exchange gain  9,130,002  28,231,911
Gain on foreclosure  8,333,006  5,645,404
Gain (loss) on sale of properties  5,248,536  (14,175,072)
Miscellaneous (Notes 24 and 30)  134,488,879  199,081,317
TOTAL OPERATING INCOME  1,463,142,571  1,421,036,552
OTHER EXPENSES AND CHARGES
Compensation and fringe benefits (Notes 23, 27 and 30)  494,227,888  471,630,652
Taxes and licenses (Note 26)  137,210,063  129,158,628
Provision for credit losses (Note 9)  142,832,741  66,323,955
Depreciation and amortization (Note 10)  96,452,756  84,525,346
Occupancy (Notes 25 and 30)  79,805,633  68,555,666
Net trading losses (Note 21)  73,126,124  173,826,810
Security, messengerial and janitorial  57,241,348  52,404,201
Traveling  39,094,959  36,505,304
Insurance  36,585,576  28,040,406
Entertainment, amusement and recreation (Note 26)  25,500,381  22,906,198
Postage, telephone and telegrams  21,667,672  21,123,940
Management and other professional fees  21,346,415  20,832,844
Stationery and supplies used  13,686,502  15,393,485
Litigation and asset acquired (Note 11)  11,806,145  17,665,580
Provision for probable losses (Note 29)  10,970,576  28,141,440
Provision for (reversal of) impairment losses (Note 11)  9,232,092  (27,908,569)
Repairs and maintenance  7,397,777  8,237,250
Fair value loss on financial assets  –  6,109,835
Miscellaneous (Note 24)  93,820,623  100,481,802
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES  1,372,005,271  1,323,954,773
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX  91,137,300  97,081,779
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX (Note 26)  54,401,190  47,597,148
NET INCOME  P36,736,110  P49,484,631

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

Statements of Income
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Years Ended June 30
2010 2009

NET INCOME P36,736,110 P49,484,631
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Net change in unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale investments (Note 7) (8,492,130) 6,903,586
Cumulative translation adjustment (172,190) (269,429)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (8,664,320) 6,634,157
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME P28,071,790 P56,118,788

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

Statements of Comprehensive Income

57
A

N
N

U
A

L 
RE

PO
RT

 2
01

0



Preferred Stock (Note 19)
Common 

Stock

Deposit for
Stock

Subscription
“A” “B” “C”* (Note 19)* (Note 19)

Balance at July 1, 2009 P4,440,000 P8,880,000 P219,219,724 P4,047,344,218  P–
Total comprehensive income – – – –  –
Transfer from deficit to surplus reserve – – – –  –
Balance at June 30, 2010 P4,440,000 P8,880,000 P219,219,724 P4,047,344,218  P–
Balance at July 1, 2008 P4,440,000 P8,880,000 P219,219,724 P3,749,238,730  P298,101,970
Total comprehensive income – – – –  –
Issuance of common stock – – – 3,518  –
Application of deposit for stock subscription – – – 298,101,970  (298,101,970)
Cost of share-based payment during the year – – – –  –
Transfer from deficit to surplus reserve – – – –  –
Balance at June 30, 2009 P4,440,000 P8,880,000 P219,219,724 P4,047,344,218  P–

*Preferred Stock “C” and common stock include subscribed shares, net of subscriptions receivable, amounting to P148,000 and P179,550, respectively.

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.

 Years Ended June 30
2010 2009

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Income before income tax  P91,137,300  P97,081,779
Adjustments for:
 Provision for credit losses (Note 9)  142,832,741  66,323,955
 Gain on restructuring (Note 9)  (107,432,089)  –
 Unrealized trading losses (Note 21)  104,928,147  161,690,078
 Depreciation and amortization (Note 10)  96,452,756  84,525,346
 Realized trading loss (gain) (Note 21)  (31,802,023)  12,136,732
 Amortization of premium (Note 20)  22,302,140  9,721,069
 Provision for probable losses  10,970,576  28,141,440
 Provision for (reversal of) impairment losses (Note 11)  9,232,092  (27,908,569)
 Gain on foreclosure  (8,333,006)  (5,645,404)
 Loss (Gain) on sale of properties  (5,248,536)  14,175,072
 Gain on rescission (Note 24)  –  (190,616,460)
 Fair value loss on financial assets  –  6,109,835
 Cost of share-based payment (Note 27)  –  178,013
 Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
  Increase in the amounts of:
   Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  (882,531)  (890,634)
   Loans and receivables (Notes 9 and 31)  (2,815,353,882)  (459,147,332)
   Other assets  (201,165,202)  (43,462,922) 
  Increase (decrease) in the amounts of:
   Deposit liabilities  6,665,117,022  3,712,845,187
   Manager’s checks  21,453,739  37,233,125
   Outstanding acceptances  4,588,590  –
   Accrued interest, taxes and other expenses  53,790,372  (7,091,581)
   Other liabilities  144,388,758  159,203,807
Net cash provided by operations  4,196,976,964  3,654,602,536
Income taxes paid  (49,256,968)  (51 374 028)
Net cash provided by operating activities  4,147,719,996  3,603,228,508
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisitions of:
 Held-to-maturity investments  (3,023,560,935)  (504,009,735)
 Available-for-sale investments  (1,092,189,126)  (166,465,130)
 Property and equipment (Note 10)  (76,108,897)  (50,595,844)
 Software costs (Note 12)  (1,160,034)  (2,356,480)
Placements in interbank loans receivable (Note 31)  (11,349,521)  –

Statements of Changes in Equity

Statements of Cash Flows
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Cost of
Share-Based

Payment
Surplus
Reserve

Cumulative 
Translation 

Adjustment

Net Unrealized Gain 
on Available-for-
Sale Investments

Treasury
Shares

(Note 27) (Note 19) Deficit (Note 2) (Note 7) (Note 19) Total
P262,761,718 P34,759,189  (P1,911,437,654)  (P269,429)  P12,121,096  (P383,605) P2,677,435,257

– –  36,736,110  (172,190)  (8,492,130)  – 28,071,790
– 222,330  (222,330)  –  –  – –

P262,761,718 P34,981,519  (P1,874,923,874)  (P441,619)  P3,628,966  (P383,605) P2,705,507,047
P262,583,705 P34,439,033  (P1,960,602,129)  P–  P5,217,510  (P383,605) P2,621,134,938

– –  49,484,631  (269,429)  6,903,586  – 56,118,788
– –  –  –  –  – 3,518
– –  –  –  –  – –

178,013 –  –  –  –  – 178,013
– 320,156  (320,156)  –  –  – –

P262,761,718 P34,759,189  (P1,911,437,654)  (P269,429)  P12,121,096  (P383,605) P2,677,435,257

 Years Ended June 30
2010 2009

Proceeds from:
 Sale of available-for-sale investments  P2,009,801,068  P425,073,367
 Maturities of held-to-maturity investments  162,827,351  666,025,140
 Disposals of investment properties (Note 11)  27,830,278  65,119,345
 Disposals of other properties acquired (Note 12)  13,561,484  18,966,087
 Disposals of property and equipment (Note 10)  3,820,465  6,487,723
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  (1,986,527,867)  458 244 473
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Settlements of bills payable  (73,857,414,675)  (194,518,306,593)
Availments of bills payable  73,645,701,675  191,625,689,205
Proceeds from common stock issuances  –  3 518
Net cash used in financing activities  (211,713,000)  (2,892,613,870)
CUMULATIVE TRANSLATION ADJUSTMENT  (172,190)  (269,429)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  1,949,306,939  1,168,589,682
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR
Cash and other cash items  477,809,745  417,829,995
Due from Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP)  1,914,167,758  1,853,637,753
Due from other banks  200,598,365  186,952,695
Interbank loans receivable and securities purchased under resale agreements (SPURA)  2,361,954,231  1 327 519 974

 4,954,530,099  3,785,940,417
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR
Cash and other cash items  556,760,858  477,809,745
Due from BSP  2,219,625,911  1,914,167,758
Due from other banks  431,618,409  200,598,365
Interbank loans receivable and SPURA (Note 31)  3,695,831,860  2,361,954,231

 P6,903,837,038  P4 954 530 099

OPERATIONAL CASH FLOWS FROM INTEREST AND DIVIDENDS

 Years Ended June 30
2010 2009

Interest received P1,661,043,172 P1,650,607,345
Interest paid 623,310,707 640,756,293
Dividends received 6,860 18 335

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

CORPORATE INFORMATION1. 

 Maybank Philippines, Incorporated (the Bank) is a commercial bank incorporated in the Philippines to provide banking services such as deposit products, loans and trade finance, 
domestic and foreign fund transfers, treasury, foreign exchange and trust services through its 50 and 45 branches as of June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively.  The Bank is 
99.96% owned by Malayan Banking Berhad (MBB), the Bank’s Parent Company incorporated in Malaysia.

The Bank’s principal and registered place of business is located at Legaspi Towers 300, Roxas Boulevard corner P. Ocampo Street, Manila.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES2. 

Basis of Preparation
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) and available-for-sale 
(AFS) investments that have been measured at fair value.

The financial statements of the Bank reflect the accounts maintained in the Regular Banking Unit (RBU) and Foreign Currency Deposit Unit (FCDU).

The functional currency of RBU and FCDU is Philippine peso (PHP) and United States dollar (US$), respectively.  For financial reporting purposes, FCDU accounts and foreign 
currency-denominated accounts in the RBU are translated into their equivalents in PHP (see accounting policy on Foreign Currency Translation).  The financial statements of these 
units are combined after eliminating inter-unit accounts.

Statement of Compliance
The financial statements of the Bank have been prepared in compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS).

Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial years except that the Bank has adopted the following PFRS, amendments to Philippine 
Accounting Standards (PAS) and Philippine Interpretations International Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee (IFRIC) which became effective during the year:

Amendments to Standards

PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements
The revised standard separates owner and non-owner changes in equity.  The statement of changes in equity includes only details of transactions with owners, with non-owner 
changes in equity presented in a reconciliation of each component of equity.  In addition, the standard introduces the statement of comprehensive income: it presents all items 
of recognized income and expense, either in one single statement, or in two-linked statements.  The Bank has elected to present two-linked statements and the use of statement 
of financial position.

PFRS 7 Amendments - Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments
The amendments to PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, require additional disclosures about fair value measurement and liquidity risk.  Fair value measurements related to 
items recorded at fair value are to be disclosed by source of inputs using a three-level fair value hierarchy, by class, for all financial instruments recognized at fair value.  In addition, 
reconciliation between the beginning and ending balance for level 3 fair value measurements is now required, as well as significant transfers between levels in the fair value 
hierarchy.  The amendments also clarify the requirements for liquidity risk disclosures with respect to derivative transactions and financial assets used for liquidity management.  
The fair value measurement disclosures are presented in Note 5.

The issuance of and amendments to the following PFRS and Philippine Interpretations did not have any significant impact on the accounting policies, financial position or 
performance of the Bank:

PAS 23, • Borrowing Costs (Revised)
PAS 32 and PAS 1 Amendments - • Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation
PAS 39 Amendments - • Eligible Hedged Items
PFRS 1 and PAS 27 Amendments - • Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate
PFRS 2, Amendment - • Vesting Conditions and Cancellations
PFRS 3, • Business Combination (Revised) and PAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statement (Amended)
PFRS 8, • Operating Segments
Philippine Interpretation IFRIC - 9, • Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives and PAS 39 Amendments, Embedded Derivatives
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Philippine Interpretation IFRIC - 13, • Customer Loyalty Programmes
Philippine Interpretation IFRIC - 16, • Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation
Philippine Interpretation IFRIC - 17, • Distribution of Non-Cash Assets to Owners
Philippine Interpretation IFRIC - 18, • Transfers of Assets from Customers

Improvements to PFRS 

The omnibus amendments to PFRSs were issued primarily with a view to remove inconsistencies and clarify wordings.  There are separate transitional provisions for each standard.  
The adoption of the following amendments resulted in changes in accounting policies but did not have any impact on the financial position or performance of the Bank.

PFRS 1, • First-time Adoption of PFRS - Cost of an Investment in Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate
PFRS 2, • Share-based Payment
PFRS 5, • Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
PAS 16, • Property, Plant and Equipment
PAS 19, • Employee Benefits
PAS 31, • Interest in Joint Ventures
PAS 36, • Impairment of Assets
PAS 38, • Intangible Assets
PAS 39, • Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

PAS 18, • Revenue
The amendment adds guidance (which accompanies the standard) to determine whether an entity is acting as a principal or as an agent.  The features to consider are whether 
the entity:

Has primary responsibility for providing the goods or service- 
Has inventory risk- 
Has discretion in establishing prices- 
Bears the credit risk- 

The Bank has assessed its revenue arrangements against these criteria and concluded that it is acting as principal in all arrangements.  The revenue recognition policy has been 
updated accordingly.

Significant Accounting Policies

Foreign Currency Translation
Transactions and balances
The books of accounts of the RBU are maintained in PHP, while those of the FCDU are maintained in US$.  For financial reporting purposes, the foreign currency-denominated 
accounts in the RBU are translated into their equivalents in PHP based on the Philippine Dealing System (PDS) closing rate prevailing at end of the year (for assets and liabilities) 
and at the average monthly PDS weighted average rate (PDSWAR) for the year (for income and expenses).  Foreign exchange differentials arising from foreign currency 
transactions and revaluation of foreign currency-denominated assets and liabilities in the RBU, except for nonmonetary assets, are credited to or charged against operations in 
the year in which the rates change.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions.  Non-
monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

FCDU
The assets and liabilities of the FCDU are translated into the Bank’s presentation currency at the PDS closing rate prevailing at the statement of financial position date, and its 
income and expenses are translated at the PDSWAR for the year.  Exchange differences arising on translation are taken directly to other comprehensive income (OCI) under 
‘Cumulative translation adjustment’.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
For purposes of reporting cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash and other cash items, foreign currency notes and coins, petty cash fund, miscellaneous checks and 
other cash items, due from BSP and other banks, interbank loans receivable and securities purchased under resale agreements (SPURA) with the BSP that are convertible to known 
amounts of cash with original maturities of three months or less from dates of placements and that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
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Securities Purchased Under Resale Agreements
The Bank enters into short-term purchases of securities under resale agreements of identical securities with the BSP.  Resale agreements are contracts under which a party 
purchases securities and resells such securities to the same selling party at a specified future date at a fixed price.  The amounts advanced under resale agreements are carried 
as SPURA in the statement of financial position.  SPURA are carried at cost.  The corresponding interest income is reported as ‘Interest income on interbank loans receivable and 
SPURA’ in the statement of income.

Financial Instruments - Initial Recognition and Subsequent Measurement
Date of recognition
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace are 
recognized on settlement date.  Settlement date accounting refers to (a) the recognition of an asset on the day it is received by the Bank, and (b) the derecognition of an asset 
and recognition of any gain or loss on disposal on the day that it is delivered by the Bank.  Any change in fair value of financial asset is recognized in the statement of income 
for financial assets at FVPL; and it is recognized in OCI for assets classified as AFS investments.  Deposits, amounts due to banks and customers and loans and receivables are 
recognized when cash is received by the Bank or advanced to the borrowers.

Derivatives are recognized on trade date basis.  Trade date is the date that an entity commits itself to purchase or sell an asset.  Trade date accounting refers to (a) the recognition 
of an asset to be received or the liability to be paid on the trade date, and (b) the derecognition of an asset that is sold, recognition of any gain or loss on disposal and the 
recognition of a receivable from the buyer for payment on the trade date.

Initial recognition of financial instruments
All financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets and financial liabilities not at FVPL, any directly attributable cost 
of acquisition or issue.  The Bank classifies its financial assets in the following categories: financial assets at FVPL, AFS investments, held-to-maturity (HTM) investments and 
loans and receivables.  The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired and whether they are quoted in an active market.  Financial liabilities 
are categorized into financial liabilities at FVPL and other financial liabilities carried at amortized cost.  Management determines the classification of its investments at initial 
recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates such designation at every statement of financial position date.

Reclassification of financial assets
The Bank may choose to reclassify a non-derivative trading financial asset out of the held-for-trading (HFT) category if the financial asset is no longer held for purposes of selling 
it in the near term and only in rare circumstances arising from a single event that is unusual and highly unlikely to recur in the near term.  In addition, the Bank may choose to 
reclassify financial assets that would meet the definition of loans and receivables out of the HFT or AFS investments categories if the Bank has the intention and ability to hold 
these financial assets for the foreseeable future or until maturity at the date of reclassification.

The Bank may also reclassify certain AFS investments to HTM investments when there is a change of intention and the Bank has the ability to hold the financial instruments to 
maturity.

For a financial asset reclassified out of the AFS category, any previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognized in equity is amortized to profit or loss over the remaining 
life of the investment using the effective interest rate (EIR).  Any difference between the new amortized cost and the expected cash flows is also amortized over the remaining 
life of the asset using the EIR.  If the asset is subsequently determined to be impaired then the amount recorded in equity is recycled to the statement of income.

Reclassifications are made at fair value as of the reclassification date.  Fair value becomes the new cost or amortized cost as applicable, and no reversals of fair value gains or losses 
recorded before reclassification date are subsequently made.  EIR for financial assets reclassified to loans and receivables and HTM categories is determined at the reclassification 
date. Further increases in estimates of cash flows adjust EIR prospectively.

Determination of fair value
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets at the statement of financial position date is based on their quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid 
price for long positions and ask price for short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.  When current bid and ask prices are not available, the price of the most 
recent transaction is used since it provides evidence of the current fair value as long as there has not been a significant change in economic circumstances since the time of the 
transaction.

For all other financial instruments not listed in an active market, the fair value is determined by using appropriate valuation techniques, which includes discounted cash flow 
technique and comparison to similar instruments for which market observable prices exist.

‘Day 1’ difference
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different to the fair value from other observable current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation 
technique whose variables include only data from observable market, the Bank recognizes the difference between the transaction price and the fair value (a ‘Day 1’ difference) in 
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the statement of income in ‘Fair value gain (loss) on financial assets’ unless it qualifies for recognition as some other type of asset.  In cases where transaction price used is made 
of data which is not observable, the difference between the transaction price and model value is only recognized in the statement of income when the inputs become observable 
or when the instrument is derecognized.  For each transaction, the Bank determines the appropriate method of recognizing the ‘Day 1’ difference amount.

HFT investments
HFT investments represent government securities purchased and held principally with the intention of selling them in the near term.  These securities are classified under financial 
assets at FVPL and are carried at fair market value.  Realized and unrealized gains and losses on these instruments are recognized as ‘Net trading losses’ in the statement of 
income.  Interest earned on HFT investments is reported under ‘Interest income on financial investments’ in the statement of income.  Quoted market prices are used to determine 
the fair value of these financial instruments.

Derivative instruments
The Bank enters into derivative contracts such as interest rate swaps as a means of reducing or managing their respective interest and foreign exchange exposures.  Such derivative 
instruments classified as financial assets at FVPL are initially recorded at fair value on the date at which the derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at 
fair value.  Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value on derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are taken directly to the statement of income 
under ‘Net trading losses’.  Derivative instruments are carried as financial assets when the fair value is positive and as financial liabilities when the fair value is negative.

The Bank assesses the existence of an embedded derivative on the date it first becomes a party to the contract, and performs re-assessment where there is a change to the 
contract that significantly modifies the cash flows.

Embedded derivatives are bifurcated from their host contracts and carried at fair value with fair value changes being reported through profit or loss, when the entire hybrid 
contracts (composed of both the host contract and the embedded derivative) are not accounted for as financial instruments designated at FVPL, and when their economic risks 
and characteristics are not clearly and closely related to those of their respective host contracts.

As of June 30, 2010 and 2009, the Bank’s embedded derivatives are not required to be bifurcated from the host instruments as these are assessed to be clearly and closely related 
to the respective host contracts.

 Financial instruments designated at FVPL
 Financial instruments classified in this category are designated by management on initial recognition when any of the following criteria is met:

The designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise arise from measuring the assets or liabilities or recognizing gains or • 
losses on them on a different basis; or
The assets and liabilities are part of a group of financial assets, financial liabilities or both which are managed and their performance are evaluated on a fair value basis, in • 
accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy; or
The financial instrument contains an embedded derivative, unless the embedded derivative does not significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear, with little or no • 
analysis, that it would not be separately recorded.

Financial instruments designated at FVPL are initially recognized in the statement of financial position at fair value.  Changes in fair value on financial instruments designated 
at FVPL are recorded in ‘Net trading losses’ in the statement of income.  Interest earned or incurred is recognized as ‘Interest income’ or ‘Interest expense’, respectively, in the 
statement of income.

HTM investments
HTM investments are quoted non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that the Bank’s management has the positive intention 
and ability to hold to maturity.  Where the Bank sells other than an insignificant amount of HTM investments, the entire category would be tainted and reclassified as ‘AFS 
investments’.  The Bank would then be unable to categorize financial instruments as HTM investments for the next two years.

After initial measurement, these investments are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the EIR method, less any impairment in value.  Amortized cost is calculated by 
taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are an integral part of the EIR.  The amortization is included in the statement of income under ‘Interest 
income on financial investments’.  Gains and losses are recognized in income when HTM investments are derecognized and impaired, as well as through the amortization process.  
The losses arising from impairment of such investments, if any, and effects of revaluation of foreign currency-denominated HTM investments are recognized in the statement 
of income.

 Loans and receivables, amounts due from BSP and other banks and interbank loans receivable and SPURA 
These are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that are not quoted in an active market.  They are not entered into with the intention of 
immediate or short-term resale and are not designated as ‘Financial assets at FVPL’ or ‘AFS investments’.
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Loans and receivables include receivables arising from auto and contract-to-sell (CTS) financing and corporate transactions of the Bank.

After initial measurement, loans and receivables, due from BSP, due from other banks and interbank loans receivable and SPURA are subsequently measured at amortized cost using 
the EIR method, less allowance for credit losses.  Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees and costs that are an integral 
part of the EIR.  The amortization is included in the ‘Interest income on loans and receivables’ in the statement of income.  The losses arising from impairment are recognized in 
‘Provision for credit losses’ in the statement of income.

When the estimated cash flows from the financial assets are revised, the carrying amount of the financial asset shall be adjusted to reflect the actual and revised estimated cash 
flows.  The carrying amount shall be computed as the present value of estimated future cash flows at the financial instrument’s original effective interest rate or, when applicable, 
the revised effective interest rate. Any difference shall be recognised in profit or loss as gain on restructuring.

AFS investments
AFS investments are those which are designated as such or do not qualify to be classified as designated as financial assets at FVPL, HTM investments or loans and receivables.  
They are purchased and held indefinitely, and may be sold in response to liquidity requirements or changes in market conditions.  They include equity investments, money market 
papers, government securities and other debt securities.

After initial measurement, AFS investments are subsequently measured at fair value.  The effective yield component of AFS debt securities, as well as the impact of revaluation on 
foreign currency-denominated AFS debt securities, is reported in the statement of income.  The unrealized gains and losses arising from the fair valuation of AFS investments are 
excluded, net of tax, from reported income and are reported as ‘Net unrealized gain (loss) on AFS investments’ in the OCI.

When the security is disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in OCI is recognized in the statement of income under ‘Net trading losses’.  Where the Bank 
holds more than one investment in the same security, these are deemed to be disposed of on a weighted average basis.  Interest earned on holding AFS debt securities are reported 
as ‘Interest income on financial investments’ in the statement of income using the EIR method.  Dividends earned on holding AFS equity securities are recognized in the statement 
of income as ‘Miscellaneous income’ when the right of payment has been established.  The losses arising from impairment of such investments are recognized as ‘Provision for 
(reversal of) impairment losses’ in the statement of income.

Bills payable and other payables
Issued financial instruments or their components, which are not designated at FVPL, are classified as liabilities under bills payable and other payables, where the substance of 
the contractual arrangement results in the Bank having an obligation either to deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder, or to satisfy the obligation other than by the 
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of own equity shares.  The components of issued financial instruments that contain both liability 
and equity elements are accounted for separately, with the equity component being assigned the residual amount after deducting from the instrument as a whole the amount 
separately determined as the fair value of the liability component on the date of issue.

After initial measurement, bills payable and other payables not qualified as and not designated as FVPL, are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the EIR method. 
Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on the issue and fees that are an integral part of the EIR.

Derecognition of Financial Instruments
Financial asset
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of financial assets) is derecognized when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;• 
the Bank retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-• 
through arrangement”; or
the Bank has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither • 
transferred nor retained the risks and rewards of the asset but has transferred control over the asset.

When the Bank has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control over the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the Bank’s continuing involvement in the asset.  
Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount 
of consideration that the Bank could be required to repay.

Financial liability
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or has expired.  When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from 
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as derecognition of the 
original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the statement of income.
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Impairment of Financial Assets
The Bank assesses at each statement of financial position date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.  A financial asset 
or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial 
assets that can be reliably estimated.  Evidence of impairment may include indications that the borrower or a group of borrowers is experiencing significant financial difficulty, 
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and where observable data indicate that 
there is measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets at amortized cost 
For loans and receivables, due from BSP, due from other banks and interbank loans receivable and SPURA, the Bank first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment 
exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant.  If the Bank determines that no 
objective evidence of impairment exists for individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit 
risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment.  Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets by being 
indicative of the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the assets being evaluated.  Assets that are individually assessed for impairment 
and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognized are not included in a collective assessment for impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the assets’ carrying amount and the present 
value of the estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred).  The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance 
account and the amount of loss is charged against the statement of income.  Interest income continues to be recognized based on the original EIR of the asset.  The financial 
assets, together with the associated allowance accounts, are written-off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realized.  Subsequently, 
the amount of the estimated impairment loss decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reduced 
by adjusting the allowance account.  If a future write-off is later recovered, any amounts formerly charged are credited to the ‘Provision for credit losses’.

The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original EIR.  If a financial asset has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for 
measuring any impairment loss is the current EIR, adjusted for the original credit risk premium.  The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a 
collateralized financial asset reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.

For the purpose of a collective impairment evaluation, financial assets are grouped on the basis of such credit risk characteristics as industry, collateral type, past due status and 
term.  Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on the basis of historical loss experience for assets with credit 
risk characteristics similar to those in the Bank.  Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects of current conditions that did not 
affect the period on which the historical loss experience is based and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do not exist currently.  Estimates of changes 
in future cash flows reflect, and are directionally consistent with changes in related observable data from period to period (such as changes in property prices, payment status, 
or other factors that are indicative of incurred losses in the Bank and their magnitude).  The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed 
regularly by the Bank to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

Restructured loans
Where possible, the Bank seeks to restructure loans rather than to take possession of collateral.  This may involve extending the payment arrangements and the agreement of 
new loan conditions.  Once the terms have been renegotiated, the loan is no longer considered past due.  Management continuously reviews restructured loans to ensure that all 
criteria are met and that future payments are likely to occur.  The loans continue to be subjected to an individual or collective impairment assessment, calculated using the loan’s 
original EIR.  The difference between the recorded value of the original loan and the present value of the restructured cash flows, discounted at the original EIR, is recognized in 
‘Provision for credit losses’ in the statement of income.

AFS investments
For AFS investments, the Bank assesses at each statement of financial position date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is 
impaired.

In the case of equity securities classified as AFS investments, this would include a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investments below its cost.  When there is 
evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss - measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset 
previously recognized in the statement of income - is removed from OCI and recognized in the statement of income.  Impairment losses on equity investments are not reversed 
through the statement of income.  Increases in fair value after impairment are recognized directly in OCI.

In the case of debt instruments classified as AFS investments, impairment is assessed based on the same criteria as financial assets carried at amortized cost.  Future interest 
income is based on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued based on the rate of interest used to discount future cash flows for the purpose of measuring impairment 
loss.  Such accrual is recorded as part of ‘Interest income on financial investments’ in the statement of income.  Subsequently, the fair value of a debt instrument increased and 
the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in the statement of income, the impairment loss is reversed through the 
statement of income.
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HTM investments
For HTM investments, the Bank assesses whether there is objective evidence of impairment at each statement of financial position date.  If there is objective evidence that an 
impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows (excluding future expected credit losses that have not yet been incurred).  The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the 
amount of loss is charged to the statement of income.  Interest income continues to be recognized based on the original EIR of the asset.  Subsequently, the amount of the 
estimated impairment loss decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, any amounts formerly charged are credited to ‘Provision for (reversal 
of) impairment losses’ account in the statement of income and the allowance account, reduced.  The HTM investments, together with the associated allowance accounts, are 
written-off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realized.

Offsetting Financial Instruments
 Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to set off 

the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  This is not generally the case with master-
netting agreements, and the related assets and liabilities are presented gross in the statement of financial position.

Financial Guarantees
In the ordinary course of business, the Bank gives financial guarantees consisting of letters of credit, letters of guarantees, and acceptances.  Financial guarantees are initially 
recognized in the financial statements at fair value under ‘Other liabilities’.  Subsequent to initial recognition, the Bank’s liabilities under such guarantees are each measured 
at the higher of the initial fair value less, when appropriate, cumulative amortization calculated to recognize the fee in the statement of income in ‘Service charges, fees and 
commissions’, over the term of the guarantee, and the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle any financial obligation arising as a result of the guarantee.

Any increase in the liability relating to financial guarantees is taken to the statement of income in ‘Provision for (reversal of) impairment losses’.  Any financial guarantee liability 
remaining is recognized in the statement of income in ‘Service charges, fees and commissions’, when the guarantee is discharged, cancelled or has expired.

Property and Equipment
Depreciable properties, including condominium units, furniture, fixtures and equipment and leasehold improvements, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
amortization, and any impairment in value.  Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the equipment if the recognition criteria are met, but excludes repairs and 
maintenance cost.

The initial cost of property and equipment consists of its purchase price, including taxes and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and 
location for its intended use.  Expenditures incurred after the property and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance are normally charged 
against operations in the year in which the costs are incurred.  In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditures have resulted in an increase in the future 
economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of an item of property and equipment beyond its originally assessed standard of performance, the expenditures are 
capitalized as an additional costs of property and equipment.

Depreciation and amortization are computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life (EUL) of the assets.

The EUL of the property and equipment are as follows:

Condominium unit 50 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 1 - 7 years
Leasehold improvements 5 years or term of the lease, whichever is shorter

The EUL and the depreciation and amortization method are reviewed periodically to ensure that the period and the method of depreciation and amortization are consistent with 
the expected pattern of economic benefits from items of property and equipment.

The carrying values of the property and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.  If 
any such indication exists and where the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognized in the statement of income (see accounting 
policy on Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets).

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.  Any gain or loss arising on 
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the statement of income in the 
year the asset is derecognized.
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Investment Properties
Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.  An investment property acquired through an exchange transaction is measured at the fair value 
of the asset acquired unless the fair value of such an asset cannot be measured, in which case the investment property acquired is measured at the carrying amount of the asset 
given up.  Foreclosed properties are classified under ‘Investment properties’ upon:  

entry of judgment in case of judicial foreclosure;a. 
execution of the Sheriff’s Certificate of Sale in case of extra-judicial foreclosure; orb. 
notarization of the Deed of Dacion in case of payment in kind (dacion en pago).c. 

 The difference between the fair value of the foreclosed properties and the carrying value of the related receivables given up is recognized as gain (loss) on foreclosure. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, depreciable investment properties are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. 

Investment properties are derecognized when they have either been disposed of or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future benefit is 
expected from its disposal.  Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognized in the statement of income under ‘Gain (loss) on sale of 
properties’ in the year of retirement or disposal.

Expenditures incurred after the investment properties have been put into operations, such as repairs and maintenance costs, are normally charged to profit of loss in the year in 
which the costs are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over 5-10 years.  The EUL and the depreciation method are reviewed periodically to ensure that the period and the method of 
depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items of real properties acquired.

Transfers are made to investment properties when, and only when, there is a change in use evidenced by ending of owner occupation, commencement of an operating 
lease to another party or ending construction or development.  Transfers are made from investment properties when, and only when, there is a change in use evidenced by 
commencement of owner occupation or development with a view to sale.

The carrying values of investment properties are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.  If 
any such indication exists and where the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets are written down to their recoverable amounts (see accounting 
policy on Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets).

Other Properties Acquired
Other properties acquired include chattel mortgage properties acquired in settlement of loan receivables.  These are carried at cost, which is the fair value at recognition date, 
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value.

The Bank applies the cost model in accounting for other properties acquired.  Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of three years.  The 
estimated useful life and the depreciation method are reviewed periodically to ensure that the period and the method of depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern 
of economic benefits from items of other properties acquired.

The carrying values of other properties acquired are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.  
If any such indication exists and where the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets are written down to their recoverable amounts (see accounting 
policy on Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets).

Intangible Assets
The Bank’s intangible assets included under ‘Other assets’ in the statement of financial position consist of software costs.

Software costs
Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software programs are recognized as an expense as incurred.  Costs that are directly associated with identifiable 
and unique software controlled by the Bank and will generate economic benefits beyond one year, are capitalized.  Expenditure which enhances or extends the performance of 
computer software programs beyond their original specifications is recognized as capital improvements and added to the original cost of the software.  Capitalized computer 
software costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over four years.
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Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets
Property and Equipment, Investment Properties, Other Properties Acquired and Software Costs 
At each statement of financial position date, the Bank assesses whether there is any indication that its property and equipment, investment properties, other properties acquired 
and intangible assets may be impaired. When an indicator of impairment exists or when an annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Bank makes a formal estimate 
of recoverable amount.  Recoverable amount is the greater of its fair value less costs to sell and value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not 
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is assessed as part of the cash generating 
unit to which it belongs.  Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.  
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  An impairment loss is charged to operations in the year in which it arises.

An assessment is made at each statement of financial position date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or 
may have decreased.  If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.  A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized.  If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its 
recoverable amount.  That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized 
for the asset in prior years.  Such reversal is recognized in the statement of income.  After such a reversal, the depreciation expense is adjusted in future years to allocate the 
asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining life.

Income Taxes
Income tax on profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax.  Income tax is determined in accordance with Philippine Tax Law.  Income tax is recognized in the 
statement of income, except to the extent that it relates to items directly in the statement of comprehensive income.

Current tax
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.  The tax rates 
and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method on all temporary differences at the statement of financial position date between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, with certain exceptions.  Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, 
carryforward of unused tax credits from excess minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) over regular corporate income tax (RCIT) and unused net operating loss carryover (NOLCO), 
to the extent that it is probable that taxable income will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and carryforward of unused MCIT over RCIT and 
unused NOLCO can be utilized.  Deferred tax, however, is not recognized when it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting income nor taxable income.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each statement of financial position date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable 
income will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are applicable to the period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax 
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognized directly in the statement of comprehensive income is also recognized in OCI and not in the statement of income.

Share-Based Payment Transactions
Employees of the Bank receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees render services as consideration for equity instruments.

Equity-settled transactions
The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date on which they are granted.  The fair value is determined by an 
external valuation expert using a binomial model, further details of which are given in Note 27.  In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any performance 
conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of the shares of MBB.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognized in the statement of income together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the performance and/
or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the vesting date.  The cumulative expense recognized for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date 
reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Bank’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
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No expense is recognized for awards that do not ultimately vest.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum, an expense is recognized as if the terms had not been modified.  In addition, an expense is recognized 
for any modification, which increases the total fair value of the share-based payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of 
modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognized for the award is recognized 
immediately.

Treasury Shares
Own equity instruments which are acquired (treasury shares) are deducted from equity and accounted for at weighted average cost.  No gain or loss is recognized in the 
statement of income on the purchase of the Bank’s own equity instruments.

Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs are recognized as expense in the year in which these costs are incurred using the EIR method.

Revenue Recognition
 Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Bank and the revenue can be reliably measured.  The Bank assesses its 

revenue arrangements against specific criteria in order to determine if it is acting as principal or agent.  The Bank has concluded that it is acting as a principal in all of its revenue 
arrangements.  The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized:

Interest income
For all financial instruments measured at amortized cost and interest-bearing financial instruments classified as AFS investments, interest income is recorded at the EIR, which is 
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the 
net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability.  When calculating the EIR, the Bank estimates cash flows from the financial instrument (for example, prepayment 
options), and includes any fees or incremental costs that are directly attributable to the instrument and are an integral part of the EIR, but not future credit losses.  The adjusted 
carrying amount is calculated based on the original EIR.  The change in carrying amount is recorded as ‘Interest income’ in the statement of income.

Unearned discounts on loans are recognized as income over the terms of the loans using the EIR.

Once the recorded value of a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been reduced due to an impairment loss, interest income continues to be recognized using 
the original EIR applied to the new carrying amount.

Gain (loss) on sale of properties
Income from sale of investment properties and other properties acquired where collectibility of sales price is reasonably assured is accounted for using the full accrual method, while 
income from sale of assets where collectibility of sales price is not reasonably assured is recognized using the installment method.

Service charges
Service charges are recognized only upon collection or accrued when there is reasonable degree of certainty as to its collectibility.

Fees and commissions
Fees earned for the provision of services over a period of time are accrued over that period.  Loan commitment fees are recognized as earned over the term of the credit lines 
granted to each borrower.  However, loan commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn are deferred (together with any incremental costs) and recognized as an adjustment 
to the EIR on the loan.

Net trading losses
Net trading loss represents results arising from trading activities including all gains and losses from changes in fair value of financial assets and liabilities at FVPL and gains and losses 
from disposal of financial assets at FVPL and AFS investments.

Rental income
Rental income arising on leased premises is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms on ongoing leases and is recorded in the statement of income under 
‘Miscellaneous income’.
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Leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement and requires an assessment of whether the fulfillment of 
the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.  A reassessment is made after inception of the lease 
only if one of the following applies:

There is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewal or extension of the arrangement;a. 
A renewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless that term of the renewal or extension was initially included in the lease term;b. 
There is a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is dependent on a specified asset; orc. 
There is a substantial change to the asset.d. 

Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when the change in circumstances gave rise to the reassessment for scenarios a, c or d 
above, and at the date of renewal or extension period for scenario b.

Bank as lessee
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases.  Operating lease payments are recognized as an 
expense in the statement of income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Bank as lessor
Leases where the Bank does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets are classified as operating lease. Lease payments received are recognized 
as an income in the statement of income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Pension Cost
Defined benefit plan

 The Bank has a funded, noncontributory defined benefit plan administered by a trustee.  A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit 
that an employee will receive upon retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and compensation.  The Bank’s retirement cost is 
determined using the projected unit credit method.  The retirement cost is generally funded through payments to a trustee-administered fund, determined by periodic actuarial 
calculations.

The net asset recognized in the statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit plan is the fair value of plan assets at the statement of financial position date less the 
present value of the defined benefit obligation, together with adjustments for unrecognized actuarial gains or losses, past service costs and assets not recognized due to asset 
ceiling limit.  The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by an independent actuary using the projected unit credit method.

The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates on government securities that are 
denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension liability.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognized as income or expense when the net cumulative unrecognized 
actuarial gains and losses of the plan at the end of the previous reporting year exceeded 10.00% of the higher of the present value of defined benefit obligation and the fair 
value of plan assets at that date.  Net cumulative unrecognized actuarial gains and losses in excess of 10.00% of the higher of the defined benefit obligation and the fair value 
of plan assets of the previous reporting year are credited to or charged against income over the employees’ average expected remaining working lives.

Past service costs, if any, are recognized immediately in the statement of income, unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the employees remaining in service 
for a specified period of time (the vesting period).  In this case, the past service costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.

The defined benefit asset or liability comprises the present value of the defined benefit obligation less past service costs not yet recognized and less the fair value of plan assets 
out of which the obligations are to be settled directly.  The value of any asset is restricted to the sum of any past service cost not yet recognized and the present value of any 
economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in the future contributions to the plan.

 Defined contribution plan
 The Bank also contributes to its contributory, defined-contribution type staff provident plan based on a fixed percentage of the employees’ salaries as defined in the plan.  The 

contribution payable to a defined contribution plan is in proportion to the services rendered to the Bank by the employees and is recorded as an expense under ‘Compensation 
and fringe benefits’ in the statement of income.  Unpaid contributions, if any, are recorded as a liability.
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Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Bank has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of assets embodying 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  When the Bank expects some or all of a 
provision to be reimbursed, for example, under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.  
The expense relating to any provision is presented in the statement of income, net of any reimbursement.  If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are 
determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks 
specific to the liability.  Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as an ‘Interest expense’.

 Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
Contingent liabilities are not recognized but are disclosed in the financial statements unless the possibility of an outflow of assets embodying economic benefits is remote.  
Contingent assets are not recognized but are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Events After The Reporting Period
 Post-year-end events that provide additional information about the Bank’s position at the statement of financial position date (adjusting event) is reflected in the financial 

statements.  Post-year-end events that are not adjusting events, if any, are disclosed when material to the financial statements.

Fiduciary Activities
 Assets and income arising from fiduciary activities together with related undertakings to return such assets to customers are excluded from the financial statements where the 

Bank acts in a fiduciary capacity such as nominee, trustee or agent.

Equity
Capital stock is measured at par value for all shares issued and outstanding.  When the shares are sold at a premium, the difference between the proceeds and the par value is 
credited to ‘Surplus Reserve’ account.  Direct costs incurred related to equity issuance, such as underwriting, accounting and legal fees, printing costs and taxes are chargeable 
to ‘Surplus Reserve’ account.  If the ‘Surplus Reserve’ is not sufficient, the excess is charged against the ‘Surplus’.

‘Surplus (Deficit)’ represents accumulated earnings (losses) of the Bank less dividends declared.

Future Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

The Bank has not applied the following standards and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year ended June 30, 2010.  Except as otherwise indicated, the Bank does 
not expect that the adoption of these new and amended Standards and Interpretations to have significant impact on its financial statements.

New Interpretation

Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 15, Agreement for Construction of Real Estate
This Interpretation, effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2012, covers accounting for revenue and associated expenses by entities that undertake the 
construction of real estate directly or through subcontractors.  The Interpretation requires that revenue on construction of real estate be recognized only upon completion, 
except when such contract qualifies as construction contract to be accounted for under PAS 11, Construction Contracts, or involves rendering of services in which case revenue is 
recognized based on stage of completion.  Contracts involving provision of services with the construction materials and where the risks and reward of ownership are transferred 
to the buyer on a continuous basis will also be accounted for based on stage of completion.

Amendments to Standards

PFRS 2 Amendments - Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions
The amendments to PFRS 2, Share-based Payments, effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2010, clarify the scope and the accounting for group cash-
settled share-based payment transactions.

Improvements to PFRS 2009
The omnibus amendments to PFRS issued in 2009 were issued primarily with a view to remove inconsistencies and clarify wording.  The amendments are effective for annual 
periods beginning January 1, 2010 except when otherwise stated.  The Bank has not yet adopted the following amendments and anticipates that these changes will have no 
material effect on the financial statements.

PFRS 5, • Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, clarifies that the disclosures required in respect of non-current assets and disposal groups classified 
as held for sale or discontinued operations are only those set out in PFRS 5.  The disclosure requirements of other PFRS only apply if specifically required for such non-current 
assets or discontinued operations.

71
A

N
N

U
A

L 
RE

PO
RT

 2
01

0



PFRS 8, • Operating Segment Information, clarifies that segment assets and liabilities need only be reported when those assets and liabilities are included in measures that 
are used by the chief operating decision maker.

PAS 1, • Presentation of Financial Statements, clarifies that the terms of a liability that could result, at anytime, in its settlement by the issuance of equity instruments at the 
option of the counterparty do not affect its classification.

PAS 7, • Statement of Cash Flows, explicitly states that only expenditure that results in a recognized asset can be classified as a cash flow from investing activities.

PAS 17, • Leases, removes the specific guidance on classifying land as a lease. Prior to the amendment, leases of land were classified as operating leases.  The amendment 
now requires that leases of land are classified as either ‘finance’ or ‘operating’ in accordance with the general principles of PAS 17.  The amendments will be applied 
retrospectively.

PAS 36, • Impairment of Assets, clarifies that the largest unit permitted for allocating goodwill, acquired in a business combination, is the operating segment as defined in 
PFRS 8 before aggregation for reporting purposes.

PAS 38,•  Intangible Assets, clarifies that if an intangible asset acquired in a business combination is identifiable only with another intangible asset, the acquirer may recognize 
the group of intangible assets as a single asset provided the individual assets have similar useful lives.  Also clarifies that the valuation techniques presented for determining 
the fair value of intangible assets acquired in a business combination that are not traded in active markets are only examples and are not restrictive on the methods that 
can be used.

PAS 39, • Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, clarifies the following:
that a prepayment option is considered closely related to the host contract when the exercise price of a prepayment option reimburses the lender up to the - 
approximate present value of lost interest for the remaining term of the host contract.
that the scope exemption for contracts between an acquirer and a vendor in a business combination to buy or sell an acquiree at a future date applies only to binding - 
forward contracts, and not derivative contracts where further actions by either party are still to be taken.
that gains or losses on cash flow hedges of a forecast transaction that subsequently results in the recognition of a financial instrument or on cash flow hedges of - 
recognized financial instruments should be reclassified in the period that the hedged forecast cash flows affect profit or loss.

Amendment to Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 9, • Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives, clarifies that it does not apply to possible reassessment at the date of acquisition, 
to embedded derivatives in contracts acquired in a business combination between entities or businesses under common control or the formation of joint venture.

Amendment to Philippine Interpretation IFRIC 16, • Hedge of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation, states that, in a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation, 
qualifying hedging instruments may be held by any entity or entities within the group, including the foreign operation itself, as long as the designation, documentation 
and effectiveness requirements of PAS 39 that relate to a net investment hedge are satisfied.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES3. 

The preparation of the financial statements in compliance with PFRS requires the Bank to make judgments and estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and contingent liabilities.  Future events may occur which will cause the judgments and assumptions used in arriving at 
the estimates to change.  The effects of any change in judgments and estimates are reflected in the financial statements as they become reasonably determinable.

Judgments and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances.

Judgments
a. HTM investments

The Bank classifies quoted non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity as HTM investments.  This classification requires significant 
judgment.  In making this judgment, the Bank evaluates its intention and ability to hold such investments to maturity.  If the Bank fails to keep these investments to maturity 
other than for specific circumstances (such as selling an insignificant amount close to maturity), it will be required to reclassify the entire class as ‘AFS investments’.  The 
investments would therefore be remeasured at fair value and not at amortized cost.
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b. Fair value of financial instruments
Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statement of financial position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined 
using a variety of valuation techniques that include the use of mathematical models.  The input to these models is taken from observable markets where possible, but where 
this is not feasible, a degree of judgment is required in establishing fair values.  The judgments include considerations of liquidity and model inputs such as correlation and 
volatility for longer dated derivatives.

c. Functional currency
PAS 21 requires management to use its judgment to determine the Bank’s FCDU functional currency such that it most faithfully represents the economic effects of the 
underlying transactions, events and conditions that are relevant to the Bank.  In making this judgment, the Bank considers the following:

the currency that mainly influences sales prices for financial instruments and services;• 
the currency in which funds from financing activities are generated; and• 
the currency in which receipts from operating activities are usually retained.• 

d. Operating leases
Bank as lessee
The Bank has entered into commercial property leases for its branch operations.  The Bank has determined that it does not bear any significant risks and rewards of 
ownership on these properties which are leased under operating leases.

Bank as lessor
Leases where the Bank retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases.  Lease payments received are recognized 
as ‘Rental income’ under ‘Miscellaneous income’ in the statement of income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

e. Financial assets not quoted in an active market
The Bank classifies financial assets by evaluating, among others, whether the asset is quoted or not in an active market.  Included in the evaluation on whether a financial 
asset is quoted in an active market is the determination on whether quoted prices are readily and regularly available, and whether those prices represent actual and regularly 
occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.

f. Contingencies
The Bank is currently involved in various legal proceedings.  The estimate of the probable costs for the resolution of these claims has been developed in consultation with 
outside counsel handling the Bank’s defense in these matters and is based upon an analysis of potential results.  It is possible, however, that future results of operations 
could be materially affected by changes in the estimates or in the effectiveness of the strategies relating to these proceedings (see Note 29).

Estimates
a. Fair values of derivatives

The fair values of derivatives that are not quoted in active markets are determined using discounted cash flow model.  Where valuation techniques are used to determine 
fair values, they are validated and periodically reviewed by qualified personnel independent of the area that created them.

To the extent practical, valuation models use only market observable data, however areas such as credit risk (both own and counterparty) require management to make 
estimates.  Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect reported fair value of derivative instruments.

As of June 30, 2010 and 2009, the fair value of the Bank’s derivative liabilities amounted to P471.1 million and P379.1 million, respectively (see Note 17).  As of the same 
dates, the Bank has no outstanding derivative asset.

Net unrealized market losses on derivative instruments (included under ‘Net trading losses’ in the statement of income) amounted to P104.9 million and P161.7 million in 
2010 and 2009, respectively (see Note 21).

b. Valuation of unquoted equity securities
Valuation of unquoted equity securities is normally based on the following:

recent arm’s length transaction;• 
current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same;• 
the expected cash flows discounted at the current rates applicable for items with similar terms and risk characteristics; or• 
other valuation models.• 
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The determination of the cash flows and discount factors for unquoted equity securities require significant estimation.  The Bank reviews the valuation techniques periodically 
and tests them for validity using either price from observable current market transactions in the same instrument or from other observable available market data.  However, 
for unquoted equity securities where there are no observable current market transactions and no reliable basis of fair value, the Bank measures them at cost.

As of June 30, 2010 and 2009, the Bank’s unquoted equity securities valued at cost (included under ‘AFS investments’ in the statement of financial position) amounted to 
P3.6 million and P3.5 million, respectively (see Note 7).

c. Impairment of AFS equity securities
The Bank determines that AFS equity securities are impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost.  This determination of 
what is significant or prolonged requires judgment.  The Bank generally treats as ‘significant’ decline in fair value of 20.00% or more and ‘prolonged’ as greater than 12 
months.  In making this judgment, the Bank evaluates among other factors, including the normal volatility in share price.

In addition, impairment may be appropriate when there is evidence of deterioration in the financial health of the investee, industry and sector performance, changes in 
technology, and operational and financing cash flows.

The Bank’s AFS equity securities are carried at P15.7 million and P15.6 million as of June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively.  As of the same dates, no allowance for 
impairment losses was recognized on these investments (see Note 7).

d. Impairment of AFS debt securities
The Bank reviews its debt securities classified as AFS investments at each statement of financial position date to assess whether they are impaired.  This requires similar 
judgment as applied to the individual assessment of loans and receivables.

As of June 30, 2010 and 2009, the Bank’s AFS debt securities amounted to P38.0 million and P933.3 million, respectively (see Note 7).  As of the same dates, no allowance 
for impairment losses was recognized on AFS debt securities.

e. Credit losses on loans and receivables
The Bank reviews its loan portfolio to assess impairment on an annual basis.  In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the statement of income, 
the Bank makes judgments as to whether there is any observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio 
of loans before the decrease can be identified with an individual loan in that portfolio.

The amount and timing of recorded expense for any period would differ if the Bank made different judgments or utilized different estimates.  An increase in allowance 
for credit losses would increase the recorded operating expenses and decrease total assets.  Provision for credit losses of the Bank amounted to P142.8 million and  
P66.3 million in 2010 and 2009, respectively.  As of June 30, 2010 and 2009, loans and receivables, net of allowance for credit losses and unearned discounts and other 
deferred income, amounted to P15.0 billion and P12.2 billion, respectively.  As of the same dates, the Bank’s allowance for credit losses amounted to P879.7 million and 
P729.2 million, respectively (see Note 9).

f. Impairment of property and equipment, investment properties, other properties acquired and software costs
The Bank assesses impairment on assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.  The factors 
that the Bank considers important which could trigger an impairment review include the following:

significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results;• 
significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired assets or the strategy for overall business; and• 
significant negative industry or economic trends.• 

An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount is determined based on the asset’s 
fair value and are estimated for individual assets.

As of June 30, 2010 and 2009, property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization, amounted to P396.4 million and P386.1 million, respectively 
(see Note 10).  As of June 30, 2010 and 2009, investment properties, net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss, amounted to P533.5 million and 
P574.6 million, respectively (see Note 11).  As of June 30, 2010 and 2009, other properties acquired, net of accumulated depreciation, amounted to P18.8 million and 
P10.5 million, respectively (see Note 12).  As of June 30, 2010 and 2009, software costs, net of accumulated amortization, amounted to P6.8 million and P16.1 million, 
respectively (see Note 12).

As of June 30, 2010 and 2009, the Bank’s accumulated impairment loss on investment properties amounted to P45.5 million and P48.7 million, respectively (see Note 11).  As 
of June 30, 2010 and 2009, the Bank’s property and equipment, other properties acquired and software costs have no accumulated impairment loss (see Note 12).
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g. Recognition of deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused tax losses and temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable income will be available against which 
losses can be utilized.  Significant management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based upon the likely timing 
and level of future taxable income together with future tax planning strategies.

The Bank has been in tax loss position over the past several years.  The Bank believes that it is highly probable that certain temporary differences will not be realized in the 
future.  As discussed in Note 26, recognized deferred tax asset which was offset against deferred tax liability as of June 30, 2010 and 2009, amounted to P35.4 million 
and P33.6 million, respectively.  The Bank did not recognize deferred tax assets on NOLCO, the carry forward benefits of MCIT over the RCIT and unrecognized deductible 
temporary differences amounting to P1.4 billion and P1.9 billion as of June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively (see Note 26).

h. Estimated useful lives of property and equipment, investment properties and software costs
The Bank reviews on an annual basis the EUL of property and equipment and investment properties based on expected asset utilization as anchored on business plans and 
strategies that also consider expected future technological developments and market behavior.  It is possible that future results of operations could be materially affected 
by changes in these estimates brought about by changes in the factors mentioned.  A reduction in the EUL of property and equipment and investment properties would 
decrease their respective balances and increase the recorded depreciation and amortization expense.

The estimated useful lives of property and equipment, investment properties and software costs are discussed in Note 2.

i. Present value of retirement obligation
The cost of defined benefit plan and other post employment benefits is determined using actuarial valuations.  The actuarial valuation involves making assumptions about 
discount rates, expected rates of return on assets, future salary increases, mortality rates and future pension increases.  Due to the long-term nature of these plans, such 
estimates are subject to significant uncertainty.

The expected rate of return on plan assets was based on the market prices prevailing on the date applicable to the period over which the obligation is to be settled.  The 
assumed discount rates were determined using the market yields on Philippine government securities with terms consistent with the expected employee benefit payout as 
of statement of financial position dates.  Refer to Note 23 for the details of assumptions used in the calculation.

As of June 30, 2010 and 2009, the present values of the defined benefit obligation amounted to P146.6 million and P116.0 million, respectively (see Note 23).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES4. 

General Risk Management Structure 
Risk Management structure within the Bank consists of three lines of defense consisting of risk taking units, risk control units, and Internal Audit.  The BOD, through the Risk 
Management Committee (RMC) performs overall supervision of risk management.  Loan proposals and other transactions beyond the approval level of the management 
committees, particularly those involving directors, officers, stockholders and related interests (DOSRI), are elevated to the BOD, which is the highest authority within the Bank.  
The RMC is a Board-level Committee that is responsible for setting the Bank’s corporate risk policy and strategies.  It ensures the adequacy of the risk management infrastructure 
in the Bank to address the risks it faces in its banking activities including credit, market and liquidity risks.

Senior Management also plays an integral role in ensuring proper implementation of risk policies and strategies.  The Bank has the following committees that manage the Bank’s 
key risk areas:

Credit and Loans Committee (CLC) is responsible for the approval of loan and investment proposals, as well as policies, frameworks and methodologies pertaining to • 
credit risk.
The CLC has a maximum approving limit of P100.0 million for secured and P30.0 million for unsecured loans.  Proposals beyond this level have to be escalated to MBB’s 
Credit Committee for concurrence prior to submission to BOD for approval.
Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO) is responsible for the Bank’s asset and liability management policies and strategies that address market risk, liquidity risk, balance • 
sheet structure, and capital management. 
Management Committee is responsible for the Bank’s operational risk management policies, frameworks and methodologies encompassing all banking operations.• 

Risk Management is functionally independent of risk-taking units within the Bank.  It is composed of Credit Risk Management (CRM), Market Risk Management and Operational 
Risk Management.  It is responsible for setting the risk management framework and developing tools and methodologies for the identification, measurement, monitoring, control 
and pricing of risks.
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Risk Management has the following general objectives:

To promote risk management culture and philosophy of risk awareness.• 
To assist risk-taking business and operating units in understanding and measuring risk/return profiles.• 
To develop risk and control infrastructure.• 
To develop, disseminate, and maintain formalized risk policies, frameworks, methodologies and tools.• 
To provide effective means of differentiating the degree of risk in the various business portfolio of the Bank.• 

Internal Audit provides independent assurance of the effectiveness of the risk management approach. The Audit Committee, which is a Board-level committee, is responsible for 
the overall supervision of the audit function within the organization.

Risk Measurement and Reporting
To measure risk of default, the Bank makes use of the Internal Credit Risk Rating System (ICRRS) which consists of 14 risk grades that are mapped to external ratings, as well as risk 
classification according to BSP guidelines.  The ICRRS is used as a tool for decision making as well as in determining appropriate pricing for loan accounts. The key risk indicators 
for credit measures the Bank’s credit risk position against targets, historical performance or industry average in selected areas as of a given period.

In terms of measuring the Bank’s ability to withstand the impact of stress conditions, stress testing methodology is used.  Through the stress testing, the impact of exceptional 
events on the Bank’s asset quality, profitability, and capital adequacy is measured.

In terms of reporting, CRM prepares regular loan portfolio reports covering areas such as business growth, asset quality, concentration of exposures and compliance to applicable 
regulatory and internal guidelines.  These reports are submitted to the CLC, RMC, BOD and other end-users.

Risk Mitigation
As part of its risk management, the Bank uses derivatives to manage exposures resulting from changes in interest rates.

Where appropriate, the Bank requires a second way out in the form of eligible collaterals or guarantee/surety to mitigate credit risk.

Credit Risk
Credit risk comprises bulk of the Bank’s risk capital.  Credit risk is managed through a two-pronged approach: the credit risk management and credit portfolio management.

Credit risk management undertakes the formulation of frameworks, tools, and methodologies for the identification, measurement, monitoring, control and pricing of credit risk 
in accordance to the Bank’s risk appetite and lending direction and strategies.  Methodologies are formulated in coordination with MBB to ensure consistency of risk management 
approach across the Maybank Group.  Where applicable, methodologies and tools are adopted from MBB and customized to the local operating environment.

Credit risk management is responsible for setting concentration limits and monitoring exposures against these limits.  It also prepares various credit risk reports to Management, 
RMC, and the BOD.  All loan products are coursed through the Credit Risk Management for review.

Credit risk management also assists in the development and implementation of various mechanisms to support business generation, capital optimization, portfolio management, 
and Basel II implementation.  It ensures that credit approval structures follow the “four eyes policy” for appropriate check and balance.  Moreover, it is responsible for the pre-
approval independent risk evaluation of credit proposals and for credit quality review of selected accounts not subject to pre-approval review.  Under the Internal Audit, the Credit 
Review Unit undertakes the post-approval review of selected loan accounts.

Maximum exposure to credit risk before taking account of any collateral and other credit enhancements
The table below shows the Bank’s gross maximum exposure to on- and off-balance sheet credit risk exposures (including derivatives), before considering the effects of collateral, 
credit enhancements and other credit risk mitigation techniques:

2010 2009
Due from BSP P2,219,625,911 P1,914,167,758
Due from other banks 431,618,409 200,598,365
Interbank loans receivable and SPURA 3,707,181,381 2,361,954,231

6,358,425,701 4,476,720,354
(Forward)
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2010 2009
Financial assets at FVPL:
 HFT investments - government securities P1,674,828 P130,795
AFS investments:
 Government securities 37,974,708 446,775,530
 Quoted equity securities 12,071,234 12,053,895
 Unquoted equity securities 3,581,900 3,536,900
 Private debt securities – 486,563,498

53,627,842 948,929,823
HTM investments:
 Government securities 3,529,781,576 1,309,474,614
 Private debt securities 762,852,912 144,390,000

4,292,634,488 1,453,864,614
Loans and receivables:
 Loans:
  Corporate 6,095,748,701 4,497,296,011
  Commercial 1,349,614,174 1,011,709,820
  Consumer:
   Auto loans 3,053,706,543 2,484,253,149
   Housing loans 2,805,722,607 2,462,074,609
   Others 268,424,339 182,281,452

13,573,216,364 10,637,615,041
Unquoted debt securities:
 Private 343,527,623 327,882,872
 Government 215,411,342 556,711,733

558,938,965 884,594,605
Accounts receivable:
 Corporate 504,006,253 385,846,828
 Individual 5,613,040 4,879,550

509,619,293 390,726,378
Accrued interest receivable 201,538,523 143,373,683
Sales contract receivable:
 Individual 90,095,316 92,930,666
 Corporate 16,222,712 14,309,507

106,318,028 107,240,173
Returned checks and other cash items (RCOCI) 10,830,513 16,958,577

14,960,461,686 12,180,508,457
Miscellaneous checks and other cash items (COCI) 1,543,708 2,931,307
Total 25,668,368,253 19,063,085,350
Unused commercial letters of credit (Note 29) 493,405,600 405,592,962
Total credit risk exposure P26,161,773,853 P19,468,678,312

Credit risk management has set concentration limits according to various categories such as individual/group borrower, banks, countries, collateral, economic sectors, and 
product types to ensure optimal portfolio diversification.

Risk Concentration
Concentration of credit arises when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic 
features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions.  Concentrations indicate the 
relative sensitivity of the Bank’s performance to developments affecting a particular industry or geographic location.

Concentration limits are set by Credit Risk Management, endorsed by RMC, and approved by the BOD.  These include limits by business segments, credit facility/portfolio, 
collateral/security, economic sector, loan size and obligor type.  These limits are established to ensure diversification, capital optimization and appropriate management of 
concentration risk.
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The tables below show the distribution of maximum credit exposure by industry sector of financial assets and off-balance sheet items before taking into account the fair value 
of the loan collateral or other credit enhancements (amounts in thousands): 

2010
 Gross Maximum Exposure Fair Market Value

Amount % of Collateral
Loans and Receivables
 Construction and real estate P3,992,241 27.72 P4,705,071
 Trading and manufacturing 1,910,489 13.27 498,035
 Financial intermediaries 1,701,106 11.81 11,034
 Wholesale and retail, repair of motor vehicles, motorcycles and  
  personal household goods 973,478 6.76 306,911
 Power, electricity and water distribution 743,767 5.16 –
 Transportation, storage and communication 544,676 3.78 30,945
 Agriculture 268,990 1.87 428,179
 Government 47,901 0.33 –
 Other 4,218,875 29.30 3,213,547

14,401,523 100.00 9,193,722
Unquoted debt securities
 Construction and real estate 278,220 49.78 –
 Government 215,411 38.54 –
 Transportation, storage and communication 35,308 6.31 –
 Manufacturing 30,000 5.37 –

558,939 100.00 –
14,960,462 9,193,722

Loans and Advances to Banks*
 Government 5,319,626 83.66 –
 Financial intermediaries 1,038,800 16.34 –

6,358,426 100.00 –
Trading and Financial Investment Securities**
 Government 3,569,431 82.09 –
 Financial intermediaries 613,443 14.11 –
 Transportation, storage and communication 151,181 3.48 –
 Trading and manufacturing 45 0.01 –
 Others 13,837 0.31 –

4,347,937 100.00 –
Other***
 Transportation, storage and communications 355,580 71.84 –
 Trading and manufacturing 10,973 2.22 –
 Construction and real estate 5,043 1.02 –
 Financial intermediary 1,544 0.31 –
 Wholesale and retail, repair of motor vehicles,   
  motorcycles and personal household goods 1,500 0.30 –
 Others 120,309 24.31 –

494,949 100.00 –
P26,161,774 P9,193,722

2009
 Gross Maximum Exposure Fair Market Value

Amount % of Collateral
Loans and Receivables
 Construction and real estate P3,503,084 31.01 P4,786,266
 Trading and manufacturing 1,291,870 11.44 598,511
 Financial intermediaries 1,034,400 9.16 18,868
 Wholesale and retail, repair of motor vehicles, motorcycles and  
  personal household goods 1,215,761 10.76 332,819
 Power, electricity and water distribution 306,277 2.71 290,747
 Transportation, storage and communication 466,883 4.13 70,420
 Agriculture 106,004 0.94 414,575
 Government 190,271 1.68 –
 Other 3,181,364 28.17 2,625,618

11,295,914 100.00 9,137,824
(Forward)
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2009
 Gross Maximum Exposure Fair Market Value

Amount % of Collateral
Unquoted debt securities
 Government P556,711 P62.93 P–
 Construction and real estate 288,948 32.66 –
 Transportation, storage and communication 38,936 4.41 –

884,595 100.00 –
12,180,509 9,137,824

Loans and Advances to Banks*
 Government 4,099,022 91.56 –
 Financial intermediaries 377,698 8.44 –

4,476,720 100.00 –
Trading and Financial Investment Securities**
 Government 1,756,382 73.09 –
 Financial intermediaries 387,273 16.12 –
 Transportation, storage and communication 144,474 6.01 –
 Trading and manufacturing 99,205 4.13 –
 Others 15,591 0.65 –

2,402,925 100.00 –
Other***
 Wholesale and retail, repair of motor vehicles, motorcycles and  
  personal household goods 207,285 50.74 –
 Construction and real estate 114,957 28.14 –
 Trading and manufacturing 49,604 12.14 –
 Power, electricity and water distribution 28,752 7.04 –
 Financial intermediaries 2,931 0.72 –
 Others 4,995 1.22 –

408,524 100.00
P19,468,678 P9,137,824

 * Consists of Due from BSP, Due from other banks and Interbank loans receivables and SPURA
 ** Consists of Financial assets at FVPL, AFS investments and HTM investments

 ***   Consists of Miscellaneous COCI and Contingent liabilities relating to outstanding letters of credit

Collateral and other credit enhancements
There are various collaterals and securities that are acceptable to the Bank.  In evaluating acceptability of collateral, three factors are considered: control, disposability and 
margin.

The Account Officer is primarily responsible in ensuring the acceptability of collaterals/security obtained to secure the loan based on established minimum acceptance criteria 
and maximum margin of financing.

The Account Officer is responsible in ensuring that the collaterals are duly and regularly inspected and appraised; adequately insured where necessary; and payment of applicable 
taxes are updated.

The Account Officer also ensures that the approved margin of financing is maintained throughout the life of the loan.

Loans or portions thereof that are covered by collateral/security including but not limited to the following are considered secured:

Registered First Real Estate Mortgage over eligible real estate properties with road right of way• 
Peso or US Dollar-denominated deposits that are maintained with the Bank • 
Government securities • 
Motor vehicles• 
Machinery and equipment• 
Publicly-traded shares of stocks• 

Direct and indirect borrowings of the Philippine government is treated as non-risk and considered as secured.

Borrowings secured by guarantees/collateral issued by MBB, Maybank Branches and subsidiaries are considered secured.

79
A

N
N

U
A

L 
RE

PO
RT

 2
01

0



Maintenance, marketing and disposal of the Bank’s acquired assets, except for motor vehicles, is being undertaken by its affiliate, Philmay Properties, Inc. (PPI).  Pending disposal 
of acquired assets, PPI arranges for the properties to be leased on a short-term basis by interested parties.  For motor vehicles, the Bank’s Auto Finance Unit is directly responsible 
for the sale of repossessed vehicles.  Auto Finance also consigns units, particularly the high-end ones, with auto dealers.

Credit quality per class of financial assets
The Bank does not subject its investments to risk rating. It relies on acceptable third party issuer or issue ratings, international or local, as applicable. Any exposure, whether 
direct or indirect, to the sovereign entity - Republic of the Philippines (ROP) and BSP, is considered non-risk or high grade.  While issuances by ROP and BSP are considered as 
high grade, chance of default is virtually nil.

Private entities, such as financial institutions or corporations, issuing debt securities, with risk rating similar to ROP/BSP are likewise classified as high grade.  Such entities are 
generally held as top-tier.  Companies with third party ratings lower than ROP are classified as standard grade.  These are companies that exhibit moderate credit risk with 
acceptable capacity to meet its financial commitments.

Companies without third party ratings are classified as unrated.

For loans and receivables, the following are subject to risk rating:

Corporate and commercial loans (except those fully secured by hold-out on deposits)• 
Contract-to-sell financing (risk rating on the developer)• 

Accounts which are not subjected to risk rating, such as consumer loans, are considered unrated. 

Loan Grades 
High grade (accounts with risk grade of C1 to C3)• 

 Accounts falling within this classification have low credit risk with good to excellent capacity to meet its financial commitments
Standard grade (accounts with risk grade of C4 to C7)• 

 Accounts falling within this classification may have substantial to fairly good credit risk but the capacity to meet their financial commitments remains acceptable.
Substandard grade (accounts with risk grade of C8 to C14)• 

 Accounts under this category exhibit high credit or default risk with impairment characteristics that are neither classified under ‘past due but not impaired’ nor ‘individually 
impaired’
However, start-up companies, regardless of the strength of their percentage have default grade cap of C9• 

The tables below show the credit quality by class of financial assets (gross of allowance for credit losses, but net of unearned interest and discounts and other deferred 
income) of the Bank (in thousands):

2010
Neither Past Due nor Specifically Impaired Past Due

Standard Substandard but Not Individually
High Grade Grade Grade Unrated Impaired Impaired Total

Due from BSP P2,219,626 P– P– P– P– P– P2,219,626
Due from other banks 302,420 34,455 – 94,743 – – 431,618
Interbank loans receivable and SPURA 3,707,181 – – – – – 3,707,181

6,229,227 34,455 – 94,743 – – 6,358,425
Financial assets at FVPL:

HFT investments:
Government securities 1,675 – – – – – 1,675

AFS investments:
Government securities 37,975 – – – – – 37,975
Quoted equity securities 12,071 – – – – – 12,071
Unquoted equity securities – – – 3,582 – – 3,582

50,046 3,582 53,628
HTM investments:

Government securities 3,529,782 – – – – – 3,529,782
Private debt securities 762,853 – – – – – 762,853

4,292,635 – – – – – 4,292,635
(Forward)
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2010
Neither Past Due nor Specifically Impaired Past Due

Standard Substandard but Not Individually
High Grade Grade Grade Unrated Impaired Impaired Total

Loans and receivables: 
Corporate P2,382,784 P2,631,646 P767,024 P125,698 P– P399,665 P6,306,817
Commercial 154,091 939,980 104,459 132,420 13,600 101,552 1,446,102
Consumer:

Auto loans – – – 3,024,979 34,017 – 3,058,996
Housing loans 12,558 2,494,673 10,842 189,082 170,312 1,933 2,879,400
Others – – – 257,071 16,406 – 273,477

2,549,433 6,066,299 882,325 3,729,250 234,335 503,150 13,964,792
Unquoted debt securities:
     Private – 65,308 – 278,220 – – 343,528
     Government 653 – – 67,680 – 189,167 257,500

653 65,308 – 345,900 – 189,167 601,028
Accounts receivables:

Corporate – 33 22 526,929 2 88,392 615,378
Individual 4 29 15 5,056 285 9,977 15,366

4 62 37 531,985 287 98,369 630,744
Accrued interest receivable 12,498 33,241 5,197 149,027 1,813 9,201 210,977
Sales contracts receivable:

Individual – – – 58,398 – 36,197 94,595
Corporate – – – – 17,322 – 17,322

– – – 58,398 17,322 36,197 111,917
RCOCI – – – 10,831 – – 10,831
Miscellaneous – – – – – 309,862 309,862

2,562,588 6,164,910 887,559 4,825,391 253,757 1,145,946 15,840,151
Miscellaneous COCI – – – 1,544 – – 1,544

P13,136,171 P6,199,365 P887,559 P4,925,260 P253,757 P1,145,946 P26,548,058

2009
Neither Past Due nor Specifically Impaired Past Due

Standard Substandard but Not Individually
High Grade Grade Grade Unrated Impaired Impaired Total

Due from BSP P1,914,168 P− P− P− P− P− P1,914,168
Due from other banks 90,378 31,532 − 78,688 − − 200,598
Interbank loans receivable and SPURA 2,361,954 − − − − − 2,361,954

4 366 500 31 532 − 78 688 − − 4 476 720
Financial assets at FVPL:

HFT investments:
Government securities 131 − − − − − 131

AFS investments:
Government securities 446,776 − − − − − 446,776
Quoted equity securities 12,054 − − − − − 12,054
Unquoted equity securities − − − 3,537 − − 3,537
Private debt  securities 96 316 390 247 − − − − 486 563

555,146 390,247 − 3,537 − − 948,930
HTM investments:

Government securities 1,309,475 − − − − − 1,309,475
Private debt securities 144 390 − − − − − 144 390

1,453,865 − − − − − 1,453,865
Loans and receivables: 

Corporate 1,874,756 1,503,388 425,191 304,188 169,037 310,889 4,587,449
Commercial 282,539 585,168 29,628 69,789 18,109 105,654 1,090,887
Consumer:

Auto loans − − − 2,437,932 50,417 − 2,488,349
Housing loans 273,330 2,039,885 − 179,627 33,119 − 2,525,961
Others − − − 173 706 10 993 − 184 699

2,430,625 4,128,441 454,819 3,165,242 281,675 416,543 10,877,345
Unquoted debt instruments:
     Private − 39,126 − 288,757 − − 327,883
     Government 850 − − 399 401 − 192 796 593 047

850 39,126 − 688,158 − 192,796 920,930
(Forward)
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2009
Neither Past Due nor Specifically Impaired Past Due

Standard Substandard but Not Individually
High Grade Grade Grade Unrated Impaired Impaired Total

Accounts receivables:
Corporate P− P− P− P360,632 P89 P84,454 P445,175
Individual − 38 194 13 572 68 30 073 43 945

− 38 194 374 204 157 114 527 489 120
Accrued interest receivable 72,161 35,056 924 31,946 1,116 4,427 145,630
Sales contracts receivable:

Individual − − − 37,795 − 63,061 100,856
Corporate − − − − 14 273 − 14 273

− − − 37,795 14,273 63,061 115,129
RCOCI − − − 16,959 − − 16,959
Miscellaneous − − − − − 344 606 344 606

2 503 636 4 202 661 455 937 4 314 304 297 221 1 135 960 12 909 719
Miscellaneous COCI − − − 2,931 − − 2,931

P8 879 278 P4 624 440 P455 937 P4 399 460 P297 221 P1 135 960 P19 792 296

As of June 30, 2010 and 2009, allowance on individually impaired receivables of the Bank amounted to P646.3 million and P602.6 million, respectively (see Note 9).

The aggregate fair value of collaterals held by the Bank pertaining to the aggregate amount of gross past due and impaired loans and receivables as of June 30, 2010 and 2009 
amounted to P550.5 million and P718.3 million, respectively.  See discussions under the “Collateral and other credit enhancements” section for the details of types of collateral 
held.

The following table provides for the analysis of the Bank’s restructured loans (net of unearned interest and discounts and capitalized interests) by class as of June 30, 2010 and 2009:

2010 2009
Corporate P90,533,770 P84,942,514
Commercial 69,505,330 49,890,896
Consumer 6,611,514 9,092,041

P166,650,614 P143,925,451

Aging analysis of past due but not impaired per class of financial assets
The tables below show the aging analysis of past due but not impaired loans receivables per class of the Bank as of June 30, 2010 and 2009.  Under PFRS 7, a financial asset is past 
due when a counterparty has failed to make a payment when contractually due.

2010
Less than

30 Days
30 to 59

Days
60 to 89

Days Total
Consumer:
 Auto loans P6,474,398 P3,321,233 P24,221,249 P34,016,880
 Housing loans 1,669,812 – 168,642,428 170,312,240
 Others – – 16,405,822 16,405,822

8,144,210 3,321,233 209,269,499 220,734,942
Commercial 37,500 200 13,562,047 13,599,747

P8,181,710 P3,321,433 P222,831,546 P234,334,689

2009
Less than
30 Days

30 to 59
Days

60 to 89
Days Total

Consumer:
 Auto loans P25,598,281 P20,392,869 P4,426,076 P50,417,226
 Housing loans 26,814,343 4,881,368 1,423,515 33,119,226
 Others 4,754,052 4,331,876 1,906,644 10,992,572

57,166,676 29,606,113 7,756,235 94,529,024
Commercial 17,076,860 607,288 425,100 18,109,248
Corporate 119,036,588 50,000,000 – 169,036,588

P193,280,124 P80,213,401 P8,181,335 P281,674,860
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Impairment assessment
The Bank recognizes impairment losses based on the results of its specific (individual) and collective assessment of its credit exposures.  Impairment has taken place when there 
is a presence of known difficulties in the servicing of cash flows by counterparties, a significant credit rating downgrade takes place, infringement of the original terms of the 
contract has happened, or when there is an inability to pay the principal or the interest beyond a certain threshold.  These and other factors, either singly or in tandem with other 
factors, constitute observable events and/or data that meet the definition of an objective evidence of impairment.

Market Risk
The Bank has in place a Market Risk Management Framework to provide a set of general principles to guide the Bank to identify, measure, monitor, control, manage and report 
market risk exposures as well as roles and responsibility in managing risk.  All market risk policies that are being issued are reviewed at least annually to ensure it is up to date 
with the regulatory requirements and with international best practices and MBB practices.

The BOD sets the Bank’s tolerance for market risk and communicates that tolerance to Senior Management.  Based on these tolerances, Senior Management shall establish 
appropriate risk limits, duly approved by the BOD, to maintain the exposure within the set tolerances over a range of possible changes in market risk factors such as interest rates. 
Limits represent the Bank’s actual willingness and ability to accept real losses.  In setting risk limits, the BOD and Senior Management consider the nature of the Bank’s strategies 
and activities, past performance, and management skills.  Most importantly, the BOD and Senior Management consider the level of the Bank’s earnings and capital and ensure 
that both are sufficient to absorb losses equal to the proposed limits.  The BOD approves limits.  Furthermore, limits shall be flexible to changes in conditions or risk tolerances 
and shall be reviewed periodically.

The Bank established the Market Risk Management Unit (MRM) to assist the BOD, ALCO, RMC and the risk-taking units to monitor and manage the Bank’s market risk exposures 
independently from the risk-taking units.  MRM’s roles include the following:

To ensure that the market and liquidity risk management objectives of the Bank are achieved through the development, implementation, maintenance and enhancement • 
of a comprehensive risk management framework that comprises qualitative and quantitative methodologies to identify, measure, monitor, control and report, among 
others, the following:

Market risks, which covers the risk of loss of earnings arising from changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, equity and commodity prices and their implied − 
volatilities
Liquidity risks, which covers liquidity crisis, funding structure, fund raising policies and strategies, diversification of funding sources, gap analysis and management.− 

To provide support functions to the ALCO to facilitate informed strategic management decision making.• 
To provide consultative services and support functions to all relevant units within the Bank on matters pertaining to market and liquidity risks management and treasury • 
operations.
To participate, in collaboration with other risk management units within the Bank, to identify and address various risk inherent in new treasury and core banking products • 
prior to product introduction.
To provide revaluation prices of relevant treasury products transacted by various business units within the Bank.• 
To carry out daily independent oversight of the Treasury operations.• 
To coordinate integration with credit and operational risk units.• 

The Bank also makes use of various risk measurement techniques to monitor and manage market risk like Price-Value-of-a-Basis-Point (PVO1), Earnings-at-Risk (EaR) and Stop-
Loss Limits, among others.

Interest rate risk
The method by which the Bank measures the sensitivity of its assets and liabilities to interest rate fluctuations is by way of asset-liability gap analysis.  This analysis provides the 
Bank with a measure of its susceptibility to changes in interest rates.  The repricing gap is calculated by first distributing the assets and liabilities contained in the Bank’s statement 
of financial position into tenor buckets (or the time remaining to maturity if there is no repricing), and then obtaining the difference between the total of the repricing (interest 
rate-sensitive) assets and repricing (interest rate-sensitive) liabilities.

The Bank also measures the sensitivity of its assets and liabilities to interest rate fluctuations by way of EaR limit.  The Bank, in collaboration with MBB, has taken into consideration 
its business needs as well as compliance requirement for regulators in deriving the above limits.

A gap is considered negative when the amount of interest rate sensitive liabilities exceeds the amount of interest rate sensitive assets.  A gap is considered positive when the 
amount of interest rate sensitive assets exceeds the amount of interest rate sensitive liabilities.

Accordingly, during a period of rising interest rates, a bank with a positive gap would be in a position to invest in higher yielding assets earlier than it would need to refinance its interest 
rate sensitive liabilities.  During a period of falling interest rates, a bank with a positive gap would tend to see its interest rate sensitive assets repricing earlier than its interest rate sensitive 
liabilities, which may restrain the growth of its net income or result in a decline in net interest income.
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The Bank monitors the exposure of financial assets and financial liabilities to fluctuations in interest rates by measuring the impact of interest rate movements on its interest 
income.  This is done by modeling the impact of various changes in interest rates to the Bank’s interest-related income and expenses.

The following tables set forth, for the period indicated, the sensitivity of the Bank’s net interest income and equity to reasonably possible changes in interest rates with all other 
variables held constant:

 2010
Currency  PHP  US$
Changes in interest rates (in basis points) +136.5 -136.5 +15 -15
Change in annualized net income (in thousands) P35,072 (P35,072) (P25,853) P25,853
Change in equity (in thousands) (403) (225) – –

 2009
Currency  PHP  US$
Changes in interest rates (in basis points) +200 -200 +200 -200
Change in annualized net income (in thousands) (P152) P182 (P38,744) P63,931
Change in equity (in thousands) (227) 257 (43,684) 58,991

The sensitivity of the statement of income is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on the net interest income for one year, based on the floating rate financial assets 
and financial liabilities held at the statement of financial position date.  The sensitivity of equity is calculated by revaluing fixed-rate AFS investments at statement of financial 
position date for the effects of the assumed changes in interest rates.  The impact on the equity as stated above already excludes the impact on transactions affecting profit and 
loss.

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange (FX) rates.  Managing FX risk includes monitoring of net FX 
position.  Daily FX position is being monitored by the middle and back office.  If the level reaches the trigger point, action is required to bring back the level to within the normal 
range.  Also, the Bank has an integrated approach to risk management in relation to its foreign exchange activities. FX risk is reviewed together with other risks to determine 
the Bank’s overall risk profile.

Foreign currency-denominated liabilities generally consist of: (a) foreign currency-denominated deposits in the Bank’s FCDU, (b) accounts maintained in the Philippines or which 
are generated from remittances to the Philippines by Filipino expatriates and overseas Filipino workers who retain for their own benefit or for the benefit of a third party, and  
(c) foreign currency-denominated borrowings appearing in the regular books of the Bank.

Foreign currency-denominated deposits are generally used to fund the Bank’s foreign currency-denominated loan and investment portfolio in the FCDU.  Banks are required by 
the BSP to match the foreign currency-denominated liabilities with the foreign currency-denominated assets held under the FCDU books.  In addition, the BSP requires a 30.00% 
liquidity reserve on all foreign currency-denominated liabilities held under the FCDU books.

The Bank has significant exposure to US$ monetary assets and liabilities as of June 30, 2010 and 2009.

The tables below summarize the reasonable possible movement of the currency rate against each significant foreign currency with all other variables held constant on the 
statement of income (US$ against PHP).

 2010
Changes in foreign currency exchange rate +5.3% -5.3%
Effect on profit before tax P5,466,818 (P5,466,818)

 2009
Changes in foreign currency exchange rate +5.0% -5.0%
Effect on profit before tax P2,866,257 (P2,866,257)

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk arises when the Bank is unable to make a timely payment of any of its financial obligations to customers or counterparties in any currency.  This may be due to the 
Bank’s inability to liquidate assets or to obtain funding to meet its liquidity needs in a timely manner.

The ALCO and Head of Treasury ensure that sufficient liquid assets are available to meet short-term funding and regulatory requirements.
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The Bank formulated a Liquidity Management Framework outlining the approaches in managing liquidity risk.  The framework includes comprehensive discussion on the oversight 
structure and respective roles and responsibilities, liquidity measurement, policies and guidelines, monitoring and controlling of liquidity risk and contingency funding plan.

Analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities
The tables below show the maturity profile of the Bank’s financial assets as of June 30, 2010 and financial liabilities as of June 30, 2010 and 2009 based on contractual 
undiscounted cash flows:

Financial assets
Analysis of equity and debt securities at FVPL into maturity groupings is based on the expected date on which these assets will be realized.  For other assets, the analysis into 
maturity grouping is based on the remaining period from the end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity date or if earlier the expected date the assets will be realized 
(in thousands).

2010
Up to 1
Month

1 to 3
Months

3 to 6
Months

6 to 12
Months

Beyond
1 year Total

Financial Assets
Cash and other cash items P556,761 P– P– P– P– P556,761
Due from BSP 1,057,302 1,172,589 – – – 2,229,891
Due from other banks 435,353 – – – – 435,353
Interbank loans receivable and SPURA 3,707,843 – – – – 3,707,843
Financial assets at FVPL:
 Held-for-trading:
   Government securities – 1,696 – – – 1,696
AFS investments:
 Government securities 7,000 24,000 214 214 7,878 39,306
 Quoted equity securities – – – – 12,071 12,071
 Unquoted equity securities – – – – 3,582 3,582
HTM investments:
 Government securities 4,500 – 133,646 142,380 4,465,931 4,746,457
 Private debt securities – 198 28,346 28,544 909,479 966,567
Loans and receivables:
Loans:
 Corporate 363,529 1,240,272 526,193 644,939 4,345,966 7,120,899
 Commercial 212,429 224,677 259,314 227,957 701,067 1,625,444
 Consumer:
   Housing loans 86,077 151,348 225,986 435,326 4,937,945 5,836,682
   Auto loans 61,226 119,013 221,003 619,015 3,230,058 4,250,315
   Others 2,018 2,728 4,010 8,482 259,188 276,426

725,279 1,738,038 1,236,506 1,935,719 13,474,224 19,109,766
Unquoted debt securities:
 Private – 5,612 11,559 12,163 353,813 383,147
 Government 189,167 – 2,654 2,654 68,744 263,219

189,167 5,612 14,213 14,817 422,557 646,366
Sales contract receivable:
   Individual 6,922 4,940 9,318 20,810 124,838 166,828
   Corporate 348 686 1,024 15,793 3,744 21,595

7,270 5,626 10,342 36,603 128,582 188,423
Accounts receivable:
   Corporate 4,362 7,368 18,760 29,972 1,280,069 1,340,531
   Individual 3,173 2,363 3,545 4,534 1,814 15,429

7,535 9,731 22,305 34,506 1,281,883 1,355,960
Accrued interest receivable 201,539 – – – – 201,539
RCOCI 10,831 – – – – 10,831

1,141,621 1,759,007 1,283,366 2,021,645 15,307,246 21,512,885
Miscellaneous COCI 1,544 – – – – 1,544

P6,911,924 P2,957,490 P1,445,572 P2,192,783 P20,706,187 P34,213,956
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2010
On demand and 

up to
1 Month

1 to 3
Months

3 to 6
Months

6 to 12
Months

Beyond 1
Year Total

Financial Liabilities
Deposit liabilities:

Demand P4,963,971 P– P– P– P– P4,963,971
Savings 5,755,414 640,595 507,522 14,271 – 6,917,802
Time 2,131,495 2,687,824 1,934,565 2,455,371 1,698,559 10,907,814

12,850,880 3,328,419 2,442,087 2,469,642 1,698,559 22,789,587
Financial liabilities at FVPL:

Interest rate swaps 4,789 17,519 13,922 100,383 766,495 903,108
Bills payable 1,090,418 – – – – 1,090,418
Manager’s checks 100,971 – – – – 100,971
Accrued interest payable 94,960 21,302 5,116 – – 121,378
Accounts payable 99,172 – – – – 99,172
Due to Treasurer of the Philippines – – – – 10,035 10,035
Total liabilities 14,241,190 3,367,240 2,461,125 2,570,025 2,475,089 25,114,669
Contingent liabilities – – – 39,844 453,562 493,406

P14,241,190 P3,367,240 P2,461,125 P2,609,869 P2,928,651 P25,608,075

2009
On demand and 

up to
1 Month

1 to 3
Months

3 to 6
Months

6 to 12
Months

Beyond 1
Year Total

Financial Liabilities
Deposit liabilities:

Demand P3,069,959 P– P– P– P– P3,069,959
Savings 6,594,821 727,026 22,436 4,760 – 7,349,043
Time 849 191 1 026 192 748 477 1 205 600 1 579 419 5 408 879

10,513,971 1,753,218 770,913 1,210,360 1,579,419 15,827,881
Financial liabilities at FVPL:

Interest rate swaps 3,254 10,096 6,767 60,609 792,351 873,077
Cross currency swaps 10,526 – – – – 10,526

Bills payable 1,360,445 – – – – 1,360,445
Manager’s checks 79,517 – – – – 79,517
Accrued interest payable 51,066 5,856 1,751 8,667 17,400 84,740
Accounts payable 114,775 – – – – 114,775
Due to Treasurer of the Philippines – – – – 10,061 10,061
Total liabilities 12,133,554 1,769,170 779,431 1,279,636 2,399,231 18,361,022
Contingent liabilities – 255 827 – – 149 765 405 592

P12,133,554 P2,024,997 P779,431 P1,279,636 P2,548,996 P18,766,614

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT5. 

Shown below are the assets and liabilities of the Bank as they appear on the statements of financial position, which are divided into financial and nonfinancial items, with the 
financial items being mapped to the categories of financial instruments under PAS 39 (in thousands):

2010
Financial Instruments

FVPL
Held-to-Maturity

Investments
Loans and

Receivables
AFS

Investments

Other
Financial

Liabilities

Other
Nonfinancial

Items Total
ASSETS
Cash and other cash items P– P– P556,761 P– P– P– P556,761
Due from BSP – – 2,219,626 – – – 2,219,626
Due from other banks – – 431,618 – – – 431,618
Interbank loans receivable and SPURA – – 3,707,181 – – – 3,707,181
Financial assets at FVPL 1,675 – – – – – 1,675
AFS investments – – – 53,628 – – 53,628
HTM investments – 4,292,634 – – – – 4,292,634
(Forward)
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2010
Financial Instruments

FVPL
Held-to-Maturity

Investments
Loans and

Receivables
AFS

Investments

Other
Financial

Liabilities

Other
Nonfinancial

Items Total
Loans and receivables P– P– P14,960,462 P– P– P– P14,960,462
Property and equipment – – – – – 396,445 396,445
Investment properties – – – – – 533,522 533,522
Other assets – – 1,544 – – 284,366 285,910

P1,675 P4,292,634 P21,877,192 P53,628 P– P1,214,333 P27,439,462
LIABILITIES
Deposit liabilities:
 Demand P– P– P– P– P4,963,971 P– P4,963,971
 Savings – – – – 6,903,466 – 6,903,466
 Time – – – – 10,296,724 – 10,296,724
Financial liabilities at FVPL 471,106 – – – – – 471,106
Bills payable – – – – 1,089,695 – 1,089,695
Outstanding acceptances – – – – 4,589 – 4,589
Accrued interest, taxes and other expenses – – – – 121,378 171,420 292,798
Income tax payable – – – – – 6,044 6,044
Manager’s checks – – – – 100,971 – 100,971
Other liabilities – – – – 109,207 495,383 604,590

P471,106 P– P– P– P23,590,001 P672,847 P24,733,954

2009
Financial Instruments

FVPL
Held-to-Maturity

Investments
Loans and

Receivables
AFS

Investments

Other
Financial
Liabilities

Other
Nonfinancial

Items Total
ASSETS
Cash and other cash items P– P– P477,810 P– P– P– P477,810
Due from BSP – – 1,914,168 – – – 1,914,168
Due from other banks – – 200,598 – – – 200,598
Interbank loans receivable and SPURA – – 2,361,954 – – – 2,361,954
Financial assets at FVPL 131 – – – – – 131
AFS investments – – – 948,930 – – 948,930
HTM investments – 1,453,865 – – – – 1,453,865
Loans and receivables – – 12,180,508 – – – 12,180,508
Property and equipment – – – – – 386,071 386,071
Investment properties – – – – – 574,600 574,600
Other assets – – 2,931 – – 111,156 114,087

P131 P1,453,865 P17,137,969 P948,930 P– P1,071,827 P20,612,722
LIABILITIES
Deposit liabilities:
 Demand P– P– P– P– P3,069,959 P– P3,069,959
 Savings – – – – 7,342,733 – 7,342,733
 Time – – – – 5,086,353 – 5,086,353
Financial liabilities at FVPL 379,092 – – – – – 379,092
Bills payable – – – – 1,301,408 – 1,301,408
Accrued interest, taxes and other expenses – – – – 84,740 143,297 228,037
Income tax payable – – – – – 2,324 2,324
Manager’s checks – – – – 79,517 – 79,517
Other liabilities – – – – 124 837 321 026 445 863

P379,092 P– P– P– P17,089,547 P466,647 P17,935,286

The following table presents a comparison by category of carrying amounts and estimated fair value of the Bank’s financial instruments:

 2010  2009
Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value

Financial Assets
Cash and other cash items P556,760,858 P556,760,858 P477,809,745 P477,809,745
Due from BSP 2,219,625,911 2,219,625,911 1,914,167,758 1,914,167,758
Due from other banks 431,618,409 431,618,409 200,598,365 200,598,365
Interbank loans receivable and SPURA 3,707,181,381 3,707,181,381 2,361,954,231 2,361,954,231
(Forward)
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 2010  2009
Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value

Financial assets at FVPL:
 HFT investments:
  Government debt securities P1,674,828 P1,674,828 P130,795 P130,795
AFS investments:
 Government securities 37,974,708 37,974,708 446,775,530 446,775,530
 Quoted equity securities 12,071,234 12,071,234 12,053,895 12,053,895
 Unquoted equity securities 3,581,900 3,581,900 3,536,900 3,536,900
 Private debt securities – – 486,563,498 486,563,498

53,627,842 53,627,842 948 929 823 948 929 823
HTM investments:
 Government securities 3,529,781,576 3,864,953,895 1,309,474,614 1,449,548,867
 Private debt securities 762,852,912 787,329,340 144,390,000 157,303,291

4,292,634,488 4,652,283,235 1,453,864,614 1,606,852,158
Loans and receivables:
 Loans:
  Corporate 6,095,748,701 6,325,650,084 4,497,296,011 4,781,275,681
  Commercial 1,349,614,174 1,477,180,658 1,011,709,820 1,149,381,071
  Consumer:
  Auto loans 3,053,706,543 2,696,699,169 2,484,253,149 2,222,430,971
  Housing loans 2,805,722,607 2,170,970,014 2,462,074,609 1,913,782,538
  Others 268,424,339 261,748,067 182 281 452 167 445 610

13,573,216,364 12,932,247,992 10,637,615,041 10,234,315,871
 Unquoted debt securities:
  Private 343,527,623 308,397,579 327,882,872 368,409,887
  Government 215,411,342 258,713,782 556,711,733 571,215,127

558,938,965 567,111,361 884 594 605 939 625 014
 Accounts receivables:
  Corporate 504,006,253 504,006,253 385,846,828 385,846,828
  Individual 5,613,040 5,613,040 4,879,550 4,879,550

509,619,293 509,619,293 390,726,378 390,726,378
 Accrued interest receivable 201,538,523 201,538,523 143,373,683 145,673,118
 Sales contract receivable:
  Individual 90,095,316 68,740,590 93,080,666 74,142,338
  Corporate 16,222,712 15,438,334 14,159,507 11,534,706

106,318,028 84,178,924 107,240,173 85,677,044
 RCOCI 10,830,513 10,830,513 16,958,577 16,958,577

14,960,461,686 14,305,526,606 12,180,508,457 11,812,976,002
Miscellaneous COCI 1,543,708 1,543,708 2 931 307 2 931 307

P26,225,129,111 P26,929,842,778 P19,540,895,095 P19,326,350,184
Financial Liabilities
Deposit liabilities:
 Demand P4,963,971,148 P4,963,971,148 P3,069,958,861 P3,069,958,861
 Savings 6,903,466,370 6,903,466,370 7,342,732,997 7,342,923,288
 Time 10,296,724,131 11,167,017,204 5 086 352 769 5 195 750 335

22,164,161,649 23,034,454,722 15,499,044,627 15,608,632,484
Financial liabilities at FVPL:
 Interest rate swaps 471,106,209 471,106,209 369,566,482 369,566,482
 Cross currency swaps – – 9,526,110 9,526,110
Bills payable 1,089,695,000 1,089,695,000 1,301,408,000 1,301,408,000
Outstanding acceptances 4,588,590 4,588,590 – –
Manager’s checks 100,971,063 100,971,063 79,517,324 79,517,324
Accrued interest payable (Note 15) 121,377,608 121,377,608 84,739,927 84,739,927
Accounts payable (Note 16) 99,171,853 99,171,853 114,775,229 114,775,229
Due to Treasurer of the Philippines 10,035,419 10,035,419 10 061 314 10 061 314

P24,061,107,391 P24,931,400,464 P17,468,639,013 P17,578,226,870

The methods and assumptions used by the Bank in estimating the fair value of its financial instruments follow:

Cash and other cash items, due from BSP and other banks and interbank loans receivable and SPURA - The carrying amounts approximate fair values considering that these 
accounts consist mostly of overnight deposits and floating rate placements.
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Debt securities (Financial asset at FVPL, AFS and HTM investments) - Fair values are generally based on quoted market prices.  If the market prices are not readily available, fair 
values are estimated using either values obtained from independent parties offering pricing services or adjusted quoted market prices of comparable investments or using the 
discounted cash flow methodology.

Equity securities - Fair values are based on quoted market prices.  However, for unquoted equity securities with no observable current market transactions and no reliable basis 
of fair value, the Bank measures them at cost.

Loans and receivables (except for RCOCI) - Fair values of loans, loan-related accounts receivables, accrued interest receivables and receivable from an affiliate are estimated using 
the discounted cash flow model, using the Bank’s current incremental lending rates for similar types of loans and receivables.  

RCOCI - Quoted market prices are not readily available for these assets.  They are reported at carrying value and are not significant in relation to the Bank’s total assets.

Derivative instruments - Fair values are estimated using discounted cash flow model.

Deposit liabilities (demand and savings deposits) and other liabilities - Carrying amount approximate fair values considering that these are currently due and demandable.

Deposit liabilities (special savings deposits and time deposits) and bills payable - Fair values are estimated using the discounted cash flow methodology. 

Other financial liabilities - The carrying values approximate fair values due to the relatively short-term maturities of these liabilities.

Fair Value Hierarchy
The Bank uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation technique:

Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on observable market data.

As of June 30, 2010, the Bank held the following financial instruments measured at fair value:

Level 1 Level 2 Total
Financial Assets
Financial assets at FVPL:
 Held-for-trading:
  Government securities P1,674,828 P– P1,674,828
AFS investments:
 Government securities P37,974,708 P– P37,974,708
 Equity securities 12,071,234 – 12,071,234
Total AFS investments P50,045,942 P– P50,045,942
Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities at FVPL:
 Derivative liabilities P– P471,106,209 P471,106,209

When fair values of listed equity and debt securities, as well as publicly traded derivatives at the statement of financial position date are based on quoted market prices or binding 
dealer price quotations, without any deduction for transaction costs, the instruments are included within Level 1 of the hierarchy.

For all other financial instruments, fair value is determined using valuation techniques.  Valuation techniques include net present value techniques, comparison to similar 
instruments for which market observable prices exist and other revaluation models.

During the year ended June 30, 2010, there were no transfers between level 1 and level 2 fair value measurements, and no transfers into and out of level 3 fair value 
measurements.

In 2010 and 2009, the Bank has no level 3 financial instruments.
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS6. 

This account consists of HFT government securities amounting to P1.7 million and P0.1 million as of June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS7. 

This account consists of investments in:

2010 2009
Private securities:
 Equity:

Quoted P12,071,234 P12,053,895
Unquoted 3,581,900 3,536,900

 Debt – 486,563,498
15,653,134 502,154,293

Government securities 37,974,708 446,775,530
P53,627,842 P948,929,823

The movements in net unrealized gains on AFS investments, gross of deferred tax liability, as of June 30, 2010 and 2009 are as follows:

2010 2009
Balance at the beginning of the year P22,278,652 P8,675,768
Changes in fair value taken to profit and loss (31,140,521) 7,681,132
Changes in fair value recognized in equity 20,725,084 5,921,752

11,863,215 22,278,652
Unamortized unrealized losses on reclassified AFS 
 investments to HTM investments (Note 8) (8,234,249) (10,157,556)

P3,628,966 P12,121,096

HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENTS8. 

This account consists of investments in:

2010 2009
Government securities P3,529,781,576 P1,309,474,614
Private debt securities 762,852,912 144,390,000

P4,292,634,488 P1,453,864,614

Reclassification of Financial Assets
In 2008, global market experienced a substantial deterioration in market condition which includes credit crunch and liquidity shortage.  Thus, to mitigate the impact of the global 
financial crisis, the BSP issued Circular Nos. 626 and 628 which allowed banks to reclassify their non-derivative financial assets from HFT and AFS to HTM investments.  Also, 
amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 7 provide guidance on the proper accounting treatment and disclosure requirement on the allowed reclassification.

Following the amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 7, the Bank reviewed the financial assets classified as HFT, in order to determine whether classification remains appropriate.  After 
determining that classification does not anymore reflect the intention of the Bank, reclassification was made.

On August 19, 2008, the Bank reclassified financial assets from HFT to HTM with a face value of P5.0 million and fair value of P4.8 million with EIR ranging from 5.62% to 6.39%.  
The difference between the face amount and the fair market value as at reclassification is included in the EIR amortization.  Trading loss recognized in the statement of income 
prior to reclassification amounted to P0.2 million.

As of June 30, 2009, the remaining P1.2 million of the reclassified HFT securities have fair value of P1.1 million.  Amortization recognized during the year amounted to  
P0.1 million. On July 2, 2009, these securities matured.
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HTM investments reclassified from AFS investments have the following balances:

June 30, 2010

Face value 

Cost as at
reclassification

date
Carrying

Value Fair value

Net
unrealized

loss
Amortization

of premium
Effective

interest rate
Government securities P288,220,000 P317,919,827 P299,725,990 P343,147,252 P8,234,249 P3,387,602 6.69% -6.92%

June 30  2009

Face value 

Cost as at
reclassification

date
Carrying

Value Fair value

Net
unrealized

loss
Amortization

of premium
Effective

interest rate
Government securities P288,780,000 P317,919,827 P329,640,406 P314,618,443 P10,157,556 P3,301,384 6.69% - 6.92%

 The Bank expects to recover 100.00% of principal and interest totaling P466.0 million and no impairment loss was recognized during the year.

Had these securities not been reclassified to HTM investments, net unrealized loss from AFS investments and trading losses from HFT as of June 30, 2009 would have been 
increased by P15.0 million and P0.1 million, respectively.

Had these securities not been reclassified to HTM investments as of June 30, 2010, AFS investments carrying value would have increased by P43.4 million and net unrealized 
loss would have decreased by P51.6 million.

LOANS AND RECEIVABLES9. 

This account consists of:

2010 2009
Loans:

Corporate P6,354,596,213 P4,642,811,029
Commercial 1,454,463,514 1,098,190,058
Consumer:
 Auto loans 3,058,996,285 2,488,349,283
 Housing 2,880,380,435 2,526,941,956
 Others 273,662,494 184,794,130

14,022,098,941 10,941,086,456
Less unearned discounts and other deferred income 57,306,671 63,741,161

13,964,792,270 10,877,345,295
Unquoted debt securities:
 Private 343,527,623 327,882,872
 Government 257,500,189 593,046,982

601,027,812 920,929,854
Accounts receivable:
 Corporate 615,377,834 445,175,440
 Individual 15,366,229 43,944,514

630,744,063 489,119,954
Accrued interest receivable 210,976,539 145,629,982
Sales contract receivable:
 Individual 94,595,567 100,856,273
 Corporate 17,321,889 14,273,121

111,917,456 115,129,394
RCOCI 10,830,513 16,958,577
Miscellaneous 309,861,996 344,606,311

15,840,150,649 12,909,719,367
Less allowance for credit losses 879,688,963 729,210,910

P14,960,461,686 P12,180,508,457
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Loans consist of:

2010 2009
Loans and discounts P13,070,862,570 P10,109,618,468
Customers’ liabilities and other loans 354,654,659 406,496,267
Bills purchased 335,647,560 156,154,306
Restructured loans 189,858,265 194,278,081
Agrarian and other agricultural credit loans 71,075,887 74,539,334

P14,022,098,941 P10,941,086,456

Unearned discounts and other deferred income include deferred interest income on restructured loans amounting to P13.4 million and P22.8 million as of June 30, 2010 and 
2009, respectively.

Movements in the allowance for credit losses follow:

2010
Corporate

 Loans
Commercial

Loans Housing Loans Auto Loans
Accounts

Receivable
Balance at beginning of year P100,004,511 P79,177,525 P63,886,501 P4,096,134 P98,393,576
Provision for credit losses 99,052,101 37,893,767 133,275 – –
Accounts written off – (572,980) – (2,149,135) (233,271)
Reclassification/Others 12,012,722 (20,011,472) 9,657,383 3,342,743 22,964,466
Balance at end of year P211,069,334 P96,486,840 P73,677,159 P5,289,742 P121,124,771
Individual impairment P194,621,653 P63,516,181 P146,864 P– P23,150,120
Collective impairment 16,447,681 32,970,659 73,530,295 5,289,742 97,974,651

P211,069,334 P96,486,840 P73,677,159 P5,289,742 P121,124,771
Gross amount of loans and receivables individually determined  to  
 be impaired before deducting any individually   
 assessed impairment allowance P403,865,031 P107,623,388 P1,933,103 P– P98,369,292

2010
Sales Contract

Receivable
Unquoted Debt 

Securities Miscellaneous* Total
Balance at beginning of year P7,889,221 P36,335,249 P339,428,193 P729,210,910
Provision for credit losses – 5,753,598 – 142,832,741
Accounts written off – – (1,479,547) (4,434,933)
Reclassification/Others (2,289,793) – (13,595,804) 12,080,245
Balance at end of year P5,599,428 P42,088,847 P324,352,842 P879,688,963
Individual impairment P4,180,425 P42,088,847 P318,626,076 P646,330,166
Collective impairment 1,419,003 – 5,726,766 233,358,797

P5,599,428 P42,088,847 P324,352,842 P879,688,963
Gross amount of loans and receivables individually determined  to 
 be impaired before deducting any individually  
 assessed impairment allowance P36,197,496 P189,167,130 P318,626,075 P1,155,781,515

2009
Corporate

 Loans
Commercial

Loans Housing Loans Auto Loans
Accounts

Receivable
Balance at beginning of year P94,371,090 P85,738,883 P52,832,408 P18,171,974 P104,838,252
Provision for credit losses 5,633,421 20,940,652 3,414,633 – –
Accounts written off – (27,502,010) – (11,394,877) (8,260,034)
Interest accrued on impaired receivables – – – – –
Reclassification/Others – – 7,639,460 (2,680,963) 1,815,358
Balance at end of year P100 004 511 P79 177 525 P63 886 501 P4 096 134 P98 393 576
Individual impairment P59,906,646 P66,757,016 P– P– P98,379,142
Collective impairment 40,097,865 12,420,509 63,886,501 4,096,134 14,434

P100 004 511 P79 177 525 P63 886 501 P4 096 134 P98 393 576
Gross amount of loans and receivables individually determined to
 be impaired before deducting any individually assessed   
 impairment allowance P313 059 331 P107 911 508 P– P– P114 527 000
(Forward)
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2009
Sales Contract

Receivable
Unquoted Debt 

Securities Miscellaneous* Total
Balance at beginning of year P18,950,310 P– P342,796,949 P717,699,866
Provision for credit losses – 36,335,249 – 66,323,955
Accounts written off (208,793) – – (47,365,714)
Interest accrued on impaired receivables (145,673) – – (145,673)
Reclassification/Others (10,706,623) – (3,368,756) (7,301,524)
Balance at end of year P7 889 221 P36 335 249 P339 428 193 P729 210 910
Individual impairment P6,477,234 P36,335,249 P334,754,769 P602,610,056
Collective impairment 1 411 987 – 4 673 424 126 600 854

P7 889 221 P36 335 249 P339 428 193 P729 210 910
Gross amount of loans and receivables individually determined  to 
 be impaired before deducting any individually  
 assessed impairment allowance P63 060 512 P192 796 301 P334 754 769 P1 485 035 704

 *  Allowance for credit losses - miscellaneous includes allowance for accrued interest receivable, consumer loan - others and miscellaneous receivables.

The fair value of the collateral that the Bank holds relating to loans determined to be impaired as of June 30, 2010 and 2009 amounted to P507.3 million and P620.7 million, 
respectively.

 Interest income on loans and receivables consists of:

2010 2009
Loans and discounts P1,199,832,216 P1,172,345,818
Unquoted debt securities 68,200,378 76,417,539
Interest accrued on impaired receivables 28,934,131 19,631,171
Customers’ liabilities and other loans 21,880,145 24,711,795
Restructured loans 10,646,434 7,155,194
Agrarian and other agricultural credit loans 8,193,031 8,395,357
Sales contract receivable 6,996,773 10,066,309

P1,344,683,108 P1,318,723,183

Of the total loans of the Bank as of June 30, 2010 and 2009, 62.29% and 68.40%, respectively, are subject to periodic interest repricing.  Remaining peso-denominated loans 
earned annual EIR ranging from 6.73% to 40.89% in 2009 and 4.70% to 43.60% in 2008.  Of the total foreign currency-denominated loans of the Bank as of June 30, 2010 
and 2009, 92.50% and 83.70%, respectively, are subject to periodic interest repricing, remaining foreign currency-denominated loans earned annual EIR of 2.25% in 2010 and 
2009.

All sales contract receivable as of June 30, 2010 and 2009 are subject to periodic interest repricing.

Regulatory Reporting
 Under current banking regulations, banks with no unbooked valuation reserves and capital adjustments are allowed to exclude from nonperforming classification those loans 

classified as ‘Loss’ in the latest BSP examination, which are fully covered by allowance for credit losses, provided that interest on said loans shall not be accrued.

The Bank’s non-performing loans (NPLs) not fully covered by allowance for credit losses follow:

2010 2009
Total NPLs P752,223,110 P473,712,564
Less NPLs fully covered by allowance for credit losses 59,010,324 57,521,542

P693,212,786 P416,191,022

Under current BSP regulations, NPLs shall, as a general rule, refer to loan accounts whose principal and/or interest is unpaid for thirty (30) days or more after due date or after 
they have become past due in accordance with existing rules and regulations.  This shall apply to loans payable in lump sum and loans payable in quarterly, semi-annual, or annual 
installments, in which case, the total outstanding balance thereof shall be considered nonperforming.
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In the case of loans that are payable in monthly installments, the total outstanding balance thereof shall be considered nonperforming when three (3) or more installments are 
in arrears.  In the case of loans that are payable in daily, weekly, or semi-monthly installments, the total outstanding balance thereof shall be considered nonperforming at the 
same time that they become past due in accordance with existing BSP regulations, i.e., the entire outstanding balance of the loan shall be considered as past due when the total 
amount of arrearages reaches ten percent (10.00%) of the total receivable balance.

Restructured loans which do not meet the requirements to be treated as performing loans shall also be considered as NPLs.

 NPLs classified as to secured and unsecured follows:

2010 2009
Unsecured P474,937,391 P169,027,923
Secured 277,285,719 304,684,641

P752,223,110 P473,712,564

The following table shows the breakdown of loans as to secured and unsecured and the breakdown of secured loans as to type of security (amounts in thousands):

2010 2009
Amount % Amount %

Secured by:
 Real estate P3,928,573 28.02 P3,129,339 28.60
 Chattel 3,075,676 21.93 2,513,415 22.97
 Deposits hold-out 347,942 2.48 110,440 1.01
 Government guarantee 190,000 1.36 190,000 1.74
 Standby letters of credit – 0.00 78,606 0.72

7,542,191 53.79 6,021,800 55.04
Unsecured 6,479,908 46.21 4,919,286 44.96

P14,022,099 100.00 P10,941,086 100.00

As of June 30, 2010 and 2009, information on the concentration of credit as to industry on loans follows (amounts in thousands):

2010 2009
Amount % Amount %

Real estate, renting and business services P3,499,723 24.96 P3,139,796 28.70
Consumer 3,226,093 23.01 2,671,470 24.41
Manufacturing (various industries) 1,965,376 14.01 1,322,035 12.09
Financial intermediaries 1,624,670 11.59 1,171,794 10.71
Wholesale and retail trade 1,161,113 8.28 1,293,311 11.82
Electric, gas and water 728,696 5.20 305,319 2.79
Transportation, storage and communication 581,532 4.15 516,138 4.71
Hotel and restaurant 547,876 3.91 116,973 1.07
Other community, social and personal activities 273,662 1.95 206,533 1.89
Agriculture, hunting and forestry 261,221 1.86 88,059 0.80
Construction 93,919 0.67 31,058 0.28
Mining and quarrying 30,095 0.21 37,968 0.35
Education 20,900 0.15 23,935 0.22
Fishing 7,223 0.05 16,097 0.15
Health and social work – 0.00 600 0.01

P14,022,099 100.00 P10,941,086 100.00

The BSP considers that concentration of credit exists when total loan exposure to a particular industry or economic sector exceeds 30.00% of total loan portfolio.
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Exposure to Quedan and Rural Guarantee Corporation (Quedancor)
As of June 30, 2010 and 2009, the Bank has exposure to Quedancor in the form of bonds and notes with total carrying value of P303.4 million and P307.6 million, respectively.  
Of this amount, P147.1 million and P69.1 million is past due as of June 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

The Quedancor task force, composed of government representatives, was formed to oversee the rehabilitation of its obligations.  The majority bondholders, including the 
Bank, have appointed a legal counsel for the group.  Quedancor will issue restructured notes in exchange for the Multi Series Bonds due on 2008, 2009, 2010 and notes under 
the Notes Facility Agreement dated December 20, 2005.  Per Restructuring Agreement, the restructured notes, inclusive of both principal and interest shall be secured by the 
unconditional guarantee of the National Development Corporation (NDC).  The Republic of the Philippines, in accordance with NDC charter shall fully, unconditionally, and 
absolutely counter-guarantee the NDC guarantee.

In July 2010, the majority bondholders wrote to the Office of the President and to BSP to request for a meeting in an effort to obtain support from the new government to 
expedite the finalization and implementation of the proposed solution.  The proposed solution, as recommended by the Technical Working Group of the Quedancor task force to 
the Economic Managers, involves the issuance by Quedancor of Restructured Notes to replace the defaulted debt instruments.  The new notes will be guaranteed by the National 
Development Company which will in turn be covered by a sovereign guarantee.

Receivable from PPI (AR - PPI)
On September 15, 2009, the Bank and PPI entered into a Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) to amend the terms of settlement of the Bank’s outstanding receivables from PPI.  
Effective October 1, 2009, the interest rate to be imposed on the receivables shall be based on the one month PDSTF+1.00%, to be re-priced monthly.  PPI undertakes to settle 
the outstanding receivables within 10 years beginning October 1, 2009 until September 30, 2019.  The Bank recognized a gain amounting to P107.4 million (included under 
Miscellaneous Income in the statement of income) in 2010 as a result of the amendment of the settlement terms.

Prior to the amendment of the MOA, the receivable from PPI earns interest at fixed rate of 5% with various maturity dates ranging from 2034 to 2055.

As of June 30, 2010 and 2009, receivables from PPI (included under Accounts Receivable - Corporate) amounted to P506.4 million and P372.1 million, respectively.

The receivable from PPI is secured by deposit hold-out agreement, executed by MBB, amounting to $20.0 million.  In the event that PPI fails to perform its obligation under the 
Agreement, and that the same is not cured or corrected within a period of thirty (30) days from notice by the Bank, the Bank is authorized by MBB to immediately offset and 
apply the deposit as partial or full payment of the obligation without need of demand.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT10. 

The composition of and movements in this account follow:

2010

Condominium
Unit

Furniture,
Fixtures and

Equipment
Leasehold

Improvements Total
Cost
Balance at beginning of year  P294,052,193  P405,286,296  P86,246,404  P785,584,893
Additions  –  45,419,856  30,689,041  76,108,897
Disposals/write-off  (20,000)  (54,741,627)  (130,608)  (54,892,235)
Balance at end of year  294,032,193  395,964,525  116,804,837  806,801,555
Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization
Balance at beginning of year  14,863,871  324,242,727  60,407,228  399,513,826
Depreciation and amortization  18,850,378  31,994,755  11,069,283  61,914,416
Disposals/write-off  –  (51,086,452)  14,682  (51,071,770)
Balance at end of year  33,714,249  305,151,030  71,491,193  410,356,472
Net Book Value at End of Year  P260,317,944  P90,813,495  P45,313,644  P396,445,083
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2009

Condominium
Unit

Furniture,
Fixtures and
Equipment

Leasehold
Improvements Total

Cost
Balance at beginning of year  P30,736,193  P374,043,821  P76,420,828  P481,200,842
Additions  263,316,000  40,641,115  12,193,206  316,150,321
Disposals/write-off  –  (9,398,640)  (2,367,630)  (11,766,270)
Balance at end of year  294,052,193  405,286,296  86,246,404  785,584,893
Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization
Balance at beginning of year  572,342  303,003,501  51,948,061  355,523,904
Depreciation and amortization  14,291,529  26,237,623  8,739,317  49,268,469
Disposals/write-off  –  (4 998 397)  (280 150)  (5 278 547)
Balance at end of year  14,863,871  324,242,727  60,407,228  399,513,826
Net Book Value at End of Year  P279,188,322  P81,043,569  P25,839,176  P386,071,067

Depreciation and amortization consist of:

2010 2009
Property and equipment P61,914,416 P49,268,469
Investment properties (Note 11) 17,596,655 19,195,029
Software costs (Note 12) 10,463,877 11,219,305
Other properties acquired (Note 12) 6,477,808 4,842,543

P96,452,756 P84,525,346

As of June 30, 2010 and 2009, property and equipment of the Bank with gross carrying amounts of P276.4 million and P294.9 million, respectively, is fully depreciated but still 
being used.

Additions in 2009 include certain condominium units which were reacquired by the Bank from PPI, an affiliate, through a Deed of Partial Rescission which resulted in a gain being 
recognized amounting to P190.6 million included under ‘Miscellaneous income’ in the statement of income (Note 24).

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES11. 

The composition of and movements in this account follow:

2010
Land Building Total

Cost
Balance at beginning of year  P578,546,392  P142,331,221  P720,877,613
Additions  8,321,564  5,035,864  13,357,428
Disposals  (42,021,528)  (10,988,672)  (53,010,200)
Adjustment  4,616,721  –  4,616,721
Balance at end of year  549,463,149  136,378,413  685,841,562
Accumulated Depreciation
Balance at beginning of year  –  97,606,752  97,606,752
Depreciation  –  17,596,655  17,596,655
Disposals  –  (8,895,692)  (8,895,692)
Adjustments  –  545,376  545,376
Balance at end of year  –  106,853,091  106,853,091
Accumulated Impairment Loss
Balance at beginning of year  45,260,432  3,410,985  48,671,417
Provision for (reversal of) impairment loss  10,341,049  (2,408,956)  7,932,093
Disposal  (2,815,178)  (13,600)  (2,828,778)
Adjustment  (8,582,492)  274,270  (8,308,222)
Balance at end of year  44,203,811  1,262,699  45,466,510
Net Book Value at End of Year  P505,259,338  P28,262,623  P533,521,961
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2009
Land Building Total

Cost
Balance at beginning of year  P647,300,862  P153,357,204  P800,658,066
Additions  4,546,168  3,609,480  8,155,648
Disposals  (49,963,053)  (16,601,743)  (66,564,796)
Adjustment  (23 337 585)  1 966 280  (21 371 305)
Balance at end of year  578,546,392  142,331,221  720,877,613
Accumulated Depreciation
Balance at beginning of year  –  89,681,701  89,681,701
Depreciation  –  19,195,029  19,195,029
Disposals  –  (11 269 978)  (11 269 978)
Balance at end of year  –  97,606,752  97,606,752
Accumulated Impairment Loss
Balance at beginning of year  67,743,852  646,668  68,390,520
Reversal of impairment loss  (26,354,585)  –  (26,354,585)
Disposal  (1,923,352)  –  (1,923,352)
Adjustment  5 794 517  2 764 317  8 558 834
Balance at end of year  45,260,432  3,410,985  48,671,417
Net Book Value at End of Year  P533 285 960  P41 313 484  P574 599 444

Provision for (reversal of) impairment losses consist of:

2010 2009
Investment properties P7,932,093 (P26,354,585)
Other properties acquired (Note 12) 1,299,999 (1,553,984)

P9,232,092 (P27,908,569)

 Annually, the management reviews the recoverable amount of investment properties.  Several factors are considered such as real estate prices and physical condition of 
properties.  The fair value of the investment properties as of June 30, 2010 and 2009 amounted to P0.9 billion, as determined by independent and/or in-house appraisers.  
Valuations were derived on the basis of recent sales of similar properties in the same areas as the investment properties taking into account the economic conditions prevailing 
at the time the valuations were made.

The Bank recognized rental income on investment properties which are leased out under operating leases amounting to P0.1 million in 2010 and 2009, included in “Miscellaneous 
Income” (see Note 24).  Direct operating expenses, presented as ‘Litigation and asset acquired expenses’ in the statement of income arising from investment properties amounted 
to P11.8 million in 2010 and P17.7 million in 2009.

OTHER ASSETS12. 

This account consists of:

2010 2009
Prepaid interest P53,792,353 P26,401,180
Other properties acquired 18,814,279 10,546,070
Prepaid expenses 19,333,026 14,046,661
Sundry debits 13,094,279 4,138,506
Software costs 6,779,919 16,083,762
Documentary stamps 5,543,916 5,840,761
Miscellaneous 168,551,712 37,030,478

P285,909,484 P114,087,418

Other assets - miscellaneous includes various rental and security deposits and dealer’s incentives relating to auto loans granted.

Prepaid interest as of June 30, 2010 and 2009 represents advance interest payments on certain time deposit product.
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Movements in software costs follow:

 2010  2009
Cost
Balance at beginning of year  P41,696,619  P41,288,653
Additions  1,160,034  2,356,480
Write-off  –  (1,948,514)
Balance at end of year  42,856,653  41,696,619
Accumulated Amortization
Balance at beginning of year  25,612,857  14,805,336
Amortization  10,463,877  11,219,305
Write-off  –  (411,784)
Balance at end of year  36,076,734  25,612,857
Net Book Value at End of Year  P6,779,919  P16,083,762

 As of June 30, 2010 and 2009, software costs of the Bank with gross carrying amount of P3.5 million is fully amortized but still being used.

Movements in other properties acquired follow:

 2010  2009
Cost
Balance at beginning of year  P16,255,832  P15,171,166
Additions  28,307,500  20,193,185
Disposals  (19,238,116)  (19,108,519)
Adjustments  237,500  –
Balance at end of year  25,562,716  16,255,832
Accumulated Depreciation
Balance at beginning of year  5,709,762  4,930,044
Depreciation  6,477,808  4,842,543
Disposals  (4,137,470)  (4,062,825)
Adjustments  (1,301,663)  –
Balance at end of year  6,748,437  5,709,762
Accumulated Impairment Loss
Balance at beginning of year  –  919,033
Provision for (reversal of) impairment loss  1,299,999  (1,553,984)
Disposals  (1,299,999)  (188,333)
Adjustments  –  823,284
Balance at end of year  –  –
Net Book Value at End of Year  P18,814,279  P10,546,070

DEPOSIT LIABILITIES13. 

 Under existing BSP regulations, non-FCDU deposit liabilities of the Bank are subject to liquidity reserves equivalent to 11.00% and statutory reserves equivalent to 8.00%.  As of 
June 30, 2010 and 2009, the Bank is in compliance with such regulations.  The following assets have been considered as part of available reserves:

2010 2009
Cash and other cash items P450,639,502 P406,008,022
Due from BSP 2,175,658,580 1,914,167,758
AFS investments 37,974,708 8,407,490
HTM investments 21,611,116 32,256,170

P2,685,883,906 P2,360,839,440
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Interest expense on deposit liabilities consists of:

2010 2009
Time P281,945,728 P224,826,619
Savings 150,645,710 136,939,235
Demand 54,601,748 41,165,722

P487,193,186 P402,931,576

Peso-denominated deposit liabilities earn annual fixed interest rates ranging from 0.25% to 9.00% and 0.80% to 9.00% in 2010 and 2009, respectively, while foreign currency-
denominated deposit liabilities earned annual fixed interest rates ranging from 0.25% to 3.75% and 0.80% to 4.00% in 2010 and 2009, respectively.

BILLS PAYABLE14. 

This account consists of:

2010 2009
Foreign banks (Note 30) P1,089,695,000 P1,251,408,000
Local bank – 50,000,000
Total P1,089,695,000 P1,301,408,000

Bills payable represents borrowings from related parties and Sterling Bank of Asia.  Dollar-denominated borrowings are subject to annual EIR ranging from 0.43% to 0.60% and 
0.09% to 7.00% in 2010 and 2009, respectively.  Peso-denominated borrowing is subject to EIR of 3.75% in 2009.  The Bank has unused borrowing facility from related parties 
amounting to US$155.0 million in 2010 and US$85.0 million and has a fully utilized borrowing facility from the Sterling Bank of Asia amounting to P50.0 million in 2009.  These 
are unsecured borrowing by the Bank.

Interest expense on bills payable and other borrowings consists of:

2010 2009
Bills payable(Note 30) P6,514,900 P111,734,461
Others – 250

P6,514,900 P111,734,711

ACCRUED INTEREST, TAXES AND OTHER EXPENSES15. 

This account consists of:

2010 2009
Accrued interest payable (Note 30) P121,377,608 P84,739,927
Accrued other expenses payable 158,961,056 134,387,442
Accrued other taxes and licenses payable 12,459,326 8,909,673

P292,797,990 P228,037,042
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OTHER LIABILITIES16. 

This account consists of:

2010 2009
Sundry credits P335,768,025 P156,154,326
Accounts payable 99,171,853 114,775,229
Unearned income and other deferred credits 61,740,591 76,353,082
Other credits dormant 22,775,092 17,948,159
Withholding taxes payable 14,063,597 12,372,839
Due to the Treasurer of the Philippines 10,035,419 10,061,314
Net pension liability (Note 23) 8,766,806 8,383,806
Due to BSP 3,196,098 3,411,409
Miscellaneous 49,072,576 46,402,370

P604,590,057 P445,862,534

Sundry credits pertain to the contra account of the bills purchased classified as loans granted by the Bank to its depositors.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 17. 

The table sets out the information about the Bank’s derivative financial instruments and their related fair values, together with the notional amounts:

 2010  2009
Notional 
Amount

Derivative 
Liability

Notional 
Amount

Derivative 
Liability

Interest rate swaps P459,230,769 P7,776,535 P613,076,923 P20,498,275
Interest rate swaps US$97,057,500 463,329,674 US$50,000,000 349,068,207
Cross currency swap – – $9,000,000 9,526,110

P471,106,209 P379,092,592

The Bank has several interest rate swaps as of June 30, 2010 and 2009.

For peso-denominated interest rate swaps, the Bank pays fixed quarterly interest ranging from 6.39% to 10.53% in 2010 and 2009 and receives three month - Philippine 
Reference Rate.

For foreign currency-denominated interest rate swaps, the Bank pays fixed semi-annual interests ranging from 2.25% to 11.38% in 2010 and 2009 and quarterly interests at 
2.25% in 2010 and from 2.25% to 10.53% in 2009 and receives semi-annual interests based on 6-month LIBOR.

In 2009, the Bank entered into a cross currency swap agreements with various counterparty banks. Under the swap agreement, the Bank is committed to sell PHP and buy US$ 
at a specified exchange rate ranging from P48.9 to P49.0.  The aggregate notional amount of the cross currency swap is US$9.0 million or P433.2 million while its negative fair 
value amounted to P9.5 million as of June 30, 2009.  In July 2009, these cross currency swap agreements matured.

The movements in the Bank’s derivative financial instruments follow:

 2010  2009
Derivative Liabilities
Balance at beginning of year  P379,092,592  P230,901,712
Additions  102,284,106  12,117,478
Net settlement  (115,198,636)  (12,116,632)
Changes in fair value  104,928,147  148,190,034

 P471,106,209  P379,092,592
Derivative Assets
Balance at beginning of year  P–  P13,502,937
Net settlement  –  (2,893)
Change in fair value  –  (13,500,044)
Balance at end of year  P–  P–
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As of June 30, 2010 and 2009, the Bank’s derivative instruments represent interest rate swaps and currency forwards used by the Bank to manage exposures arising from changes 
in interest rates and foreign exchange rates.

MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES18. 

The table below shows an analysis of assets and liabilities analyzed according to when they are expected to be recovered or settled:

2010 2009
Up to

One Year
Over

One Year Total
Up to

One Year
Over

One Year Total
Financial Assets
Cash and other cash items P556,760,858 P− P556,760,858 P477,809,745 P− P477,809,745
Due from BSP 2,219,625,911 − 2,219,625,911 1,914,167,758 − 1,914,167,758
Due from other banks 431,618,409 − 431,618,409 200,598,365 − 200,598,365
Interbank loans receivable and SPURA 3,707,181,381 − 3,707,181,381 2,361,954,231 − 2,361,954,231
Financial assets at FVPL:
 HFT investments:
  Government securities 1,674,828 − 1,674,828 130,795 − 130,795
AFS investments:
 Government debt securities 30,869,029 7,105,679 37,974,708 6,390,514 440,385,016 446,775,530
 Private debt securities − − − − 486,563,498 486,563,498
 Private equity securities:
  Quoted − 12,071,234 12,071,234 − 12,053,895 12,053,895
  Unquoted − 3,581,900 3,581,900 − 3,536,900 3,536,900

30,869,029 22,758,813 53,627,842 6 390 514 942 539 309 948 929 823
HTM investments:
 Government debt securities 13,635,332 3,516,146,244 3,529,781,576 19,111,006 1,290,363,608 1,309,474,614
 Private debt securities − 762,852,912 762,852,912 − 144 390 000 144 390 000

13,635,332 4,278,999,156 4,292,634,488 19,111,006 1,434,753,608 1,453,864,614
Loans and receivables:
Loans:
 Corporate 2,464,127,914 3,890,468,299 6,354,596,213 1,455,610,303 3,187,200,726 4,642,811,029
 Commercial 864,086,040 590,377,474 1,454,463,514 850,785,903 247,404,155 1,098,190,058
 Consumer:
  Auto loans 503,389,965 2,555,606,320 3,058,996,285 194,976,887 2,293,372,396 2,488,349,283
  Housing 36,299,024 2,844,081,411 2,880,380,435 6,657,098 2,520,284,858 2,526,941,956
  Others 136,061,336 137,601,158 273,662,494 57 666 300 127 127 830 184 794 130

4,003,964,279 10,018,134,662 14,022,098,941 2,565,696,491 8,375,389,965 10,941,086,456
Unquoted debt instruments:
 Private 4,972,801 338,554,822 343,527,623 4,779,169 323,103,703 327,882,872
 Government 189,167,130 68,333,059 257,500,189 494,187,004 98,859,978 593,046,982

194,139,931 406,887,881 601,027,812 498 966 173 421 963 681 920 929 854
Sales contract receivable:
 Individual 14,806,221 79,789,346 94,595,567 2,927,083 97,929,190 100,856,273
 Corporate – 17,321,889 17,321,889 – 14 273 121 14 273 121

14,806,221 97,111,235 111,917,456 2,927,083 112,202,311 115,129,394
Accounts receivable:
 Corporate 123,934,517 491,443,317 615,377,834 112,767,801 332,407,639 445,175,440
 Individual 15,366,229 – 15,366,229 43,944,514 – 43,944,514

139,300,746 491,443,317 630,744,063 156 712 315 332 407 639 489 119 954
Accrued interest receivable 210,976,539 – 210,976,539 145,629,982 – 145,629,982
RCOCI 10,830,513 – 10,830,513 16,958,577 – 16,958,577
Miscellaneous 309,861,996 – 309,861,996 344,606,311 – 344,606,311

4,883,880,225 11,013,577,095 15,897,457,320 3 731 496 932 9 241 963 596 12 973 460 528
Miscellaneous COCI 1,543,708 – 1,543,708 2,931,307 – 2,931,307

11,846,789,681 15,315,335,064 27,162,124,745 8,714,590,653 11,619,256,513 20,333,847,166
(Forward)
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2010 2009
Up to

One Year
Over

One Year Total
Up to

One Year
Over

One Year Total
Nonfinancial Assets
Property and equipment P– P396,445,083 P396,445,083 P– P386,071,067 P386,071,067
Investment properties – 533,521,961 533,521,961 – 574,599,444 574,599,444
Other assets  – 284,365,776 284,365,776 – 111 156 111 111 156 111

– 1,214,332,820 1,214,332,820 – 1,071,826,622 1,071,826,622
Less: Allowance for credit losses – 879,688,963 879,688,963 – 729,210,910 729,210,910
  Unearned discounts and other deferred income – 57,306,671 57,306,671 – 63,741,161 63,741,161

– 936,995,634 936,995,634 – 792 952 071 792 952 071
Total Assets P11,846,789,681 P15,592,672,250 P27,439,461,931 P8 714 590 653 P11 898 131 064 P20 612 721 717

2010 2009
Up to

One Year
Over

One Year Total
Up to

One Year
Over

One Year Total
Financial Liabilities
Deposit liabilities:

Demand P4,963,971,148 P– P4,963,971,148 P3,069,958,861 P– P3,069,958,861
Savings 6,903,466,370 – 6,903,466,370 6,453,630,390 889,102,607 7,342,732,997
Time 2,807,797,078 7,488,927,053 10,296,724,131 4,759,757,831 326,594,938 5,086,352,769

14,675,234,596 7,488,927,053 22,164,161,649 14,283,347,082 1,215,697,545 15,499,044,627
Financial liabilities at FVPL:

Derivative liabilities:
Interest rate swaps 13,377,554 457,728,655 471,106,209 1,988,934 367,577,548 369,566,482
Cross currency swaps − − − 9,526,110 − 9,526,110

Bills payable 1,089,695,000 − 1,089,695,000 1,301,408,000 − 1,301,408,000
Outstanding acceptances 4,588,590 − 4,588,590 − − −
Manager’s checks 100,971,063 − 100,971,063 79,517,324 − 79,517,324
Accrued interest payable 121,377,608 − 121,377,608 84,739,927 − 84,739,927
Accounts payable 99,171,853 − 99,171,853 114,645,355 129,874 114,775,229
Due to Treasurer of the Philippines − 10,035,419 10,035,419 – 10,061,314 10,061,314

16,104,416,264 7,956,691,127 24,061,107,391 15 875 172 732 1 593 466 281 17 468 639 013
Nonfinancial Liabilities
Income tax payable 6,044,326 − 6,044,326 2,324,341 − 2,324,341
Accrued taxes and other expenses 171,420,382 − 171,420,382 143,297,115 − 143,297,115
Other liabilities 495,382,785 − 495,382,785 321 025 991 − 321 025 991

672,847,493 − 672,847,493 466,647,447 − 466,647,447
Total Liabilities P16,777,263,757 P7,956,691,127 P24,733,954,884 P16 341 820 179 P1 593 466 281 P17 935 286 460

CAPITAL FUNDS19. 

 The Bank’s capital stock as of June 30, 2010 and 2009 consist of:

2010 2009
Preferred stock - P3.7 par value
 “A” - Authorized and issued - 1,200,000 shares P4,440,000 P4,440,000
 “B” - Authorized and issued - 2,400,000 shares 8,880,000 8,880,000
 “C” - Authorized - 291,400,000 shares
  Issued - 59,208,574 shares 219,071,724 219,071,724
  Subscribed - 1,602,500 shares - net of subscriptions   
   receivable of P5,781,250 148,000 148,000

232,539,724 232,539,724
Common stock - P35.0 par value
 Authorized - 135,714,285.57 shares
 Issued - 115,633,276 shares in 2010 and 2009 4,047,164,668 4,047,164,668
 Subscribed - 11,380 shares - net of subscriptions  
  receivable of P218,750 179,550 179,550

4,047,344,218 4,047,344,218
P4,279,883,942 P4,279,883,942
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Preferred shares of stock are cumulative with a guaranteed quarterly dividend of 2.50%, nonparticipating, nonvoting and with preference in asset distribution and payable in full at 
par plus accumulated dividends in case of dissolution or liquidation.  Dividends are declared at the discretion of the BOD.

Preferred Series “A” and “B” shares of stock are redeemable at the option of the Bank at par value plus unpaid accumulated dividends after 15 years from date of issue.  Where 
the Bank exercises the option to redeem the shares, the holder will have an option to convert to new preferred shares or certificate of indebtedness in lieu of redemption.  
Preferred Series “B” shares of stock embraced in the increase in capitalization authorized under the resolution passed by stockholders on October 20, 1962, are redeemable 
after ten (10) years from date of issue and convertible, at the option of the holder, into voting common shares of stock in lieu of redemption.  Both Preferred Series “A” and “B” 
shares of stock were issued on October 1, 1961.

Preferred Series “C” shares of stock have preference in payment of dividends over other preferred or common shares which have unpaid accumulated and accrued dividends, 
and are convertible into voting common stock at the option of the holder thereof, provided that such conversion be made only after 7-1/2 years from date of issue.  Preferred 
Series “C” shares of stock were issued on September 14, 1974.

The roll forward analysis of common stock as of June 30, 2010 and 2009 follows:

2010 2009
Shares Amount Shares Amount

Common - P35 par value
 Authorized 135,714,285 P– 135,714,285 P–
 Issued and outstanding
  Balance at beginning of year 115,633,276 4,047,164,668 107,115,977 3,749,059,180
  Conversion from deposit for   
   stock subscription – – 8,517,199 298,101,970
 Additional issuance – – 100 3,518
Total issued and outstanding 115,633,276 4,047,164,668 115,633,276 4,047,164,668
Add: Subscribed shares, net of subscription   
 receivable 11,380 179,550 11,380 179,550
Ending balance 115,644,656 P4,047,344,218 115,644,656 P4,047,344,218

As of June 30, 2010 and 2009, dividends in arrears on cumulative preferred shares amounted to P851.9 million and P828.1 million, respectively.

Treasury shares consist of 5,130 common shares, 38,000 Preferred Series “A” shares of stock and 17,150 Preferred Series “B” shares of stock, which are carried at cost.

On July 23, 1997, the Monetary Board (MB) in its Resolution No. 924 approved the quasi-reorganization of the Bank subject to certain conditions which include, among others, 
restriction on declaration of dividends until such time that the amount of capital stock differential arising from the reduction in the par value closed to deficit is recovered through 
earnings.

On January 10, 2008, the Bank received from MBB US$14.8 million additional capital equivalent to P600.0 million.  The additional capital infusion received was initially recorded 
on January 10, 2008 as deposit for future stock subscription.  On April 8, 2008, the Bank issued common stock amounting to P301.9 million to MBB from the Bank’s unissued 
common stock.  The remaining P298.1 million were maintained as deposit for future stock subscription pending the approval by the SEC of the increase in the authorized 
capital stock from P4.8 billion to P5.8 billion consisting of P4.7 billion common stock divided into 135.7 million common shares with the same par value of P35.0 per share and  
P1.1 billion preferred stock divided into 295.0 million preferred shares with the same par value of P3.7 per share.

 The increase in the Bank’s authorized capital stock was approved by the BSP on August 13, 2008 and the SEC on February 19, 2009.  On February 25, 2009, the Bank converted 
the deposit for stock subscription to the equivalent common stock.

Capital Management
 The Bank manages its capital to ensure it complies with externally imposed capital requirements and maintains healthy capital ratios to support business growth and maximize 

shareholder value.

 Regulatory Qualifying Capital
BSP, as the Bank’s lead regulator, sets and monitors capital requirements.  Under current banking regulations, the Bank’s compliance with regulatory requirements and ratios is 
based on the “unimpaired capital” (regulatory net worth) reported to the BSP, which is determined on the basis of regulatory policies, which differ from PFRS in some respects.  
Moreover, the risk-based capital ratio of a bank, expressed as a percentage of qualifying capital to risk-weighted assets, should not be less than ten percent (10.00%). Qualifying 
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capital and risk-weighted assets are computed based on BSP regulations.  The Bank is also required to meet the minimum capital of P2.4 billion.  The BSP prescribes certain 
sanctions for non-compliance with the minimum capital requirements depending on the degree of capital deficiency incurred by the Bank such as suspension of authority to 
invest in allied undertakings, branching privileges and declaration of dividends, among others.

Risk assets consist of total assets after exclusion of cash on hand, due from BSP, loans covered by hold-out on or assignment of deposits, loans or acceptances under letters of 
credit to the extent covered by margin deposits, and other non-risk items as determined by the MB of the BSP. Risk-weighted assets are determined by assigning defined risk 
weights to amount of on-balance sheet exposures and to the credit equivalent amount of off-balance sheet exposures.

The gross regulatory qualifying capital is analyzed in two tiers which are Tier 1 (core) and Tier 2 (supplementary) capital.  The Bank’s Tier 1 capital is comprised of the common 
shares, retained earnings and current year profit less required deduction such as deferred income tax.  The Tier 2 capital includes the preferred shares, net unrealized gains on 
AFS investments and general loan loss provision.  The Bank has no outstanding deductible items from the gross regulatory qualifying capital as prescribed by the regulation.

The BSP, under BSP Circular No. 538 dated August 4, 2006, has issued the prescribed guidelines implementing the revised risk-based capital adequacy framework for the 
Philippine Banking System to conform to Basel II recommendations, which took effect on July 1, 2007.

The table below summarizes the Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR) of the Bank as reported to the BSP as of June 30, 2010 and 2009 (amounts in thousands): 

2010 2009
Tier 1 capital P2,342,236 P2,289,775
Tier 2 capital 375,271 358,907
Total Qualifying Capital P2,717,507 P2,648,682
Risk-Weighted Assets P26,036,178 P20,961,873
Tier 1 capital ratio 9.00% 10.92%
Total capital ratio 10.44% 12.64%

In quantifying the CAR, the Bank currently uses the Standardized Approach (for credit and market risk) and the Gross Income Approach (for operational risk).

The Bank has complied with the CAR requirement throughout the year.

Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP)
In 2009, the BSP issued Circular No. 639 covering the ICAAP which supplements the BSP’s risk-based capital adequacy framework under the BSP Circular No. 538.  The Bank has 
a Board-approved ICAAP Framework with areas that cover Capital Management, Pillar 1 and Pillar 2 Risk Measurement, Minimum Internal Capital Requirement Calculation, Use 
of the ICAAP, Governance Structure, and Reporting Framework.

Surplus reserves of the Bank consist of reserve for:

2010 2009
Self-insurance P25,070,000 P25,070,000
Trust business 6,411,519 6,189,189
Contingencies 3,500,000 3,500,000

P34,981,519 P34,759,189

In compliance with existing BSP regulations, 10.00% of the net profits realized by the Bank from its trust business is appropriated to surplus reserve.  The yearly appropriation is 
required until the surplus reserve for trust business equals 20.00% of the Bank’s regulatory capital.

Reserve for self-insurance represents the amount set aside to cover losses due to fire, defalcation by and other unlawful acts of the Bank’s personnel or third parties.

Financial Performance
The following basic ratios measure the financial performance of the Bank:

2010 2009
Return on average equity 1.36% 1.87%
Return on average assets 0.15% 0.25%
Net interest margin 4.72% 5.35%
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INTEREST INCOME ON FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS20. 

This account consists of interest income on:

2010 2009
Financial assets at FVPL (Note 6):
 HFT investments P15,836,852 P6,583,683
 Derivatives − 1,904,070

15,836,852 8,487,753
AFS investments 41,127,917 26,337,492
HTM investments 193,971,597 164,856,817

P250,936,366 P199,682,062

Peso-denominated HFT investments bear nominal interest rates ranging from 5.75% to 9.13% in 2010 and from 5.75% to 12.00% in 2009.  Peso-denominated AFS investments 
bear nominal interest rates ranging from 5.75% to 14.63% in 2010 and from 5.80% to 17.80% in 2009.  Foreign currency-denominated AFS investments bear nominal interest 
rates ranging from 3.05% to 8.25% in 2010 and from 3.80% to 5.40% in 2009.  Peso-denominated HTM investments bear nominal interest rates ranging from 5.75% to 
11.88% in 2010 and from 5.80% to 11.90% in 2009.  While foreign currency-denominated HTM investments bear nominal interest rates from 6.0% to 11.38% in 2010 and 
from 8.00% to 11.40% in 2009.

Interest income on AFS debt securities includes amortization of premium amounting to P0.3 million in 2010 and 2009.

Interest income on HTM investments includes amortization of premium amounting P21.9 million in 2010 and P9.4 million in 2009.

NET TRADING LOSSES21.  

This account consists of:

2010 2009
Financial instruments at FVPL:
 Derivatives P104,928,147 P161,690,078
 HFT investments (661,502) 4,455,600
AFS investments (31,140,521) 7,681,132

P73,126,124 P173,826,810

SERVICE CHARGES, FEES AND COMMISSIONS22. 

 This account consists of:

2010 2009
Credit-related P138,235,859 P78,382,801
Deposit-related 84,610,527 73,244,747
Others 10,219,931 17,190,568

P233,066,317 P168,818,116

PENSION PLAN23. 

 The Bank provides defined benefit plans for all employees.  Provisions for pension obligations are established for benefits payable in the form of retirement pensions.  Benefits 
are dependent on years of service and the respective employee’s final compensation.  The most recent actuarial valuation was carried out on June 30, 2010.  The present value 
of the defined benefit obligation and the related current service cost were measured using the Projected Unit Credit method.
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The following table shows the actuarial valuation results and assumptions of the Bank:

Present Value of Actuarial Assumptions
Date of Actuarial 
Valuation Report

 Fair Value of  
 Plan Assets

Defined Benefit 
Obligation Investment Rate

Salary Rate 
Increase

Discount 
Rate

June 30, 2010 P106,192,100 P146,583,000    4.50%      8.00%       9.76%
June 30, 2009 93,464,300 116,012,800    5.00%    10.00%     12.60%

Pension expense (included in ‘Compensation and fringe benefits’ in the statement of income) consists of the following:

2010 2009
Current service cost P14,330,500 P19,373,100
Interest cost 14,617,600 12,257,700
Expected return on plan assets (4,673,200) (3,701,200)
Actuarial net loss 233,000 3,575,000
Total pension expense P24,507,900 P31,504,600

The following table reconciles the funded status of defined benefit plans to the amounts recognized in the statement of financial position as of June 30, 2010 and 2009:

2010 2009
Present value of defined benefit obligations P146,583,000 P116,012,800
Fair value of plan assets (106,192,100) (93,464,300)
Present value of unfunded obligations 40,390,900 22,548,500
Unrecognized actuarial losses (31,624,094) (14,164,694)
Net pension liability P8,766,806 P8,383,806

 There are no reimbursement rights recognized as a separate asset as of June 30, 2010 and 2009.

The movements in the present value of defined benefit obligation (PVO) follow:

2010 2009
Balance at beginning of year P116,012,800 P136,196,500
Current service cost 14,330,500 19,373,100
Interest cost 14,617,600 12,257,700
Actuarial loss (gain) 17,707,100 (34,274,300)
Benefits paid (16,085,000) (17,540,200)
Balance at end of year P146,583,000 P116,012,800

The movements in the fair value of plan assets follow:

2010 2009
Balance at beginning of year P93,464,300 P82,248,419
Expected return on plan assets 4,673,200 3,701,200
Actual contributions 24,124,900 24,124,400
Benefits paid (16,085,000) (17,540,200)
Actuarial gain on plan assets 14,700 930,481
Balance at end of year P106,192,100 P93,464,300

The Bank expects to contribute P24.1 million to its defined benefit plan in 2010.  Experience adjustments on plan assets amounted to P0.1 million in 2010 and P0.9 million in 2009.

The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of fair value of total plan assets follow:

2010 2009
Deposit in banks 83.64% 89.25%
Debt securities and others 16.36 10.75

100.00% 100.00%
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Computation of the actual return on plan assets:

2010 2009
Expected return on plan assets P4,673,200 P3,701,200
Actuarial gain on plan assets 14,700 930,481
Actual return on plan assets P4,687,900 P4,631,681

The movements in the net pension liability recognized in ‘Other liabilities’ in the statement of financial position follow:

2010 2009
Balance at beginning of year P8,383,806 P1,003,606
Pension expense 24,507,900 31,504,600
Actual contributions (24,124,900) (24,124,400)
Balance at end of year P8,766,806 P8,383,806

Information on the Bank’s defined benefit plan is as follows:

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
Present value of the defined  
 benefit obligation P146,583,000 P116,012,800 P136,196,500 P121,221,000 P91,533,300
Fair value of plan assets 106,192,100 93,464,300 82,248,419 65,799,600 54,888,300
Deficit on plan assets 40,390,900 22,548,500 53,948,081 55,421,400 36,645,000
Experience adjustments arising on plan 

liabilities 1,625,500 14,769,500 4,595,400 4,600,000 37,300,000
Experience adjustments arising on plan 

assets 14,700 930,481 178,525 2,300,000 100,000

The Bank also has a defined contribution plan.  The pension expense recognized under this plan amounted to P9.7 million in 2010 and P8.8 million in 2009 is included in 
‘Compensation and fringe benefits’ in the statements of income.

MISCELLANEOUS INCOME AND EXPENSE24. 

Miscellaneous income consists of:

2010 2009
Gain on restructuring (Note 9) P107,432,089 P–
Trust fees 2,223,293 3,201,560
Gain on rescission (Note 10) – 190,616,460
Others 24,833,497 5,263,297

P134,488,879 P199,081,317

 Others include rent income from investment properties, set-up fee on loan factoring, CTS application fee and others.

Miscellaneous expense consists of:

2010 2009
Information and technology P27,309,387 P28,917,862
Advertising and publications 12,664,876 9,494,952
Banking fees 6,606,456 6,516,986
Membership fees and dues 6,164,912 4,945,853
Minor tools and equipments 3,971,063 3,369,182
Fuel and lubricants 3,731,444 3,965,030
Freight 2,669,129 2,579,122
Philippine Clearing House Corporation fees 2,491,699 2,212,794
Others 28,211,657 38,480,021

P93,820,623 P100,481,802

Others include fees and commission expenses, periodicals, donations and charitable contribution and others.
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LONG-TERM LEASES25. 

The Bank leases the premises occupied by its branches for periods ranging from 4 to 5 years and are renewable upon mutual agreement of both parties under certain terms and 
conditions.  Various lease contracts include escalation clauses, most of which bear an annual rent increase of 10.00%.  Rent expense charged against current operations (included 
under ‘Occupancy’ in the statement of income) amounted to P53.7 million in 2010 and P46.3 million in 2009.

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

2010 2009
Within one year P50,131,797 P42,519,731
After one year but not more than five years 127,854,209 93,085,770
More than five years 11,098,740 17,041,254

P189,084,746 P152,646,755

INCOME AND OTHER TAXES26. 

 Under Philippine tax laws, the Bank is subject to percentage and other taxes (presented as ‘Taxes and licenses’ in the statement of income) as well as income taxes.  Percentage 
and other taxes paid consist principally of documentary stamp tax and gross receipts tax (GRT).

Income taxes include corporate income taxes and FCDU final taxes, as discussed below, and final tax paid at the rate of 20.00%, which represents final withholding tax on gross 
interest income from government securities and other deposit substitutes.  These income taxes, as well as the deferred tax benefits, are presented as ‘Provision for income tax’ 
in the statement of income.

Republic Act (RA) No. 9337, An Act Amending National Internal Revenue Code, provides that the RCIT rate shall be 35.00% until December 31, 2008.  Starting January 1, 2009, 
the RCIT rate shall be 30.00%.  Interest expense allowed as a deductible expense was increased to 42.00% starting November 1, 2005 until December 31, 2008.  Starting January 
1, 2009, interest expense allowed as a deductible expense shall be reduced to 33.00%.

The MCIT of 2.00% on modified gross income is computed and compared with the RCIT.  Any excess of the MCIT over the RCIT can be used as a tax credit against future income 
tax liability for the next three years.  In addition, the NOLCO is allowed as a deduction from taxable income in the next three years from the year of inception.  Current tax 
regulations also set a limit on the amount of entertainment, amusement and recreation (EAR) expenses that can be deducted for income tax purposes.  EAR expenses are limited 
to 1% of net revenue for sellers of services.  EAR charged against current operations amounted to P25.5 million and P22.9 million in 2010 and 2009, respectively.

RA No. 9294, An Act Restoring the Tax Exemption of Offshore Banking Units and Foreign Currency Deposit Units, which became effective in May 2004, provides that the 
income derived by the FCDU from foreign currency transactions with non-residents, offshore banking units (OBUs), local commercial banks including branches of foreign banks 
is tax-exempt while interest income on foreign currency denominated loans from residents other than OBUs or other depository banks under the expanded system is subject to  
10% income tax.

 Provision for income tax consists of:

2010 2009
Current:
 Final P35,605,315 P26,779,278
 MCIT 16,733,452 16,000,899
 RCIT 2,062,423 1,381,121

54,401,190 44,161,298
Deferred – 3,435,850

P54,401,190 P47,597,148
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Components of net deferred tax assets (included under ‘Other assets’ in the statement of financial position) follow:

2010 2009
Deferred tax asset on fair value loss on financial  assets P35,423,970 P33,613,346
Deferred tax liability on:
 Fair value adjustment on investment properties 35,423,970 32,613,697
 Unrealized foreign exchange gain – 976,119

Unrealized market gain on AFS investments – 22,408
Unrealized market gain on HFT investments – 1,122

Total deferred tax liability 35,423,970 33,613,346
P– P–

The Bank did not recognize deferred tax assets on the carryforward of unused NOLCO and unused tax credits from excess MCIT and the following temporary differences:

2010 2009
Allowance for impairment and credit losses P798,457,059 P768,162,253
Provisions and accruals 200,613,024 142,736,956
Fair value loss on financial assets 186,450,605 529,735,658
Accumulated depreciation on investment properties and other  

properties acquired 113,601,529 98,676,107
Unamortized pension trust contributions 44,113,394 47,655,279
Unrealized foreign exchange loss 19,199,878 –
Retirement liability 8,766,306 8,383,806
Fair value loss on derivative liabilities 7,776,535 30,024,385
Cost of share-based payment – 262,761,718
Others 30,782,323 8,640,954

P1,409,760,653  P1,896,777,116

Details of the Bank’s NOLCO follow:

Inception Year Amount Used Balance Expiry Year
2007 P119,672,058 P119,672,058 P– 2010
2008 396,883,466 33,520,487 363,362,979 2011

P516,555,524 P153,192,545 P363,362,979

Details of the Bank’s MCIT follow:

Inception Year Amount Expired Balance Expiry Year
2007 P12,073,633 P12,073,633 P– 2010
2008 16,581,218 – 16,581,218 2011
2009 16,000,899 – 16,000,899 2012
2010 16,733,452 – 16,733,452 2013

P61,389,202 P12,073,633 P49,315,569

A reconciliation between the statutory income tax rate and the effective income tax rate follows:

 2010  2009
Statutory income tax rate 30.00% 30.00%
Tax effects of:
 FCDU income before income tax 36.59 11.13
 Nondeductible expenses 21.05 20.54
 Movements in unrecognized deferred tax assets (3.06) 14.85
 Income subjected to final tax (24.89) (27.48)
Effective income tax rate 59.69% 49.04%
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS27. 

The expense recognized (under ‘Compensation and fringe benefits’ in the statement of income) for employee services received related with equity settled share-based payment 
transactions amounted to nil and P0.2 million in 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Employee Stock Option Scheme (ESOS)
All employees of the Bank are entitled to a grant of stock options from MBB once they have been in service for two years.  Options awarded to an employee that are made 
available immediately, with no vesting period, are expensed outright. Options which are exercisable based on the schedule in ESOS over a period of five years from the date of 
grant are expensed over the vesting period.  The exercise price of the options is equal to the weighted average market price of the shares subject to a discount within the limit 
allowed by the relevant authorities but shall, in no event, be less than the par value of the shares.  The option has a maximum contractual life of five years and has no cash 
settlement alternatives.  The Maybank Group has not developed a past practice of cash settlement.

The fair value of the options granted is estimated on the date of grant using a binomial model, which takes into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments 
were granted.

Movements in the number of stock options outstanding follow:

 2010  2009
Balance at beginning of year  1,836,700  1,654,600
Stock options granted during the year  –  223,200
Stock options forfeited during the year  (1,836,700)  (41,100)
Stock options exercised during the year  –  –
Balance at end of year  –  1,836,700
Stock options exercisable during the year  –  1,836,700

Exercise prices for stock options outstanding as of June 30, 2010 and 2009 with weighted average remaining contractual life of one year and two years, respectively, ranges 
from Malaysian Ringgit (MYR) 6.73 to MYR9.23.

The plan has expired on August 25, 2009.

The following table lists the inputs to the model used as of the following grant dates:

November 14, 2006 November 14, 2005 October 15, 2004 September 1, 2004
Dividend yield (%) 5.50 5.50 5.50 5.50
Expected volatility (%) 14.60 18.10 21.80 21.40
Historical volatility (%) 14.60 18.10 21.80 21.40
Risk-free interest rate (%) 3.30 3.46 3.62 3.77
Expected life of option (in years) 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00
Exercise price (in MYR) 10.19 9.92 9.87 9.23
Weighted average share price (in MYR) 11.50 11.00 11.00 10.70

The expected volatility of the options is based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption 
that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.  No other features of options grant were incorporated into the 
measurement of fair value.

TRUST OPERATIONS28. 

Securities and other properties (other than deposits) held by the Bank in fiduciary or agency capacities for clients and beneficiaries are not included in the accompanying 
statement of financial position since these are not assets of the Bank (Note 29).

In connection with the trust business of the Bank, government securities (under ‘HTM investments’) with total face value of P9.2 million and P11.0 million as of June 30, 2010 
and 2009, respectively, are deposited with the BSP in compliance with the requirements of the General Banking Law.
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COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES29. 

In the normal course of the Bank’s operations, there are outstanding commitments and other contingent liabilities and tax assessments which are not reflected in the accompanying 
financial statements.  The Bank does not anticipate material losses from these commitments and contingent liabilities.

Regulatory Reporting
The following is a summary of the Bank’s commitments and contingent liabilities at their equivalent peso contractual amounts:

2010 2009
Trust department accounts (Note 28) P835,482,098 P544,512,545
Unused commercial letters of credit (Note 4) 493,405,600 405,592,962
Outstanding guarantees 89,843,559 39,372,520
Late deposits and payments received 5,142,579 3,559,364
Outward bills for collection 92,740 687,868
Inward bills for collection – 13,485,606
Others 24,961 330,067

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS30. 

In the ordinary course of business, the Bank enters into loans and other transactions with its affiliates, and with certain directors, officers, stockholders and related interests 
(DOSRI).  Under the Bank’s policy, these loans and other transactions are made substantially on the same terms as with other individuals and businesses of comparable risks.

The amount of individual loans to DOSRI, 70.00% of which must be secured, should not exceed the amount of their respective deposits and their respective investments in 
the Bank.  These limits do not apply to loans secured by assets considered as non-risk as defined in the regulations.  In the aggregate, loans to DOSRI generally should not 
exceed the lower of the Bank’s total regulatory capital or 15.00% of the total loan portfolio.  As of June 30, 2010 and 2009, the Bank is in compliance with these regulatory 
requirements.

BSP Circular No. 423, dated March 15, 2004, amended the definition of DOSRI accounts.  Further, the BSP issued BSP Circular No. 464, dated January 4, 2005, clarifying the 
definition of stockholders.

The following table shows information relating to DOSRI loans of the Bank:

2010 2009
Total outstanding DOSRI loans (in thousands)  P542,815 P408,200
Percent of DOSRI loans granted prior to effectivity of BSP Circular No. 423 to total loans 2.73% 2.65%
Percent of DOSRI loans granted after effectivity of BSP Circular No. 423 to total loans Nil Nil
Percent of DOSRI loans to total loans 0.26% 0.36%
Percent of unsecured DOSRI loans to total DOSRI loans Nil Nil
Percent of past due DOSRI loans to total DOSRI loans Nil Nil
Percent of nonperforming DOSRI loans to total DOSRI loans Nil Nil

Total outstanding DOSRI loans include portion of loans covered by hold-outs on deposit and which are excluded in determining compliance with the aggregate ceiling.

Total interest income on the DOSRI loans amounted to P44.0 million and P46.3 million in 2010 and 2009, respectively.
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Other related party transactions entered in the normal course of business include sale of property and equipment, leases and regular banking transactions.  The significant year-
end account balances with respect to related parties included in the financial statements (excluding deposit liabilities) follow:

Related Party Relationship Nature of Transaction 2010 2009
RECEIVABLES
MBB Parent Due from other banks P1,486,966 P507,278

Accounts receivable 750,514 1,915,163
PPI Affiliate Loans and receivables 47,141,428 47,141,428

Accounts receivable 497,443,317 358,925,779
Accrued interest receivable 3,484,136 3,382,872

Maybank - Singapore Affiliate Due from other banks 42,436 180,493
Interbank loans receivable 11,349,521 13,513,135

Maybank - New York Affiliate Due from other banks 19,961,403 2,658,756
Maybank - London Affiliate Due from other banks 1,959,221 4,842,485
Maybank - Hong Kong Affiliate Due from other banks 4,493,485 869,083

PAYABLES
MBB Parent Financial liabilities at FVPL 49,860,655 –

Bills payable – 827,897,600
Accrued interest payable 10,114,687 7,420

Maybank - Labuan Affiliate Bills payable 625,295,000 481,300,000
Accrued interest payable 560,787 3,874,465

Maybank - Singapore Affiliate Bills payable 463,700,000 38,342,548
Financial liabilities at FVPL 413,469,019 345,380,745
Accrued interest payable 51,150,490 67,122,217

The significant income and expenses in respect of related parties included in the statement of income (excluding interest expense on deposit liabilities) are as follows:

Related Party Relationship Nature of Transaction 2010 2009
MBB Parent Trading losses P49,860,655 P–

Interest income 15,219,577 6,039
Interest expense 10,421,365 67,596,334

PPI Affiliate Interest income 145,209,649 65,449,374
Other income 107,575,765 190,113,502
Occupancy 3,544,148 7,305,200

Maybank - Singapore Affiliate Interest expense 140,300,078 104,661,298
Interest income 97,568,017 125,766,791
Trading losses 77,315,342 120,954,445

Maybank - Labuan Affiliate Interest income 3,543,356 3,884
Interest expense 3,469,461 25,252,777

Maybank - Papua New Guinea Affiliate Interest expense – 126,565
Maybank - Hong Kong Affiliate Interest income 16,514 37

Interest expense – 90,639
Maybank - London Affiliate Interest income 8,644 –

The balances of deposits and related interest expense in respect of related parties included in the financial statements are as follows:

2010 2009
Deposit liabilities P1,079,593,213 P1,011,246,629
Interest expense 9,398,185 30,278,666

Deposit liabilities on related parties have an average maturity of below one year.

Interest rates on deposit liabilities ranges from 0.25% to 0.90% and 0.75% to 1.80% in 2010 and 2009, respectively.
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In 2010 and 2009, the Bank entered into foreign currency denominated interest rate swaps with MBB and Maybank Singapore where the Bank pays fixed semi-annual interest 
ranging from 2.25% to 11.38% and receives semi-annual interests based on 6-month LIBOR.

As of June 30, 2010 and 2009, bills payable to related parties are unsecured and with maturities of less than 1 year.

Compensation of key management personnel follows:

2010 2009
Salaries and other short-term benefits P63,481,202 P57,284,948
Post-employment benefits 1,832,400 1,566,500
Employee share-based payment – 78,719

P65,313,602 P58,930,167

NOTES TO STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS31. 

As of June 30, 2010, interbank loans receivable which has original maturity of more than three months amounted to P11.3 million.

Non-cash additions to investment properties and other properties acquired in settlement of loans amounted to P13.4 million and P28.3 million in 2010, respectively, and P8.2 million and  
P20.2 million, respectively, in 2009.  Moreover, non-cash investing activities include additions to property and equipment as a result of the rescission amounting to P263.3 million in 2009  
(see Note 24).

APPROVAL FOR THE RELEASE OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 32. 

The Board of Directors approved the release of the accompanying comparative financial statements of the Bank on September 3, 2010.
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Products & Services

DEPOSITS
VALUE

Savings & Checking

Simple & easy banking solutions.

CLASSIC

Savings, Checking & Time Deposit

Uncomplicated, effortless banking.

PREMIUM

Products & Services

Because you deserve more.

Save n’ Protect

Savings Account with Free Life Insurance

Peace of mind to a higher level

Free Life Insurance/Same day coverage/No 

Medical Check-ups/Comes with Passbook & 

ATM/Earns interest

Premier 1

Checking Account

All you need in a checking account

Tiered interest/Add-on interest/Insurance/Easy 

Reconciliation/Inter-country ATM Card/Auto 

Fund Transfer

ADDvantage Time Deposit

Take advantage of the time of your life.

Choose from the following variants:

FLEX 1 & 2 Years

Flexible interest with Guaranteed Base 

Rate/Interest credited monthly/Waived 

DST

Advance 1 Year

Reverse the process!

Get interest INSTANTLY upon placement/

Waived DST

5 Year TD

Term is 5 Years + 1 day/Individuals are 

exempted from withholding tax/Interest 

credited monthly/Waived DST

Yippie Savings Account

Teach children the value of saving.

Tiered interest/Insurance

ImTEEN Savings Account

I’m the teen-in-charge of My Finance!

Tiered interest/Insurance

Money2U ATM Account

Before you take over the world, let us first 

take care of you.

World-wide acceptance/Fast credit via 

Maybank Malaysia, Singapore & Brunei/

Waived Interbank ATM Withdrawal Fees

Business Checking Account

Simple answers to business hassles

Checking with Interest/Easy Reconciliation/

Business Account

Special Savings Account

Enjoy higher interest rates for your savings 

account.

US Dollar Deposits

Savings & Time Deposit

Maybank ATM Card

Your other passport

Interbank Fund Transfer/SMART Mobile 

Banking/Debit Bills Payment

MyCash Card

It’s cash in a card!

Prepaid Card/No Maintaining Balance/No 

Access

Addlink

Automatic Fund Transfer Facility

RETAIL LOANS
Maxi-Home Housing Loan

Available for purchase of house and lots, 

vacant residential lots, townhouses or 

condominium units, build your dream home 

or refinance an existing housing loan. Borrow 

as much as 80% of the property’s appraised 

value at flexible terms and longer repayment 

period of up to 20 years. 
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Loan vs. Deposit Hold-Out

Get a loan against an existing term deposit 

with the Bank at very light interest rates.  

enABLE Personal Loan

A no-collateral loan which can be used to 

pay-off credit card bills, medical expenses, 

tuition fees, travel/vacation, home furnishings 

or purchase of  high-end appliances and 

electronic products.  Enjoy competitive rates 

and terms of up to 36 months.

Salary Loan

Quick and easy-to-avail loans for employees of 

Maybank-accredited companies for as low as 

P 15,000, payable up to 36 months via salary-

deduction, at attractive and affordable rates.

Contract to Sell

Purchase of receivables from in-house 

financing of real estate developers providing 

liquidity for future projects, or completion 

and expansion of existing ones.

Auto Loans

Designed for the acquisition of brand new 

and pre-owned vehicles with a swift 1-day 

months.

Truck Loans

Purchase brand-new, used or reconditioned 

trucks and borrow up to 70% of the vehicle’s 
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Products & Services

cash price or appraised value.  Repayment 

Auto Refinancing

Quick loans using owned motor vehicles. 

months.

Floor Stock Financing

A revolving facility providing finance for auto 

dealer’s working capital requirements to 

support purchase of inventory of new vehicles 

for a short term period.

BUSINESS SOLUTIONS
Cash Management Services

Simple answers to business hassles

PAYROLL FACILITIES

Payroll Manager 

It is a crediting facility for your ATM payroll 

accounts

Payroll Manager Plus

It is an outsourcing facility for your payroll 

processing requirements

Payroll Master

It is a stand alone payroll system that can 

address your company’s payroll requirements

COLLECTION FACILITIES

Cash Collect

It is a collection facility for your cash deposits 

via armored car
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Bills Payment

It is a collection facility for the convenience of 

your subscribers and members

Check Warehousing

It is an outsourcing facility for the monitoring 

and safekeeping of your post dated checks

DISBURSEMENT FACILITIES

Checkmaster

It is a stand alone system for the electronic 

preparation of your checks and vouchers

Check Cutting

It is an outsourcing facility that handles 

the preparation & disbursement of your 

scheduled check payments to your suppliers 

and payees

REMITTANCE 
Local and International Fund Remittance

Send to and receive remittances from 

your relatives.  Maybank has various EFTS 

(Electronic Funds Transfer Systems) to 

facilitate fund transfer anywhere in the 

Philippines and abroad. 

Outward Bills for Collection (OBC)

Deposit your international checks for credit to 

SSS Local Pensioner’s Remittance

Direct credit of SSS local pension to your 

Maybank Account

International Veterans Affairs & Social 

Security Direct Remittance

TRUST & FIDUCIARY ACCOUNTS
Investment Management Account (IMA)

Maximize returns on your investment and 

make Maybank your Investment Manager 

for a placement of as low as P1,000,000.  

IMA allows you flexibility and involvement in 

deciding where to invest your funds.

Personal Living Trust

Create a trust portfolio out of your cash and 

other properties that Maybank will manage 

for you or your loved ones and also for the 

future benefit of your intended beneficiaries.  

Escrow Account

Meet your future obligations as well as 

protect the interests of the contracting parties 

by letting Maybank facilitate the delivery or 

exchange of money, securities or property 

between buyers and sellers upon fulfillment 

of your stipulated conditions.

Pension/Provident Fund Account

Maybank acts as a keeper and investment 

manager of entrusted accumulated funds 

for companies, their employees, or both, for 

use as payments for retirement or separation 

benefits to employees. This arrangement 

provides for a systematic retirement plan 

scheme while enjoying certain tax benefits 

both for the company and its employees.

Life Insurance Trust

Make your life insurance policies payable to 

Maybank, and we will handle and distribute 

the proceeds thereof in accordance with your 

intended dispositions.

Loan Agency

Let Maybank act as an intermediary between 

your corporation and creditors to ensure the 

payment of your loan obligations in a timely 

and organized manner. We can monitor 

the interest rates, handle the administrative 

duties, and coordinate remittance of funds as 

required.

Mortgage Trust Indenture

Maybank will act as an intermediary between 

your company and its creditors in the 

administration of properties securing the 

company’s loans, specifically to manage the 

collateral under a Mortgage Trust Indenture 

and issue Mortgage Participation Certificates.

Receiving, Transfer and Paying Agency

Maybank can act as the receiving, transfer 

and paying agent which can assist your 

company in issuing and keeping track of 

bonds or notes issued to various holders. As 

an agent, Maybank will take care of collecting 

subscription proceeds, recording changes in 

ownership and submitting required reports.
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Products & Services

Custodian

As your custodian, let Maybank safekeep and 

preserve important documents and valuables. 

Maybank can also do certain administrative 

duties in accordance with your orders or 

instructions.

PRE-NEED PLANS
Institutional

Let Maybank manage your funds for the 

protection of the planholders.

Individual

Put up your own fund for the future needs 

of your loved ones such as for education, 

hospitalization, funeral and other expenses.

BUSINESS LOANS
Revolving Credit Line (RCL)

Short-term loans granted for working capital 

purposes, where the amount paid is made 

continuously available provided it does not 

exceed the approved credit line.

Term Loan 

Term loans are granted for the purposes of 

project financing, capital assets acquisition/

expenditures, or business expansion.  

Domestic Bills Purchase Line

Granted to augment the working capital of 

the borrower through advances made by the 

Bank against current-dated checks.  

Discounting Line

Credit facility granted to augment the 

working capital of the borrower through the 

discounting of its trade-related, third-party 

post-dated checks (PDC’s).

Letter of Credit/ Trust Receipt

The Letter of Credit is issued by the bank 

on behalf of the importer-customer for the 

benefit of the supplier (exporter).  It is issued 

to cover the purchase of goods for the final 

use of the buyer or for resale.

Trust receipt financing allows the applicant 

(importer) to take possession of the goods 

and to convert the same into cash within 

a maximum allowable period.  Trade 

transactions that require TR financing may or 

may not be covered by LC.  

Stand-by Letters of Credit

A letter of credit used to guarantee payment 

in case of non-performance of the applicant/

customer or payment to a beneficiary under a 

contractual obligation between the applicant 

and the beneficiary.  It is issued as a form 

of protection to cover performance under 

contract.  It assures the beneficiary that the 

applicant will fulfill the contractual obligation 

or if not, the beneficiary may draw funds that 

are available as set forth in the LC.  

Export Advances Line/Packing Credit

Loans granted to exporters to the purchase 

or preparation of goods for shipment against 

the assignment to MPI of export proceeds 

covered by Letter of Credit, Purchase Order, 

or Supplier’s Credit.  

Export Bills Purchased Line

Facility that allows the outright purchase of 

export proceeds upon presentation of client’s 

export bills. 

Agricultural Sugar Crop Loan (ASCL)

A non-revolving loan facility intended to 

finance the sugar production requirements of 

sugar planters.

Ready and On-Time Accounts Receivable 

(ROAR) Financing

Purchase of supplier’s receivables from an 

accredited corporate buyer at a discount.

TREASURY PRODUCTS AND 
SERVICES
Government Securities

Also known as sovereign notes or bonds, 

these are certificates of indebtedness that are 

unconditionally guaranteed by the National 

Government and issued through the Bureau 

of the Treasury.   
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Treasury Bills

tenors.  

Retail Treasury Bonds 

Available in 3-, 5- and 7-year tenors.  

Fixed Treasury Notes 

Available in 10- and 25-year tenors.  

RoP’s 

Philippine government.

Other Types of Bonds

issued by:

a.) Other sovereign governments such as 

Malaysia or Indonesia,

b.) Philippine Government-Owned & 

Controlled Companies (GOCC’s) such as 

PSALM Bonds; or 

c.) Private companies that are based in the 

Philippines or offshore.

Derivatives

A financial instrument whose value is derived 

from the value of underlying assets such as 

commodities, equities and currencies.  We 

offer selected derivative instruments to assist 

dollar-denominated interest rate & foreign 

exchange risk.
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Branch Directory

METRO MANILA 
BRANCHES

A. Mabini 
G/F Metropolitan Towers 

A. Mabini St., Malate

Tel No.:  526-0666   
Fax No.:  526-0667   

Ayala Alabang  
G/F Mapfre Insular Corporate 
Center, Acacia Ave.
Madrigal Business Park
Ayala Alabang
Muntinlupa City 1770 

Bel-Air
G/F 357 New Solid Building  
Senator Gil Puyat Ave.  
Makati City 1200

Binondo    
G/F Co Chin Leng Building  
567-569 Quintin Paredes St. 
Binondo, Manila 1006  

Caloocan  
Rizal Ave. cor. 10th Ave. 

Camp Aguinaldo

Camp Aguinaldo Compound 
Quezon City 1106
Tel No.:  911-6770
Fax No.:  911-7366

Del Monte

Quezon City  
Tel No.:  365-0855
Fax No.:  365-0955   

Edsa-Taft
G/F 2008 Manester Building
EDSA Extension 
cor. Taft Ave. Extension
Pasay City 1300
Tel No.:  832-5022

Global City
G/F ACCRALAW Tower
2nd Ave. cor. 30th St.
Bonifacio Global City

 (02) 556-9831
Fax No.:  501-8691

Global City – South of Market
Commercial 10 North Tower 
South of Market
26th St. cor. 11th Ave.
Fort Bonifacio Global City
Taguig City 

Greenhills

37 Annapolis St.
Greenhills, San Juan 1500
Tel No.:  721-6163

(02) 721-1895

Herbosa  
533 Herbosa St., cor. Tioco St.
Tondo, Manila 1012

Las Piñas  
Alabang-Zapote Road
Pamplona Tres, Las Piñas City  

Legaspi Tower Center ( LTC)
G/F Legaspi Towers 300 
Roxas Boulevard 
cor. Pablo Ocampo St.

Tel No.:  521-6166 to 67
 (02) 523-7777 

Malabon    
35 General Luna St.  

Tel No.:  283-2850   

Marikina 

Gil Fernando St.  
Brgy. San Roque, Marikina City  

Newport City  

Star Cruises Building
110 Andrews Ave.
Newport City 
Cybertourism Zone 
Pasay City 1309  
Tel No.:  556-8582 to 83
 (02) 923-1323
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Ortigas  

Pacific Center Building 
San Miguel Ave., Ortigas Center
Pasig City 1605 
Tel No.:   706-5270 

Parañaque
1070 Quirino Ave., La Huerta
Parañaque City 1700  
Tel No.:   826-7633

Quezon Boulevard 
1180 Alfonso Mendoza St.
Sampaloc, Manila 1008
Tel No.:   736-3239

Rufino
G/F Plaza 100 Building
V.A Rufino cor. Dela Rosa St.
Legaspi Village, Makati City 1229
Tel No.:   856-5972

Fax No.:   856-5973

San Juan
G/F LM Building
157 F. Blumentritt St.
San Juan City 1500

Fax No.:   725-9905

Tomas Morato 
G/F MJB Building
220 Tomas Morato Ave.
cor. Scout Lascano St.
Brgy. Sacred Heart, Quezon City
Tel No.:   929-8816
Fax No.:  920-9262

Valenzuela 
209-211 Mc Arthur Highway 
Karuhatan, Valenzuela City

Villamor
New Concessionaries Area
Villamor Airbase
Pasay City 1309

  (02) 923-1323

PROVINCIAL 
BRANCHES

Alaminos
G/F Apostol Building
Quezon Ave.  

Tel No.:   (075) 551-3368  

Baguio     

Baguio City   

Biñan    
Jacobo Gonzales St.
Brgy. Poblacion

    
Candelaria   
Rizal St., cor. Ona St.  

Dagupan   
290 A.B Fernandez Ave.  

Dau
Dau Access Road, Dau
Mabalacat, Pampanga

Guagua
Gil J. Puyat St., Sto Niño
Guaga, Pampanga 2001

Hagonoy
G/F Puso Niño Mall Building
Poblacion, Sto. Niño, Hagonoy 
Bulacan 3002

Laoag
Barangay 16, Villanueva St. 
Laoag City 2900
Tel No.:   (077) 772-0050

Lucena
Quezon Ave. cor. Lakandula St.

Fax No.:   (02) 250-8252

Meycauayan
Mac Arthur Highway 
cor. Malhacan Road
Meycauayan, Bulacan 3020
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Olongapo   
1255 Rizal Ave., West Tapinac 
Olongapo City 2200  

San Fernando
G/F Dan’s Marketing, CCD 
Building 5, Mac Arthur Highway 
Dolores, San Fernando
Pampanga 2000   

Sta. Rosa   
JP Rizal Boulevard 
cor. Gov. F. Gomez St.  

Fax No.:   (02) 520-8686  
  
Urdaneta   
Mac Arthur Highway

Tel No.:   (075) 568-6811  

Vigan 
G/F GSP Building
Leona Florentino cor. Plaridel St. 
Vigan, Ilocos Sur 2700
Tel No.:   (077) 722-2836
  (077) 722-1903 

   

VISAYAS BRANCHES

Bacolod
G/F R&B Building, cor. Hilado St. 
and Narra St., Capitol Shopping 
Center, Bacolod City 6100

Bago
Gonzaga St.
Barangay 1, Poblacion, Bago City
Negros Occidental 6101

Cebu
G/F Jose Martinez Building 
Osmeña Boulevard
Cebu City 6000

Fax No.:   (032) 253-0083

Cebu- Mandaue
Lopez Jaena St.
National Highway
Subangdaku, Mandaue City 
Tel No.:   (032) 268-0829

Iloilo
G/F J & B Building II 
cor. Ledesma St., and
Mabini St., Iloilo City 5000
Tel No.:   (033) 337-9067
  (033) 337-0107
Fax No.:   (033) 337-1707

Roxas
1068 Roxas Ave. 
Roxas City 5800
Tel No.:   (036) 621-0561
  (036) 522-2700
Fax No.:   (036) 621-1007

MINDANAO BRANCHES

Cagayan De Oro
G/F Traveler’s Life Building
cor. J. R Borja St. and 
Tiano Brothers St.
Cagayan De Oro City 9000

Fax No.:   (08822) 726-060

Davao

G/F Veterans Building
Monteverde St., Davao City 8000

Zamboanga
G/F BG Building, Veterans Ave. 
Zamboanga City 7000
Tel No.:    (062) 992-6772
Fax No.:   (062) 992-6759

AUTO LENDING 
CENTERS

Bacolod
2nd Floor R & B Building 
cor. Hilado St., and Narra St. 
Capitol Shopping Center
Bacolod City 6100

Baguio

Baguio City 2600

Cagayan De Oro
Mezzanine Floor Traveler’s Life 
Building, cor. J.R Borja St., and 
Tiano Brothers St.
Cagayan De Oro City 9000

Branch Directory
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Caloocan
Rizal Avenue cor. 10th Avenue
Caloocan City

Cebu
G/F Jose Martinez Building 
Osmeña Boulevard 
Cebu City, 6000

Dagupan
270 AB. Fernandez Avenue 

Dau
Dau Access Road 
Dau, Mabalacat, Pampanga

Davao

Veterans Building
Monteverde St., Davao City 8000 

Iloilo
2nd Floor J & B Building
Ledesma St., cor. Mabini St.
Iloilo City 5000

Laoag
Barangay 16, Villanueva St.
Laoag City, Ilocos Norte

Mandaue
Lopez Jaena St.
National Highway 
Subangdaku, Mandaue City

San Fernando
2nd Floor Dans Marketing 
Building, MacArthur Highway
Dolores, San Fernando 
Pampanga 2000

 961-5699; 961-5208

Urdaneta
Mac Arthur Highway

 568-2038

Zamboanga
G/F BG Building, Veterans Avenue
Zamboanga City 7000

991-6195

BUSINESS CENTERS

Bacolod
2/F  R & B Building
cor. Hilado St., and Narra St. 
Capitol Shopping Center
Bacolod City 6100

Global City
21/F ACCRALAW Tower
2nd Avenue cor. 30th St.
Bonifacio Global City
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MALAYSIA
386 Branches

BAHRAIN
1 Branch

BRUNEI
3 Branches

CAMBODIA
9 Branches

CHINA
1 Branch
1 Representative office

HONGKONG
1 Branch

INDONESIA
1 Branch via Maybank Syariah 

Indonesia 

Bank Internasional Indonesia 

LABUAN
1 Branch

LONDON
1 Branch

NEW YORK
1 Branch

PAKISTAN
1101 Branches via 20% owned 

MCB Bank 

Kuwait takaful Company

PAPUA NEW GUINEA
2 Branches

PHILIPPINES
50 Branches

Maybank Global Network

SINGAPORE
22 Branches

UZBEKISTAN

Leasing International

VIETNAM
2 Branches
95 branches via 20% owned 

ABBank
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Dato’ Mohd Salleh Bin Hj Harun (Chairman)      
Encik Abdul Farid Alias
Mr. Spencer Lee Tien Chye
Mr. Ong Seet Joon
Atty. Andres G. Gatmaitan
Mr. Cristino L. Panlilio
Mr. Felix Antonio M. Andal

CORPORATE ADDRESS
Head Office
Legaspi Towers 300 
Roxas Boulevard corner P. Ocampo Sr. Street

Phone  +63 2 523.7777 

Auto Finance ext. 226
Personal Loans ext. 251
Salary Loans ext. 211

Branch Banking ext. 163

Business Center Office
21/F ACCRALAW Tower, 2nd Ave. corner 30th St. 

Business Banking ext. 110
Retail Banking ext. 135
E-banking ext. 156
Fleet / Wholesale Financing ext. 125
Cash Management ext. 128
Corporate Affairs ext. 116

Swift MBBEPHMM
E-mail mayphil@maybank.com.ph
Website www.maybank2u.com.ph 

ATM Hotline +63 2 521.6170
Customer Care  +63 2 523.7590

Corporate Information



Legaspi Towers 300, Roxas Blvd.
corner P. Ocampo Street
Manila 1004, Philippines

www.maybank2u.com.ph
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